

UNIVERSITAT DE BARCELONA

Women in science and higher education: A bibliometric approach

Tahereh Dehdarirad

ADVERTIMENT. La consulta d'aquesta tesi queda condicionada a l'acceptació de les següents condicions d'ús: La difusió d'aquesta tesi per mitjà del servei TDX (**www.tdx.cat**) i a través del Dipòsit Digital de la UB (**diposit.ub.edu**) ha estat autoritzada pels titulars dels drets de propietat intel·lectual únicament per a usos privats emmarcats en activitats d'investigació i docència. No s'autoritza la seva reproducció amb finalitats de lucre ni la seva difusió i posada a disposició des d'un lloc aliè al servei TDX ni al Dipòsit Digital de la UB. No s'autoritza la presentació del seu contingut en una finestra o marc aliè a TDX o al Dipòsit Digital de la UB (framing). Aquesta reserva de drets afecta tant al resum de presentació de la tesi com als seus continguts. En la utilització o cita de parts de la tesi és obligat indicar el nom de la persona autora.

ADVERTENCIA. La consulta de esta tesis queda condicionada a la aceptación de las siguientes condiciones de uso: La difusión de esta tesis por medio del servicio TDR (**www.tdx.cat**) y a través del Repositorio Digital de la UB (**diposit.ub.edu**) ha sido autorizada por los titulares de los derechos de propiedad intelectual únicamente para usos privados enmarcados en actividades de investigación y docencia. No se autoriza su reproducción con finalidades de lucro ni su difusión y puesta a disposición desde un sitio ajeno al servicio TDR o al Repositorio Digital de la UB. No se autoriza la presentación de su contenido en una ventana o marco ajeno a TDR o al Repositorio Digital de la UB (framing). Esta reserva de derechos afecta tanto al resumen de presentación de la tesis como a sus contenidos. En la utilización o cita de partes de la tesis es obligado indicar el nombre de la persona autora.

WARNING. On having consulted this thesis you're accepting the following use conditions: Spreading this thesis by the TDX (**www.tdx.cat**) service and by the UB Digital Repository (**diposit.ub.edu**) has been authorized by the titular of the intellectual property rights only for private uses placed in investigation and teaching activities. Reproduction with lucrative aims is not authorized nor its spreading and availability from a site foreign to the TDX service or to the UB Digital Repository. Introducing its content in a window or frame foreign to the TDX service or to the UB Digital Repository is not authorized (framing). Those rights affect to the presentation summary of the thesis as well as to its contents. In the using or citation of parts of the thesis it's obliged to indicate the name of the author.

Women in science and higher education: A bibliometric approach







Faculty of Library and Information Science



Department of Library and Information Science

Doctorate program in Information and Documentation in the Knowledge Society

Women in science and higher education: A bibliometric approach

A thesis submitted by

Tahereh Dehdarirad

In partial fulfilment of the requirements of the University of Barcelona for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Supervisors: Dr. Maite Barrios

Dr. Anna Villarroya

Barcelona

November, 2016

Abstract

The main objective of this thesis work is to assess and map international research concerning gender in science and higher education. To do this, two different studies were designed: first, to examine the development and growth of scientific literature on women in science and higher education, and, second, to map and analyse the structure and evolution of the scientific literature on gender differences in higher education and science, focusing on factors related to differences. For the first study, development and growth of scientific literature on women in science and higher education, a total of 1415 articles and reviews published between 1991 and 2012, were extracted from the Thomson Reuters Web of Science database. For the second study, mapping the evolution of scientific literature on gender differences, the data set comprised a corpus containing 651 articles and reviews published between 1991 and 2012, extracted from the Thomson Reuters Web of Science database.

The methodology and procedures employed included standard bibliometric indicators and laws (e.g., Price's, Lotka's, and Bradford's laws), Relative Intensity Index (RII) and the Gender Inequality Index (GII). Data sets in the second study were evaluated for different time periods; co-word analysis and hierarchical cluster analysis were undertaken.

The results of these studies suggest an upward trend in both the number of papers, and also the number of authors per paper. However, this increase in the number of authors was not accompanied by an increase in international collaboration. Interest in gender differences in science extends to many authors (n = 3064), countries (n = 67), and research areas (n = 86). The data showed a high dispersion of the literature with a small set of core journals focused on the topic. The research area with the highest frequency of papers was Education and Educational Research.

The results also indicated a significant increase in the number of themes over the years. Furthermore, the fact that gender differences in science and higher education have been considered by specific research disciplines, suggests important research-field-specific variations.

Resumen

El principal objetivo de esta tesis consiste en evaluar y mapear la investigación internacional sobre género en ciencia y educación superior. Para ello, se han diseñado dos estudios: por un lado, el análisis del desarrollo y crecimiento de la literatura científica sobre la participación de las mujeres en la ciencia y la educación superior, y, por otro lado, el análisis de la estructura y evolución de la literatura científica sobre diferencias de género en educación superior y ciencia, haciendo especial hincapié en los factores que se hallan detrás de estas diferencias.

Para el primer estudio, centrado en el desarrollo y crecimiento de la literatura científica sobre la participación de las mujeres en la ciencia y la educación superior, se extrajeron un total de 1.415 artículos y revisiones publicadas entre los años 1991 y 2012 en la base de datos Web of Science de Thomson Reuters. Para el segundo estudio, enfocado en la evolución de la literatura científica sobre diferencias de género, el conjunto de datos comprende un corpus de 651 artículos y revisiones publicadas entre los años 1991 y 2012 en la base de datos Web of Science de Thomson Reuters.

La metodología y procedimientos empleados incluyen indicadores y leyes bibliométricas estándar (por ej. Price, Lotka y Bradford), el Índice Relativo de Intensidad (RII) y el Índice de Desigualdad de Género (GII). El conjunto de datos del segundo estudio se evalúa en diferentes períodos de tiempo, a partir de un análisis de co-ocurrencia de palabras y de agrupamiento jerárquico.

Los resultados de estos análisis muestran una tendencia al alza tanto en el número de artículos como en el número de autores por artículo. Sin embargo, este aumento en el número de autores no se ve acompañado de un aumento en la colaboración internacional. Los resultados ponen también de relieve cómo el interés en el estudio de las diferencias de género en la ciencia y en la educación superior se extiende a muchos autores (n = 3.064), países (n = 67) y áreas de investigación (n = 86). Los datos muestran también una gran dispersión de la literatura con un pequeño conjunto de revistas especializadas en el tema, siendo el área de "Educación e Investigación para la Educación" el área con más trabajos.

Los resultados también indican un aumento significativo del número de temas analizados a lo largo de los años. Asimismo, el hecho que las diferencias de género en ciencia y educación superior hayan sido objeto de estudio de diferentes disciplinas sugiere importantes variaciones en campos de estudio específicos.

Acknowledgment

Firstly, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisors Dr. Barrios and Dr. Villarroya for their continuous support, guidance, patience, motivation, and immense knowledge. They played an important role in my both academic and personal life as great supervisors, teachers, co-authors and friends.

I would like to thank them sincerely for being always available to advise me, their great ideas, their insightful comments, and their thorough and quick revisions of both my thesis and the papers published.

Besides my supervisors, I would like to thank Dr. Abadal Falgueras, the Dean of the Faculty, for his assistance with my thesis, and his assistance during my time as a PhD student in Barcelona. I would also like to thank Dr. Montero Pérez for providing trainings and instructions for PhD students.

I am also grateful to Mr. Jonathan Freer for his assistance regarding the revision and correction of my thesis in terms of English. I am also appreciative of his support during my PhD studies.

Many thanks also go to my family for their continuous support during my PhD studies and my stay in Barcelona. Their encouragement helped me to manage my life abroad and complete my academic goals.

Finally, I would like to thank my friends in particular Dr. Nasini and Ms. Khosravi for their assistance with regard to statistics.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	II
RESUMEN	III
ACKNOWLEDGMENT	IV
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	VII
PREFACE	1
CHAPTER 1. LITERATURE REVIEW	9
1.1. Introduction	
1.2. PUBLICATION PRODUCTIVITY, IMPACT AND COLLABORATION PATTERNS	11
1.2.1. Number of publications	11
1.2.2. Research impact and visibility of researchers' output	14
1.2.3. Collaboration patterns	17
1.2.4. Authorship positions and author by-line order	
1.3. ISSUES RELATED TO GENDER IN SCIENCE AND ACADEMIA	
1.3.1. Manuscript (peer) reviewing	
1.3.2. Access to funding resources	
1.3.3. Academic employment	
1.3.3.1. Faculty employment and career development	
1.3.3.2. Decision-making and top level positions	
1.3.3.3. Salary	
1.3.3.4. Academic work	
1.4. FACTORS ACCOUNTING FOR GENDER DIFFERENCES IN SCIENCE AND HIGHER EDUC	CATION 36
1.4.1. Family-related factors	
1.4.2. Institutional factors	
1.4.3. Socio-cultural factors	44
1.4.4. Behavioural factors	45
CHAPTER 2. OBJECTIVES	47
2.1. MAIN OBJECTIVES	48
2.2. Specific objectives	
CHAPTER 3. RESEARCH ON WOMEN IN SCIENCE AND HIGHER EDUCA	ATION: A
BIBLIOMETRIC ANALYSIS (STUDY 1)	
3.1. DATA COLLECTION AND PROCESSING	53
3.2. DATA ANALYSIS AND STATISTICAL PROCEDURES	57
3.3. Results	
3.3.1. Number of papers	

3.3.2. Research areas	
3.3.3. Number of authors	
3.3.4. Countries	
3.3.5. Journals	
3.4. CONCLUSIONS AND DISCUSSION	71
CHAPTER 4. RESEARCH TRENDS IN GENDER DIFFERENCES IN H	IGHER
EDUCATION AND SCIENCE: A CO-WORD ANALYSIS (STUDY 2)	
4.1. DATA COLLECTION AND PROCESSING	
4.2. DATA ANALYSIS AND STATISTICAL PROCEDURES	
4.3. RESULTS	
4.3.1. Period 1: 1991–2001	
4.3.2. Period 2: 2002–2007	
4.3.3. Period 3: 2008–2012	
4.4. CONCLUSIONS AND DISCUSSION	
CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSIONS	
5.1. MAIN FINDINGS REGARDING RESEARCH QUESTIONS	
5.2. RESEARCH CONTRIBUTIONS	
5.3. SOME LIMITATIONS OF THE CONDUCTED RESEARCH	
5.4. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	
REFERENCES	
ANNEXES	
ANNEX 1	
	146
ANNEX 2	
ANNEX 3	
LIST OF THE SCIENTIFIC PUBLICATIONS OF THE THESIS	
JOURNALS	
PRESENTATIONS IN INTERNATIONAL AND NATIONAL CONFERENCES	
PRESENTATIONS OF THE THESIS	

List of abbreviations

AAUP: American Associations of University Professors
AUT: Association of University Teachers
EC: European Commission
EU: European Union
GII: Gender Inequality Index
IC-RII: International Collaboration Relative Intensity Index
LERU: League of European Research Universities
NAS: National Academy of Science
NAWE: National Association for Women in Education
NSF: National Science Foundation
OECD : Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development
RII: Relative Intensity Index
SET: Science, Engineering and Technology
STEM: Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics
UNDP : United Nations Development Program
UNESCO: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization
WSHE: Women in Science and Higher Education

Preface

Preface

This thesis examines and maps the international research in the area of women in science and higher education. Women's participation in science and higher education as an indicator of social and economic progress has attracted considerable attention from individual researchers and both national and international organizations. As a result, a variety of initiatives and reports have been undertaken in different parts of the world in order to analyse the participation of women in science and higher education and to promote gender equality.

Gender equality is not solely an issue for women anymore, because it is a global problem that hinders development, productivity and the economic growth of societies (World Bank, 2012; Bandiera and Natraj, 2013). It also results in severe individual and societal losses for a nation in general (Kamrany and Robinson, 2012) and underutilization of female talent and research capacity in universities and higher education in particular (LERU, 2015). Consequently, the insufficient use of women as human capital decreases potential advantage for research and innovation-related business and for overall economic development, as well as having devastating social consequences (European Commission, 2015). As it is stated in the UNESCO *Priority Gender Equality Action Plan* (2014), gender equality is not only a basic human right, but its achievement has enormous socio-economic ramifications. Evidence shows that promoting gender equality at all levels contributes to achieving excellence and efficiency (European Commission, 2012). At the research and higher education level, this particularly results in excellent quality research and competitiveness (LERU, 2015).

The centrality of gender equality has been highlighted in both developed and developing countries. However, this issue is addressed differently by both sets of countries as they face different manifestations of gender inequality. While the focus of some reports carried out by the UNESCO, which mainly track gender equality in developing countries, is generally on equal opportunity for both women and men to access to primary education and literacy programmes, reports from more developed countries published by the European Commission and the League of European Research Universities (LERU) address issues like glass ceiling, women at top level positions and decision making activities, and presence of women in Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) fields amongst others.

In order to describe the inequalities and barriers women face to progress and advance their career in science and higher education, numerous metaphors have been used in the literature. For instance, *leaky pipeline* is a metaphor frequently used to describe the fact that women leave organizations at many different stages of career trajectory (Blickenstaff, 2005; Bilimoria, Joy and Liang, 2008). The *sticky floor* has been used to describe a situation in which women being held back in lowly paid jobs at the bottom levels of organizations (Kee, 2006) or *chilly climate*, which depicts the fuzzy academic processes for women, reflects inconveniences in the academic environment (Husu, 2001).

The *glass ceiling* is another metaphor which has been used to explain the absence of women at higher organizational levels due to absolute barriers (Powell, 2012). Some alternative metaphors to the glass ceiling which has been introduced in the literature are the *labyrinth* (Eagly and Carli, 2007), and the *firewall* (Bendl and Schmidt, 2010). The *Labyrinth* captures the varied challenges confronting women as they travel, often on indirect paths, sometimes through alien territory, on their way to leadership (Eagly and Carli, 2007).

The *Firewall* metaphor is used for describing discrimination against women and other minority groups within an organization. It focuses on the view that discrimination is a process practiced by developers. More precisely, it hints at creators and administrators of discrimination who decide who is allowed to enter their system. The *Matilda effect* is another metaphor introduced by Rossiter (1993) which refers to systematic under-recognition of female scholars in the academic world. This effect deals with the systematic underrepresentation of women and the reduced recognition of women's academic contributions (Kretschmer and Kretschmer, 2013).

Given the recognition of the importance of gender equality, women's empowerment and participation during the past few decades, numerous studies have also looked at various aspects of participation and performance of women in science and higher education. These include scientific production, research impact and other academic activities apart from scientific productivity and factors that have an effect on the scientific and academic contribution of women. Overall, the literature on women in science and higher education, as indicated by Ceci et al. (2014), is contradictory. The great evidence is the apparently contradictory research results that sometimes confirm an equal contribution from both genders, occasionally show a superiority for females' and sometimes for males' performances. It is, therefore, crucial to constantly monitor females' roles and performances in science and higher education, as an essential step towards understanding the underlying factors and thereby eradicating the inequalities (Fox, 2005). As also indicated by Leahey (2006), studying women's contribution to science and higher education is important to discover not only the gender gap in scientific and academic activities, but also its resulting gender imbalance.

Despite the growing recognition of the importance of the issue of women in science and higher education, and the increasing number of academic publications, initiatives, and reports in this area, no systematic analysis has yet been carried out on the large body of research in this area. Thus, the aim of this thesis is to assess and map international research concerning women in science and higher education, using a bibliometric approach. This will provide a clear picture of the field and its evolution over time.

Bibliometric studies are useful as they provide an assessment of research or scientific production in a specific area over a period of time using indicators and the calculation of certain classical laws (Van Raan, 2005). Given that, this thesis uses standard bibliometric indicators (such as the number of papers and authors, and productivity by country, among others) and laws (Price's, Lotka's, and Bradford's laws) to study the development and growth

of research in this field. Additionally, in order to describe the evolution and current state of the literature on gender differences in science, co-word analysis is used. This bibliometric technique, proposed by Callon et al. (1983), will help us to visualize the division of the field (in this case, the explanatory factors for gender differences in science) into several subfields and show the relationships between them, thereby providing insights into the evolution of the main topics discussed in the field over the years. The technique will also help us to identify the major research topics in the area of women of science and higher education, as well as to suggest issues to be addressed or strengthened in further work. This is particularly important as these techniques have not been applied before in other studies to address the literature in this area as well as the above-mentioned issues.

Finally, by providing an overview of the factors accounting for gender differences, this work would help to guide future research and practices in the field. This will be also of interest to policy makers, funders, and academic administrators in terms of identification of necessary actions to accelerate the closure of the gender gap.

This study attempts to address the aim of thesis and the above-mentioned issues, with a particular focus on the following sets of questions:

- What is the importance and the growth rate of the scientific literature on women in science and higher education over the time?

- What is the relevance and interest of the area of women in science and higher education across different research areas?
- What authorship trends and collaboration efforts do exist in the area of women in science and higher education?
- What is the relative contribution of the countries to the scientific literature on women in science and higher education?
- What is the importance and relevance of the area of women in science and higher education among countries at international level?
- What is the relationship between the scientific contribution of countries to the area of women in science and higher education and their level of development in gender equality?
- What is the distribution, relevance and interest of the area of women in science and higher education across journals of different disciplines?
- What is the importance, interest and growth rate of the number of publications on factors accounting for gender differences in science and higher education over time?
- What is the growth rate of the number of sub-fields (themes) which address the factors accounting for gender differences in science and higher education, over time?
- What is the interest and evolution of themes on the factors accounting for gender differences in science and higher education over time?

In order to address all the above-mentioned questions, this thesis is comprised six chapters. It starts with chapter Preface, which provides a brief introduction to the thesis. It then follows by Chapter 1, the Review of the Literature, which presents a broad evaluation of previous studies. After a brief introduction, three groups of literature in the area of women in science and higher education are discussed extensively. Chapter 2, Objectives, presents the main and specific objectives of the thesis. In Chapters 3 (Study 1) and 4 (Study 2), methods for data collection and data analysis of each study, results and discussion are presented. Sources and databases used to collect data are also introduced. In Chapter 5, Conclusion, the main findings of each research question in the conducted studies are presented. It then follows by contributions of the conducted research. Finally, it presents some limitations of the thesis followed by some recommendations for future research.

Chapter 1. Literature review

Chapter 1. Literature review

1.1. Introduction

The scientific literature contains ample evidence regarding different aspects of women's participation and performance in science and higher education. To situate the current research, a review of the most recent and relevant literature was conducted. The literature review is divided into three broad sections: publication productivity, impact and collaboration patterns, other issues related to gender in academia and science, and factors accounting for gender differences.

The *publication productivity, impact and collaboration patterns* section provides insights into those studies that deal with scientific publication, research impact, collaboration patterns and authorship order, from a gender perspective.

The *issues related to gender in academia and science* section focuses on literature addressing elements other than publication productivity that have an influence on the development of a scientific career. This includes elements such as manuscript reviewing, access to funding resources and academic employment, hiring, being a member of an editorial board amongst others.

Finally, given that the performance of researchers in the two above-mentioned groups of scientific activities can be affected by several factors, section three provides insights into the

factors accounting for these gender differences. These include family related, institutional, socio-cultural and behavioural factors amongst others.

1.2. Publication productivity, impact and collaboration patterns

This review is concerned with different aspects of publication productivity, impact and collaboration as mentioned above in relation to gender.

1.2.1. Number of publications

In terms of the number of publications characterized by Cole and Zuckerman (1984) as a productivity puzzle, the literature generally tends to agree that women have lower publication rates and that men perform better (Cole and Zuckerman, 1984; Xie and Shauman, 1998; Prpić, 2002; Sax Hagedorn, Arredondo, and Dicrisi III, 2002 ; Bordons, et al., 2003; Fox, 2005; Gallivan, and Benbunan-Fich, 2006; Mauleón and Bordons, 2006; Symonds et al., 2006; Puuska, 2009; Abramo, D'Angelo, and Caprasecca, 2009; D'Amico, Vermigli, and Canetto, 2011; Larivière, et al., 2013).

However, there is also research that reports no significant differences in productivity between the two sexes (Lewison, 2001; Bordons, Morillo, Fernández and Gómez, 2003; Tower, Plummer and Ridgewell, 2007; Mauleón, Bordons, and Oppenheim, 2008; Sotudeh and Khoshian, 2014). Some studies have also presented mixed results, depending on the variables examined. In their study on 162 professors of organization science, Rothausen-Vange, Marler and Wright (2005) suggested that women publish more than men in more research oriented departments, but less than men in less research oriented departments. Women were also found to begin their careers at a later age than men (Karamessini, 2004; Prozesky, 2008). In this sense, women produce fewer publications than men during the first decade of their career, but by the later stages of their career they have a similar number of publications as male researchers (Long, 1992; Symonds et al., 2006). Similarly, in a study conducted on academic psychologists in United States, Joy (2006) found that males tend to publish more than females during their initial push for tenure, but not thereafter, whereas females tend to increase their publication rates as they mature professionally. Another variable which is reported to lead in diverse results is discipline. Van Arensbergen et al. (2012), studied research performance differences between male and female researchers from social sciences particularly psychology and economics in the Netherlands. The results showed that in psychology in average men outperform women, whereas in economics the differences are not statistically significant. A large-scale study on seven science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) disciplines conducted by Duch et al. (2012) showed that for disciplines where research expenditures are high, such as molecular biology, females consistently publish at a rate significantly lower than males, whereas for industrial engineering no significant difference between genders was observed.

Regarding academic rank as another variable leading to mixed results, Borrego's et al. (2010) study on 731 Ph.D. holders at Spanish universities between 1990 and 2002, showed that while

scientific output before obtaining a Ph.D. was similar for both gender groups, the median number of papers published after obtaining a Ph.D. was lower in the female group. Studying gender differences among radiation oncologists at U.S. academic institutions, Holliday et al. (2014) found that men had higher number of publications compared to women. However, after controlling for rank, these differences were largely non-significant. They concluded that women who achieve senior status have productivity metrics comparable to their male counterparts.

Finally, with regard to the type of program offered at institutions, Jordan, Clark and Vann (2011) studied gender differences in the publication productivity of accounting family members at both doctoral and non-doctoral granting programs. The results showed no gender differences in the publication output of faculty members at non-doctoral granting programs. At doctoral granting programs, however, men publish at greater rates compared to women.

To sum up, the results regarding the number of publications for female and male scholars are mixed, depending on the variables studied. These include age, tenure, discipline, academic rank, type of program offered in one institute, amongst others.

1.2.2. Research impact and visibility of researchers' output

The research impact of female and male researchers has been evaluated in different studies, using different indicators such as the number of citations, the journal impact factor or the H-index.

Regarding the number of received citations, the literature has shown mixed results. Some research suggests that women's publications are cited at lower rates than men's publications. In their study on a sample of tenure-track and tenured linguists and sociologists, Hunter and Leahy (2010) found that women were disadvantaged in terms of the number of received citations, even after controlling for children. Pudovkin et al. (2012) also in their study on 313 papers of research staff at the Deutsche Rheuma-Forschungszentrum, concluded that male scientists were more prolific and cited more often than females. In their study on some selected prestigious geography Journals, Rigg, McCarragher, and Krmenec (2012) showed that citation rates were highest for articles either singly or collaboratively authored by males. In a more recent study on citations and publication patterns in the literature on international relation (IR), Maliniak, Powers, and Walter (2013) also found that women are systematically less cited than men after controlling for a large number of factors including year of publication, venue of publication, substantive focus, theoretical perspective, methodology, tenure status, and institutional affiliation. They included this is likely because of the following reasons: women tend to cite themselves less than men, and men who make up a disproportionate share of IR scholars tend to cite men more than women. In contrast to these studies, some have found that women receive more citations per paper than men. Long's pioneering study on the productivity of biochemists (1992) in the United States (US) concluded that the average number of citations per publication for women was higher than that of men.

In a study of 721 PhDs from Spanish universities (1990–2002), Borrego et al. (2010) explored the gender differences in scientific output and citations. They also found that articles authored by female PhDs were cited significantly more often (even when self-citations were excluded). In another study on research staff at the Deutsche Rheuma-Forschungszentrum, Kretschmer, Pudovkin, and Stegmann (2012) classified the staff in two sub-groups of "highend (star)" (25% of the population) scientists and the complementary (75% of the population). The results revealed that apart from the small group of star (high-end) scientists, female researchers had a slightly higher performance with respect to their male counterparts in the large complementary subgroup.

In addition to the two above-mentioned groups of studies, there are also some other studies which have indicated no difference incitation rates between publications authored by males and females. Symond et al. (2006) in their study on the publication records of a cohort of 168 life scientists in the field of ecology and evolutionary biology from British and Australian universities, found no difference in the median number of citations per paper for males and females. Studying gender differences in citation rates for dendrochronologists, Copenheaver et al. (2010) found no effect of gender on a paper's probability to be cited. They suggested that the high productivity of female dendrochronologists and a pattern of co-authoring with male colleagues bring the work of females to the attention of their male colleagues and thus eliminate the gender bias in citation of women's work common to other disciplines. Sotudeh

and Khoshian (2014) in a more recent study investigated women's scientific impact compared to men in 18 nano science and technology journals. Similarly, the results of their study showed no significant differences between the mean impacts of women and men researchers.

Studies on journal impact factor have also produced mixed findings. While some of them have highlighted the similarity of the journals in which women and men publish (Lewison, 2001; Bordons et al., 2003; Mauleón and Bordons, 2006; Gonzalez-Brambila and Veloso, 2007; Mauleón et al., 2008; Barrios, Villarroya and Borrego, 2013), others have shown that men choose to publish in journals with a higher impact factor (Hunter and Leahey, 2010). Alternatively, Borrego et al. (2010) argued that it is women that tend to publish in higher impact journals. Similarly, Ghiasi, Larivière and Sugimoto (2015) in their study on women engineers, also indicated that women publish their papers in journals with higher impact factors than their male peers. They concluded that women are equally or more influential and prominent than their articles are cited less. They interpreted this finding within the framework of the "Matilda effect" by which women's publications receive less recognition than what is expected (in this case, expected from the journal in which their discoveries were published).

Regarding the H-index, some studies suggest that women have a lower overall H-index compared with men (Holliday et al., 2014; Lopez et al., 2014). However, the difference was smaller when comparing men and women within the same academic rank (Pashkova et al.,

2013; Holliday et al., 2014; Lopez et al., 2014). In their study on faculty members from 25 academic anaesthesiology departments in the United States, Pashkova et al. (2013) found that male anaesthesiologists had a statistically higher h-index. However, upon further examination by academic rank, h-indices were not statistically different between genders at the level of assistant and associate. Holliday et al. (2014) also in their study on 1031 faculty members from Radiation Oncology in the United States found that overall men had a higher median h-index than women. However, when controlled by academic rank, there was likewise no significant difference between men and women in the same position.

To sum up, the evidence is inconclusive with regard to research impact of female and male researchers depending on the year of publication, venue of publication, rank, country and discipline.

1.2.3. Collaboration patterns

The literature on gender differences in scientific collaboration has mainly studied the following three issues: studies related to the impact of gender on the number of collaborators, cross-gender collaboration and co-authorship, and finally, international collaboration.

Regarding the first issue, the impact of gender on collaboration and the number of collaborators, the literature generally agrees that men collaborate more than women (Bozeman and Corley, 2004; Lee and Bozeman, 2005; Özel, Kretschmer and Kretschmer, 2013). Additionally, women tend to have fewer collaborators than men (Bozeman and

Corley, 2004; Lee and Bozeman, 2005). In their current study on national level publications in social sciences in Turkey, Özel, et al. (2013) found that male authors are in general keener to collaborate than females.

In contrast to what has been indicated in the above-mentioned literature, there are some studies which have shown no gender differences in collaboration (Hunter and Leahy, 2008) or that women are more likely to collaborate (Bozeman and Gaughan, 2011; Abramo, D'Angelo and Murgia, 2013). Studying a sample of articles in two leading sociology journals between 1935 and 2005, Hunter and Leahey (2008) found no significant gender differences in rates of collaboration. They attributed this finding to women's inroads into sociology. In a different way, using data from NSF-funded Survey of Academic Researchers conducted in the United States in 2004–2005, Bozeman and Gaughan (2011) found that men and women differ relatively little with respect to research collaborations. They also found, somewhat surprisingly that women have more collaborators, especially when controlling for structural (tenure status, professional age, discipline, teaching load and number of active grants) and climate factors. Similarly, in a more recent study on the scientific publications of Italian professors from 11 University disciplinary areas, Abramo et al. (2013) demonstrated that in general female researchers have a greater propensity to collaborate than their male colleagues. They associated this issue to women's higher percentage of co-authored publications.

In terms of cross-gender collaboration the results are also inconsistent. Some studies have suggested that women are involved in inter-gender collaborations more than men. Additionally, they have more female collaborators than male authors (McDowell and Smith, 1992; Bozeman and Corley, 2004; Boschini and Sjogren, 2007). As one of the first studies on this issue, McDowell and Smith' (1992) study examined the publications of a sample of 178 PhDs from the top 20 United States institutions (1969-1986) and found that women were over five times more likely than men to have female co-authors. Examining data from 451 scientists and engineers at academic research centres in the United States, Bozeman and Corley (2004) found that female scientists have a somewhat higher percentage (36 %) of female collaborators, than males have (24%). However, they found that there are great differences, according to rank, with non-tenure track females having 84% of their collaborations with females. By contrast, tenured females collaborate with only 34% females. Boschini and Sjogren (2007) also in their analysis of articles published in three economics journals found that women are more than twice as likely as men to have a female co-author. They also found that the female-male gap in the propensity to co-author with a woman increases with the increase in the presence of women. They suggested this gender segregation may be linked to the prevalence of teamwork.

By contrast, some other studies have indicated that women have a higher propensity to part take in cross-sex and mixed gender collaboration (Fisher, et al, 1998; Zawacki-Richter and von Prümmer, 2010; Farrell and Smyth, 2014).

Fisher, et al. (1998) in a study on three leading journals in political sciences found that over half of the articles published by women in the leading journals resulted from cross-sex collaboration. In contrast, men appear more likely to author articles on their own or to coauthor articles with other men. The results of Zawacki-Richter and von Prümmer's (2010) study on papers published in five prominent distance education journals also indicated that more women than men collaborated with members of the opposite sex. Farrell and Smyth (2014) in their study on articles published in the Group of Eight (Go8) law reviews in Australia have shown that males collaborate with other males much more than females collaborate with other females. They postulated that a reason for these gender differences in co-authorship might be the existence of old boy networks in male dominated professions, which females find difficult to access.

Regarding international collaboration, in general the literature shows that female researchers have a lower propensity to collaborate at an international level (Finkelstein, Walker and Chen, 2009; Frehill, Vlaicu, and Zippel, 2010; Larivière et al., 2011; Abramo et al., 2013; Larivière et al., 2013).

Globally, what can be inferred from the literature is that the following variables might have an impact on the number of collaborators of both female and male scholars: the percentage of scholars in a discipline in terms of their gender, tenure status, professional age, discipline, teaching load, number of grants, and climate factors, amongst others. Regarding cross-gender collaboration and co-authorship, we can mention rank, teamwork, the presence (number) of women in a field, discipline, and the existence of old boy networks among others. Finally, the lower propensity of female scholars to collaborate internationally could be due to the lack of research funds, which limits the breadth of collaboration networks for the individual academic (Bozeman and Corley, 2004). It might also be due to the prejudices against women that still exist in certain countries and which lead local researchers, who are primarily men, to avoid undertaking collaborations with women colleagues (Frehill, et al., 2010; Abramo et al., 2013). Family ties might also limit collaboration duration as well as geographic extension (Frehill, et al., 2010).

1.2.4. Authorship positions and author by-line order

Author by-line order and authorship position usually gives an indication of the contribution, responsibility and accountability made by each author to a piece of published work (Tscharntke, et. al., 2007; Clement, 2014). According to the literature, the most important authorship positions are first, last and corresponding (Costas and Bordons, 2011; Rigg, McCarragher and Krmenec, 2012). In this sense, first-position authors are generally held to have made the greatest contribution to the research (Clement, 2014), while the last author typically represent the most senior, predominantly supervisory role in the research (Costas and Bordons, 2011). The corresponding author is typically the person who receives the reviewers' comments, the proofs etc. and whose contact details are listed in the article (Albert and Wagner, 2003). Corresponding authorship is frequently used as a way to share credit between senior individuals (Costas and Bordons, 2011). However, it should be considered that in different countries, research groups or disciplines, the policy on crediting contributions and author by line order may differ (Weltzin, et al., 2006, Tscharntke, et. al., 2007).

In terms of gender, literature in this area suggests that women are generally underrepresented as first author (Li et al., 2007; Ochuko-Emore, Beezhold, and Morakinyo, 2010; Shields, Hall and Mamun, 2011; Barrios et al., 2013; Larivière et al., 2013, West et al., 2013) and corresponding author (Barrios et al., 2013). Furthermore, they lagged behind their male colleagues as last (senior) authors (Shah et al., 2013; Liang, et al., 2015).

West et al. (2013) associated these disparities in prestigious authorship positions to informal negotiation between a team of authors about author position order. They pointed out that men negotiate more successfully for more prestigious positions. As a second reason for this, they also referred to the bias which exist against women in the review process, such that when they are in the more prestigious author positions, papers of equal quality are less likely to be accepted than when men occupy prestigious positions.

1.3. Issues related to gender in science and academia

This section provides an overview of three important issues related to gender in science and academia: manuscript reviewing, access to funding resources and academic employment.

1.3.1. Manuscript (peer) reviewing

Literature in this area covers various aspects of the peer review process including gender differences in manuscript reviewing and publishing, the relationship between the author's gender and the reviewer's gender, and the presence of women on editorial boards.

Regarding the first aspect, gender differences in manuscript reviewing and getting work published, as indicated by Lee et al. (2013), the prevailing assumption has been that in comparison to women, men are treated more favourably in the peer review process. In a study on journal acceptance rates for manuscripts submitted by women to Behavioral Ecology, Budden et al. (2008) observed that acceptance rate for female first-authored manuscripts increased by 7.9% in the 4 year after the onset of blind review, compared with the 4 year prior. This suggests that when reviewers were aware of authors' sex, they were less likely to accept women's manuscripts. Kaufman and Chevan (2011), also in their study on gender gap in peer-reviewed publications by physical therapy faculty members, found that there was a significant difference in peer-reviewed publication rates between male and female respondents. Their results also revealed that female gender was a negative predictor of peerreviewed publication. However, some studies on gender difference in peer review and publication have reported some contradictory results (Whittaker, 2008; Primack, et al., 2009; Handley et al., 2015). Analysing 1,140 manuscripts submitted to the Journal of Biogeography, Whittaker (2008) found no difference in the acceptance/rejection ratio for male and female authors. Primack, et al. (2009) in a study on a sample of 1856 papers submitted to the journal Biological Conservation between 2004 and 2007 also found no evidence of differences in acceptance rates among genders.

Similarly, in a recent study on the peer review process of the American Fisheries Society journals, Handley et al. (2015) observed a small but statistically significant difference

between male and female authors in getting their work published throughout the peer-review process. However, when background variables, other demographics, and stages in the review process were controlled, the difference became non-significant.

Regarding the second aspect, the author's gender and the reviewer's gender, conflicting results have been reported. Some studies have shown that the acceptance rate for manuscripts with female authors was higher when they were reviewed by female reviewers (Ferber and Teiman, 1980; Lloyd, 1990). Whereas other studies have found a similar rate of manuscript acceptance for both female and male authors (Harper and Willis, 1989; Lane and Linden, 2009; Buckley, et al., 2014), when the reviewer was male, or an even higher acceptance rate for female authors (Borja, 2015). Using the reviews of the manuscripts submitted to the North eastern Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics during 1984-88 for possible publication, Harper and Willis (1989) found a very similar acceptance rate by reviewers for both female and male lead authors. In their study on the manuscripts submitted to the Journal of Neurophysiology during January 1,2007 to June 30, 2007, Lane and Linden (2009) also found the accept rate for papers with female and male authors in first and last authorship positions was not different. Similarly, Buckley et al. (2014) performed a gender analysis of the publication process in the New Zealand Journal of Ecology (NZJE) for manuscripts reviewed between 2003 and 2012. The results of their study showed that publication success was not biased by gender, nor was it related to the gender of the editor.

Studying 190 manuscripts to several Elsevier journals (i.e. Continental Shelf Research, Journal of Sea Research and Marine Pollution Bulletin), Borja (2015) found that female authors obtain significantly higher rates of acceptance than male authors.

Regarding the presence of women on editorial boards, research agrees in the lack of female representation on editorial boards in different academic fields, including management (Metz and Harzing, 2009, 2012; Metz, Harzing and Zyphur 2015), social sciences (Addis and Villa, 2003), STEM fields such as information systems (Cabanac, 2012), medicine (Galley and Colvin, 2013 ; Ioannidou and Rosania, 2015), environmental biology and natural resource management (Cho, et al., 2014) and in all fields of science in Spain (Mauleón et al., 2013). This disparity is often even greater at more senior editorial levels (Addis and Villa, 2003; Mauleón et al., 2013; Fox, et al., 2016).

Overall, the findings with regard to three discussed aspects (differences in manuscript reviewing and publishing, the relationship between the author's gender and the reviewer's gender, and the presence of women on editorial boards) are inconclusive. Possible reasons for the first aspect might be discipline, lack of women on editorial boards, presence of men in authorship teams, etc. Regarding the second aspect, discipline could be a reason. Literature has suggested that bias against women is stronger in male-dominated fields than in female-dominated or neutral fields (Lloyd, 1990). Policies of journals regarding providing the names of authors to reviewers might also be another possible reason.

The reasons for low presence of women on editorial boards could be due to unconscious psychological factors, which results in men being promoted over women (Handelsman, et al., 2005). Due to the absence of institutional support, women tend to be more focused on teaching or clinical activities as opposed to research, resulting in women receiving less scholarly recognition (Buckley, et al., 2000). As a result, fewer women are promoted to senior academic positions and fewer receive the honours and awards which come from scholarly productivity (Ioannidou and Rosania, 2015). Additionally, institutional leadership frequently is influenced by traditional gender roles and expectations, resulting in barriers for the advancement of women (Nonnemaker, 2000).

1.3.2. Access to funding resources

Access to funding is important for success in academic careers, both for women and men, providing essential support for research and publications (Husu and de Cheveigné, 2010). However, the issue of gender and research funding has only attracted substantial attention fairly recently and is still addressed less often in the literature than gendered structures and career dynamics (European Commission, 2009). The literature in this area is globally concerned with the following issues: funding rates (amount of fund awarded), success rates (how successful women and men are in terms of receiving funding) and application behaviour.

With regard to first and second issues, a number of studies have reported gender disparities in favour of men in both the amount of funding awarded (Feldt, 1986; Stack, 2004; Head, et al., 2013) and the success rate in acquiring grant funding (Bailyn, 2008; Van der Lee and Ellemers, 2015). In their study on infectious disease research funding in the United Kingdom, Head et al. (2013) found that women have a lower number of studies funded and receive less funding in absolute and in relative terms. In the European Union, a study of 28 European Union countries found that in 21 countries, women who applied for grants were less successful than men (European Commission, 2009). However, when controlling for factors that correlate with grant success and grant rate including discipline, institution, investigator's experience level, and past research (Hosek et al., 2005), academic rank (Waisbren et al., 2008), and percentage of female applicants (Pohlhause et al., 2011) studies have reported no gender differences. In their study on male and female faculty members at eight Harvard Medical Schools in the United States, Waisbren et al. (2008) found that the grant success rates for men and women were not significantly different, after controlling for academic rank. In their study on outcomes of grant applications submitted to federal agencies by women and men in the United States, Hosek et al. (2005) found that women and men were similarly successful in obtaining the United States National Science Foundation and the United States Department of Agriculture funding, when controlling for discipline, institution, experience, and past research output. Similarly, Pohlhause et al. (2011) found in their study on NIH extramural grants in 2010 that success and funding rates for men and women were not significantly different in most award programs. However, in programs where participation was lower for women than men, funding rates were generally higher for men than for women. They suggested this disparity was primarily related to a lower percentage of women applicants compared to men, rather than decreased success rates or funding rates.
As indicated in Ranga, Gupta and Etzkowitz (2012)'s literature review on funding and gender, studies of funding application behaviour generally addresses the following issues: propensity to apply for grant funding, number of grants applied for, and amount of funding requested. The majority of studies in this area agree that women have a lower propensity to apply for grants, (Hosek, et al., 2005; European Commission, 2009; Pohlhaus, et al., 2011; Boyle, 2015) and that women apply for a smaller numbers of grants and request smaller amounts of money (Blake and La Valle, 2000; Waisbren et al., 2008; Bedi, Van Dam and Munafo, 2011). Pohlhaus' et al. (2011) study have introduced a variety of factors, including family circumstances, self-confidence, and other barriers resulting from gender stereotypes responsible for female's lower application rates and lower amount of funding requested compared to males.

To sum up, the results of studies regarding funding rates and success rates of female and male scholars are varied, depending on discipline, institution, investigator's experience level, past research, academic rank, and percentage of female applicants. Regarding application behaviour, factors such as family circumstances, self-confidence, and gender stereotypes are suggested to be the cause of different behaviour of female and male scholar in the funding application process.

1.3.3. Academic employment

This section first provides an overview of faculty employment and career development in relation to gender in academia and higher education. It then addresses the issue of women in

leadership and top level positions. Finally, it deals with the issues of salary and academic work in higher education in relation to gender.

1.3.3.1. Faculty employment and career development

One important aspect related to faculty employment and career development is employment status (e.g. full time, part time). According to different reports, female researchers are generally more likely to work part time (European Commission, 2013). In the European Union, a study of 33 EU countries, conducted by Burri and Aune (2013), showed that in all countries analysed, the share of females in part time employment was higher than that of men. Similarly, in the United States, data from the National Survey of Postsecondary Faculty that was conducted in 1970-2013 by the National Centre for Educational Statistics, found that after four decades of efforts to fully involve women in the academic workforce, only 42% of all fulltime faculty members were women.

Another significant aspect of faculty employment and career development is tenure. According to are port done by the United States National Association for Women in Education (NAWE), although employment for women PhDs has been progressively rising, women are predominantly clustered in the general untenured ranks of assistant professors and lecturers (NAWE, 1997). The results of a survey conducted by the American Chemical Society on the top 50 universities (2001) showed that women currently account for 7% of full professors, and 20% of assistant professors. Similarly, results of a report by American Associations of University Professors (AAUP), conducted by Misra et al. (2011), also indicated that men still hold more than three quarters of full professorships in the United States and women's share of full professorships has increased only marginally in recent decades. They also further indicated that women are less likely to be promoted to full professor than men, and their promotions take longer.

D'Amico et al. (2011), in their study on career status of female and male psychology faculty members in Italian universities, also indicated that women represented two thirds of assistant professors but only one third of full professors. According to the Australian Department of Education and training report in 2014, Australian women held 52.5% of lecturer faculty positions, 53.1% of below lecturer faculty positions, 43% of senior lecturer faculty positions and only 29.9% of above senior lecturer faculty positions. In other words, the higher the rank, the fewer the women. Similarly, according to the latest "She Figures" report published by the European Commission (2015), women continue to be vastly underrepresented in Grade A positions within the Higher Education Sector. Grade A corresponds to full professors or the highest grade/post at which research is normally conducted. In 2013, women made up only 21% of the top-level researchers (grade A), showing very limited progress compared to 2010 (20%).

To sum up, the review of the literature in this section demonstrates that over years, women have not achieved the same status as men in terms of faculty employment and career development. Overall, women are less likely than men to be employed as full-time tenuretrack faculty members and to hold tenured or full professor positions.

1.3.3.2. Decision-making and top level positions

In terms of decision making and top level positions, data from the "She Figures 2012" report published by the European Commission (2013) show that only a small proportion of women are at the head of institutions in the Higher Education Sector or in decision making committees. In 2010, on average throughout the EU-27, 15.5 % of institutions in the Higher Education Sector were headed by women and 10 % of universities had a female rector. According to the most recent She Figures report (2015), in 2014, the proportion of women among heads of higher education institutions in the EU-28 rose to 20 % from 15.5 % in the EU-27 in 2010. According to the same report, there is wide variation between individual countries in this area, ranging from 10.2 % in France to 53.8 % in Serbia. This represents an improvement from 2010, where the figures ranged from 5.5 % in Turkey to 31.8 % in Norway. Indeed, whilst 31.8 % was the highest proportion observed in 2010, there are now five countries – namely Denmark, Norway, Iceland, Sweden and Serbia – which have surpassed this figure, indicating that there has been a shift towards rectifying the under-representation of women as heads of institutions.

Similar, findings with regard to the low representation of women in senior position (e.g. leader, president, provost, rector) have also been documented in different countries and in divergent cultural and geopolitical contexts (Morley et al. 2006; Singh, 2002, 2008; Bilen-Green, Froelich, and Jacobson, 2008).

The most recent publication of the Association of Commonwealth universities reports that in 70% of Commonwealth countries, all universities were led by men in 2007. Furthermore, the participation of women in leadership in Commonwealth universities has remained stable for a decade and only one in ten Vice Chancellors or Presidents of Commonwealth universities has been female (Singh, 2008).

In their study on proportion of women in senior academic leadership positions in doctoral granting institutions in the United States, Bilen-Green, Froelich, and Jacobson (2008) found that27research institutions (13.5%) out of the 200 studied were led by women presidents, and that forty seven institutions (23.5%) had women provosts.

Overall, the literature shows a gender gap in terms of senior and top level positions in academia in favour of men, despite some improvements and growth in the proportion of women in this area over years.

1.3.3.3. Salary

Numerous scholars have addressed the issue of gender salary gap in the academic profession (Ward, 2001; Ginther, 2003, 2004; Takahashi and Takahashi, 2011; Takahashi, Takahashi and Maloney, 2015). Using a data set of 900 academics from five traditional Scottish Universities, Ward (2001) examined gender salary gap in the academic labour market. The results revealed that male academics experience a 7.7% salary advantage over female academics. However, controlling for rank, this differential reduced to just over 3%, which

was no longer significant. Using a 1973-1997 survey of Doctorate Recipients in the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT), Ginther (2003) evaluated gender differences in salaries in the sciences (STEM, biology, physics). The data showed a persistent salary gap between male and female science academics over time. However, in another study done by Ginther (2004), using data from the Survey of Earned Doctorates (SED) and the Survey of Doctorate Recipients (SDR), the gender salary gap in political science was small and almost entirely explained by differences in observable characteristics (such as academic rank and differences in productivity) of faculty members.

In a study conducted on Economics Departments in Japan regarding the gender salary differences, Takahashi and Takahashi (2011) found a 7% gender salary gap and no promotion differences. In addition, the results showed no evidence that the gender salary gap is reducing over time. Using original survey data on Japanese academics in science and engineering, Takahashi et al. (2015) examined gender salary gap. They found a 6% gender salary gap after controlling for ranks. This gap was persistent even after controlling the quality and quantity of publications. In the United Kingdom, according to the Higher Education Statistics Agency report (2015), female academics lose out in the pay stakes with 19% mean gender pay gap over the United Kingdom as a whole. This mean gender pay gap rises to 21.6% in Scotland, 19.7% in Wales and 20.6% in Northern Ireland. It is 18.6% in England.

Globally, what can be inferred from the above-mentioned literature is that some variables such as academic rank, publication productivity, discipline and country might lead in different results with regard to gender salary gap.

1.3.3.4. Academic work

The final aspect with regard to academic employment is gender differences in academic work. Traditionally, the work of faculty members consists of teaching, research and scholarship, and various forms of service (Curtis, 2011). Faculty service includes attending committee meetings, answering e-mail queries from students and colleagues, consulting, and scheduling lecture series and conferences (Ward, 2003).

Numerous studies have indicated that women faculty members spend a greater proportion of their time on teaching than men, specifically in relation to undergraduate teaching and student advising. They also spend more time on service, whether as part of departmental or institutional committees or outside organizations (Russell, 1991; Park, 1996; Toutkoushian and Bellas, 1999; Bradburn and Sikora, 2002; Association of University Teachers, 2004, Porter, 2008; DesRoches et al., 2010; Curtis, 2011; Misra et al., 2011; Olinto and Leta, 2011).

In a survey of 11,013 full and part time faculty members in 450 colleges and universities in the United States, Russell (1991) found that on average, men spent a higher percentage of time on research activities, while women spent a higher percentage of time in teaching and service activities.

A study by the Association of University Teachers (AUT) (2004) in the United Kingdom has also argued that 'institutionalized sexism' is denying female academics recognition for the research activity, which is vital to their career prospects. Men in some universities are up to five times more likely to be classified as 'research-active' and participate in the research assessment exercise compared with their female colleagues.

In a survey of 3,080 life sciences faculty members at the 50 universities in the United States, DesRoches et al. (2010) also demonstrated that men and women have somewhat different jobs, especially once they become full professors. Compared with male full professors, female full professors worked more hours overall and spent significantly more time in administrative and professional activities, and less time conducting research.

In a survey of 350 faculty members at the University of Massachusetts, Amherst (United States), conducted in 2008–2009, Misra et al. (2011) found that the work trends differed by gender, suggesting that women felt particularly pressured by the demands of service, mentoring, and teaching. Olinto and Leta (2011)'s study on gender differences in teaching and research activities in Brazilian universities showed that women receive a larger share of teaching assignments which might jeopardize their involvement with research.

Overall, the above mentioned studies demonstrate a persistent gender gap over years with regard to academic work as women academics have spent greater proportion of their time on teaching and service rather than research activities. Moreover, this gap also seems to be persistent in different countries.

1.4. Factors accounting for gender differences in science and higher education

As the review of literature on the previous two groups of studies on women in science and higher education suggests (publication productivity and other issues related to gender in science and academia) different studies have reported diverse results. Hence, numerous studies have sought to explain the systematic disparities between men and women by incorporating different factors into their analysis. Thus, this section provides an overview of the literature on the explanatory factors that account for these inconsistent findings and the gender gap.

1.4.1. Family-related factors

The focus of this section is on two main issues of family-related factors: the presence of children and marital status. In terms of children and faculty's role as parents, several authors have underlined the fact that having children has an adverse impact on the productivity of women (Hargens, McCann, and Reskin, 1978; Long, Allison, McGinnis, 1993; Bentley, 2003; Prozesky, 2008; Mason, Goulden and Frasch, 2009; Hunter and Leahey, 2010). As indicated in Hargens et al., (1978) study on research chemists in the United States, rearing children takes a considerable amount of time and effort, potentially reducing the amount of time and energy devoted to scholarship, which could diminish professional performance in terms of productivity or visibility. Bentley (2003) also noted that women faculty members are placed at a particular disadvantage by family responsibilities during child-rearing years,

which negatively affects career advancement and hence earnings of women faculty members. Using data from the Survey of Doctorate Recipients, Mason et al. (2009) found that women who have children within 5 years of PhD receipt are less likely to have tenure than either men or women who delay or forsake child birth. Hunter and Leahey (2010) also analysed the effects of children on the entire careers of female and male academics in two disciplines of linguistics and sociology in research universities in the United States. Their finding suggests that children account for part of the productivity gender gap in sociology and linguistics. They indicated this not surprising finding – that children have a more negative effect for women's rate of publication growth – is due to typical division of labour in the home. Moreover, the demanding family–work balancing activities that academics, particularly women, feel necessary to perform, may be more challenging as a career progresses. This consequently contributes to women's stagnating productivity growth rates.

However, considering the ages of children, some studies have found that having children may or may not reduce research productivity (Kyvik, 1990; Kyvik and Teigen, 1996; Stack, 2004; Fox, 2005; Abramo et al., 2009; Krapf, Ursprung, and Zimmermann, 2014). This is because children of different ages demand different amounts of time and energy from their parents (Hunter and Leahy, 2010). In a sample of all academic fields, Kyvik (1990) found that women with children are more productive than women without children, but the age of the children matters. In comparison with men, women with young children are less productive than their male counterparts, but women whose children are aged 10 years or older are just as productive as men in the same family situation and academic position (Kyvik, 1990; Kyvik and Teigen, 1996). A reasonable explanation to this might be that women take more responsibility than their male colleagues for preschool and early school-age children. Similarly, in a sample of PhD recipients in science (including social science) and engineering, Stack (2004) found that female scientists with pre-school children were less productive than other scientists, even women with multiple children in other age ranges. He suggested that as young children require more parental attention than older children, we would expect that the influence of young children might have the strongest negative impact on productivity.

In contrast to previous studies, Fox (2005) found that women engineers and scientists with pre-school children are more productive than their childless counterparts or women with school-age children. Pursuing the factors that may be associated with this finding, she suggested that women scientists with pre-school children are socially selective in terms of marriage, family patterns, research interests and allocation of time. Additionally, they allocate more time in research-related activities and less in non-research-related activities. Almost one decade after, Krapf et al. (2014) conducted a research on the effect of pregnancy and parenthood on the research productivity of nearly 10,000 highly skilled academic economists who registered in RePEc (Research Papers in Economics) database. Their findings revealed that mothers of at least two children are, on average, more productive than mothers of only one child, and mothers in general are more productive than childless women. There are dips in productivity when the children are very young, but if we consider the whole career of the person, then on average, the person (with at least two children) is doing better.

an academic career and wishes to have children will certainly plan ahead and try to optimize the timing of her professional and family-related actions.

Regarding marital status, mixed results have also been reported. Some previous studies reported the positive effect of marriage on the scientific and academic performance of both female and male academics (Luukkonen-Gronow and Stolte-Heiskanen, 1983; Long, 1990), whereas some current studies reported the positive effect of marriage only on female academics (Aiston and Jung, 2015; Juraqulova, Byington and Kmec, 2015).

In their survey of a sample of Finnish scientists, Luukkonen-Gronow and Stolte-Heiskanen (1983) found that being married is positively correlated to being productive, for both women and men. In a study on a sample of female and male academics who received a PhD in biochemistry, Long (1990) found that marriage correlated positively to research productivity of both female and male scientists.

Using Changing Academic Profession (CAP) survey data for five countries, Aiston and Jung (2015) in a recent study found that married academic women are more productive than single academic women on average. Using data from a survey of 9,000 full-time faculty members from 13 leading U.S. research universities, Juraqulova et al. (2015) examined how the perception of marriage impacts academics' career success of faculty members in STEM and non-STEM fields. They found that women in both fields reported higher perceptions of

perceived gains in professional productivity and involvement due to marriage compared to their male counterparts.

Nevertheless, some other studies have found a positive relation between marriage and scientific impact of male academics only (Prpić, 2002; Hancock and Baum, 2010). Studying a sample of 840 young scientists in Croatia, Prpić (2002) showed that men receive the greater share of the benefit due to the presence of a spouse. Similarly, in their survey of roughly 5,000 assistant professors from 80 countries, Hancock and Baum (2010) found that overall marriage provides a greater productivity boost to men than women.

Another group of studies have reported a negative or no relationship between marriage and productivity and academic performance of female academics (Sax, et al., 2002; Ginther, 2006; Wolfinger, Mason and Goulden, 2008). Using data from the Survey of Doctorate Recipients (SDR), Ginther (2006) studied tenure track science and social science faculty members. The result of the study showed that unmarried women were significantly more likely to have tenure track jobs than unmarried men. Using longitudinal data from the 1981-1995 Surveys of Doctorate Recipients, Wolfinger, et al. (2008) also found that marriage presents a barrier to securing ladder-rank employment for women. Compared to a married man, a married woman has 12% lower odds of getting an academic job. Results of the study of Sax et al. (2002) on 8,544 full-time teaching faculty members in the United States indicated that marrial status appeared not to be related to women's level of research productivity.

Summing up the literature on family-related factors (i.e. presence of children and marital status), it can be concluded that these variables have different effect on research productivity of both female and male scholars depending on the age of children, allocation of time, context (country, discipline, and time frame under study) and planned motherhood. There are also some other factors such as policies and programs of countries regarding maternity leave, child-care, having access to kindergarten or care mothers, work-life balance as well as level of income that might have an effect on the relation between parental and marital status and the level of productivity.

1.4.2. Institutional factors

Institutional factors are those practices, policies and conditions that have a role in the success or failure of both female and male academics' career advancement within a university setting (National Academy of Science, 2007; Robinson, 2012). These factors that have been examined in different studies include institutional culture [climate] (Settles et al., 2006; Shollen, et al., 2009; Riffle et al., 2013), access to networks, senior mentors and role models (Bagilhole, 1993; Bagilhole and Goode, 2001; Gardiner et al., 2007), and access to institutional resources (Keith et al., 2002; Ceci and Williams, 2011), among others.

In regards to university culture, there is some evidence which suggests the existence of a normative masculinist culture within academia that can disadvantage women (Wolffensberger, 1993; Willemsen, 2002; Chliwniak, 1997; Riley et al., 2006; Bagilhole et al., 2008). Willemsen (2002) found that while management in organizations is represented

as gender neutral, it often involves practices that are consistent with characteristics traditionally valued in men. Riley et al. (2006) also indicated that the reason for low participation of female academics in *The Psychologist* journal arises out of a combination of the sexism cultures of academia and psychology. Similarly, in their literature review on the cultures of Science, Engineering and Technology (SET) in the United Kingdom, Bagilhole et al. (2008) indicated that SET cultures make it difficult for women with children to succeed. They mentioned the reasons to this are: first, the lack of suitable policies to support working mothers, second, and the fact that success in SET is measured against traditionally masculine norms. In other words, the successful SET professionals are not perceived as feminine or to possess supposedly feminine qualities.

The importance of mentors and role models in academic advancement for both male and female professionals has been indicated in several studies (Levinson, et al., 1991; Fried and MacCleave, 2010; National Research Council, 2010; Drury, Siy, and Cheryan, 2011). Some scholars use the term role model interchangeably with mentor (Crow and Matthews, 1998; Dixon-Reeves, 2003). However, other authors argue that role modelling is very different from academic mentors—role model is someone you wish to emulate (and may or may not have a personal relationship with), while mentor is an individual with whom you have a more personal relationship that is useful for career advancement (Johnson, Rose, and Schlosser, 2007; Sugimoto, 2009). Thus, academic mentoring relationship is a reciprocal and mutual relationship between mentor and mentee (protégé) in which mentors provides career assistance, social support, emotional support, and serve as role model to protégé to facilitate his/her advancement (Johnson, 2007).

The results of a major study done by Levinson et al. (1991) showed that women with mentors and role models have more publications in peer-review journals, spend more time on research, and have greater career satisfaction than women without mentors. This study was conducted by analysing the result of a survey of 558 full-time female faculty members, aged 50 years and younger, in departments of medicine in the United States. Some years later, the National Research Council's committee in charge of the Gender Differences report (2010) also indicated that female academics (at both assistant and associate ranks) who had a mentor did better in terms of receiving funding than females without one. Regarding male academics the results showed that, while male associate professors with mentor had slightly higher success rate in terms of grant funding, male assistant professors without mentor were more successful. They reached this conclusion by analysing the results of two national surveys, taken in 2004 and 2005, of tenure-track and tenured faculty members in six fields (biology, chemistry, mathematics, civil engineering, electrical engineering, and physics) at 89 U.S. research universities.

Nonetheless, as female academics are less likely to have access to networks and senior mentors, they have little chance of progressing in the same way as men (Bagilhole and Goode, 2001). This leaves women professionally and socially isolated, and makes it difficult to them to stay informed about professional matters and relevant information within the organization (Bagilhole, 1993; Gardiner, et al., 2007).

Access to institutional resources and facilities is another institutional factor that has an effect on the academic performance of both female and male academics according to several studies (Strebler, Thompson and Heron, 1997; Keith et al., 2002; National Academy of Sciences, 2010; Ceci and Williams, 2011). According to the report of the National Academy of Sciences (2010) in the United States, the reason for a higher productivity of women science and engineering faculty over the last 30 years is having access to institutional resources. Ceci and Williams (2011) also indicated that women are as successful at publishing as men, when comparisons are made between men and women with similar resources and characteristics (e.g. type of institution, access to funding and resources, tenure, teaching load).

1.4.3. Socio-cultural factors

Socio-cultural factors have been identified as significant constraints to women pursuing academic careers (Steinke, 1997; Shin and Bang, 2013). Stereotypes and socio-cultural beliefs about women's roles and abilities are also among the important socio-cultural factors that have been addressed by several studies (Smith, Sansone and White, 2007; Bagilhole, 2008; Schmidt and Møller, 2011; Cheyran, Master and Meltzoff, 2015). GenSET¹ briefing material on gender stereotypes and attitudes in assessment of women's work (2011) points to stereotypes as an important factor constraining the equitable contribution and participation of men and women in science and research, especially in terms of decision making power.

¹. GenSET is an innovative project aiming to improve the excellence of European science through inclusion of the gender dimension in research and science knowledge making.

According to Smith et al. (2007), existence of negative gender stereotypes can lead to changes in women's perceptions about their ability and competence in science and can further lead to poorer performance, even when women are highly capable of succeeding in these areas. In a study done by Schmidt and Møller (2011), stereotypic beliefs were found to be a barrier for women to ascend to senior management. Several studies have also associated the underrepresentation of women in the traditional male fields of science, technology, engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) to gender stereotyping (Stake, 2003; Suter; 2006; Bagilhole, 2008; American Association of University Women, 2010; Cheyran, et al., 2015). Suter (2006) argued that stereotypes deter women from careers in STEM fields because many believe these fields to be more related to male than female characteristics. The American Association of University Women report (AAUW) (2010) also noted that women undergraduates are much less likely to major in STEM compared to their male counterparts due to negative stereotypes about females in STEM studies and cultural aspects of the society. In their study on the students who majored in the fields of computer science and engineering in the United States, Cheyran et al. (2015) also proposed that stereotypes about the culture of these fields, drives girls away from these fields and constrains their learning opportunities and career aspirations.

1.4.4. Behavioural factors

Regarding behavioural and attitudinal factors, some research indicates that women's attitudes and lack of confidence to succeed often leads to making decisions that affect their career prospects (Sonnert and Holton, 1995; Blanch, Hall and Roter, 2008; Sax, 2008). In their study on high-achieving men and women scientists, Sonnert and Holton (1995) found that more men considered their scientific ability to be above average and more women considered their ability to be average. Similar results were also found in terms of self-evaluation of technical skills. The result of a literature survey by Blanch et al. (2008) showed that while there is no consistent gender difference in academic performance, female medical students tend to underestimate their abilities while males tend to overestimate theirs. Sax (2008) also reported that women express lower levels of academic confidence than their male peers even when their demonstrated academic abilities are equal to that of for men. The study was done based data from a sample of approximately 17,000 male and female students from 200 institutions in the United States.

According to Shin and Bang (2013), women are less likely to promote themselves; when they are successful, they are more likely to credit the team or circumstance, and when they fail, they are more likely to blame themselves.

Chapter 2. Objectives

Chapter 2. Objectives

2.1. Main objectives

To reach the aim of the thesis, to assess and map international research concerning women in science and higher education, the following two main objectives are addressed in two different studies, called Study 1 and Study 2:

- First, to examine the development and growth of scientific literature on women in science and higher education (Study 1).
- Second, to identify the major research topics in this area, with a special focus on explanatory factors accounting for gender differences in science and higher education (Study 2).

2.2. Specific objectives

To reach these main research objectives, this thesis more specifically seeks to investigate the following objectives:

Regarding the first main objective, this thesis more specifically examines:

- The scientific growth of the literature on women in science and higher education over time. This will provide a global understanding of how the scientific contribution to and interest in the studied field has changed over years.

- The contribution of different research areas to the area of women in science and higher education. This will help us to investigate the relevance and importance of the studied area among different research areas as well as its degree of multidisciplinarity.
 Furthermore, it will allow us to identify top research areas contributed to the studied field.
- Author productivity. This will enable us to detect the highly productive authors in the studied field. Furthermore, it will help to study the evolution of the number of authors per paper over time, which is an indicator of the collaboration efforts in the studied field.
- Relative publication productivity by country. It will provide insights into the country's position in terms of publication productivity in the studied field relative to global research production.
- International publication productivity by country. It will illustrate the importance and relevance of the studied field among countries and thereby their scientific contribution at international level.
- The relationship between the publication productivity of countries and their level of gender equality. It will give us a global understanding of the interest and scientific

contribution of different countries in the studied field in association with their level of development in gender equality.

- The dispersion of scientific output across journals. It will help us to investigate the distribution, relevance and interest of the studied field across journals of different disciplines.

Regarding the second main objective, which is thematic evolution of factors accounting for gender differences, this thesis more specifically examines:

- The evolution of the number of documents addressing those factors across three consecutive sub-periods. The number of documents as the indicator of performance analysis will allow us to measure the importance and interest of the studied field as well as its growth over time.
- The evolution of the number of themes and main concepts addressing those factors across three consecutive sub-periods. This performance analysis will allow us to track the growth of the sub-fields (themes) over time thereby providing a global understanding of the diversification and specialization of the studied field.

- The evolution of main themes and concepts addressed with regard to those factors across three consecutive sub-periods. This will help us to show the relationships between sub-fields (themes) across sub-periods. Additionally, this will allow to detect the most prominent themes as well as the themes less addressed at different time periods. The later will provide insight into possible gaps in the literature.

Chapter 3. Research on women in science and higher education: a bibliometric analysis (Study 1)

Chapter 3. Research on women in science and higher education: a bibliometric analysis

Using standard bibliometric indicators (such as the number of papers and authors, and productivity by country, among others), laws (Price's, Lotka's, and Bradford's laws) and an index for measuring gender disparity [the Gender Inequality Index (GII)], this chapter investigates the development and growth of research in the field of women in science and higher education by reviewing the related scientific literature. In other words, this chapter presents methods used for data collection and data analysis, sources used, as well as results, conclusions and discussion of Study 1.

3.1. Data collection and processing

A total of 1415 articles and reviews published between 1991 and 2012 were extracted from the Thomson Reuters Web of Science database. Several strategies were used to retrieve the related scientific literature (Fig. 1). First, three different searches were carried out, taking into account the three main topics in the field: publication productivity, impact and collaboration patterns, issues related to gender in academia and science, and factors accounting for gender differences.



Fig. 1 Flowchart illustrating the process of data collection for Study 1

To do so, for each topic we went through the related literature in order to identify the related key terms. A preliminary combination of key terms was used to extract the papers related to the subject. Next, after reviewing the keywords of these preliminary papers, we added more specific terms to the query in order to check whether these new terms increased the number of records retrieved; if they did, they were included in the query, and if not, they were eliminated. A summary of these key terms is presented in Table 1. It should be considered that wildcards and truncation were used in the search strategy.

Table 1 A summary of common key terms extracted from the literature on women in science and higher education referring to each term in the conducted search strategy

Term	Referring key terms
Higher education and science	Academia, university, scientific community, science career, science organization, science institution, research institution, research
Gender	Gender studies, gender, women, men, female, male, sex
Publication productivity, impact and collaboration patterns	Bibliometrics, scientometrics, informetrics, webometrics, scientific (publication) productivity, collaboration, citation, publication (performance), impact factor, H-index, authorship, author(ship) order (position)
Factors accounting for gender differences	Behavioural (individual) characteristic, family, marital status, parenting, parenthood, motherhood, marriage, maternity, children, child rearing, (masculinist) culture (climate), societal norms, stereotypes, sexism, glass-ceiling, leaky pipeline, sticky floor, nepotism, mentor, role model
Issues related to gender in academia and science	(Academic) Employment, career development, tenure, teaching load, manuscript reviewing, peer review, fellowship, grant, scholarship, fund, editorial board, top level(senior, leading) position, rector, president, decision making, salary, payment

In order to retrieve the related records on first topic i.e. *Publication Productivity, impact and collaboration patterns* a combination of the following three groups of terms were used in the topic field of the Web of Science:

(Publication Productivity, impact and collaboration patterns), (Higher Education and Science) and Gender

For the second topic i.e. *Issues related to gender in academia and science*, the combination of the three following groups of terms was used:

(Issues related to gender in academia and science), (Higher Education and Science) and Gender

Finally for the third topic i.e. *factors accounting for gender differences*, the combination of the three following groups of terms was used:

(Factors accounting for gender differences), (Higher Education and Science) and Gender

As a result of this step, 2,082 records were initially retrieved for the first topic, 12,770 for the second topic and 3,545 for the third topic. Titles and abstracts from these three pools of papers were then checked one by one to find related records. As a result of this step, a total of 1,746 papers were retrieved: 416 (23.83%) records for the publication productivity, impact and collaboration patterns topic, 651 (37.29%) records for the issues related to gender in academia and science topic, and 679 (38.88%) records for the factors accounting for gender differences topic. After elimination of duplicates a total of 1,225 records were considered. Additionally, and in order to ensure that all the references dealing with the subject were included in the database, the references of the most recent papers were checked. If any new paper was found it was added to the database. We continued doing this until no new references were identified. This process led to the inclusion of 190 new papers. As a result the final corpus comprised 1,415 articles and reviews, all of which were coded according to the three topics mentioned above. It should be noted that any given paper may simultaneously address more than one issue, and it will therefore belong to more than one group.

3.2. Data analysis and statistical procedures

The main bibliometric laws were applied to study scientific growth over time, the dispersion of scientific output across journals, and author productivity.

Scientific growth over time was assessed using Price's law (Price, 1963), which proposes that the growth of scientific production follows an exponential function. In order to test whether our data followed Price's law, different regression models were fitted, including linear, exponential and logistic curves, the latter being applied to assess the hypothesis of literature growth saturation.

Bradford's law (Bradford, 1934, 1948) was applied in order to study the dispersion of the literature. Specifically, Bradford's law describes how the articles in a specific area are scattered across journals, postulating a model of concentric productivity zones with a decreasing information density. Following the proposal of Egghe (1986, 1990), the Bradford multiplier was obtained by $K = (1.781 \cdot y_m)^{1/P}$ where y_m is the number of articles published by the most productive journal and *P* is the number of zones including the core. The estimated *k* value for each zone was calculated by the ratio between the number of journals in a given zone and the number of journals in any immediate zone. The number of Bradford zones was determined by the solution that minimized the difference between the Bradford multiplier *k*

and each estimated value of *k*, and between the estimated values of k. In addition, the predicted frequencies were fitted according to Leimkuhler's formulation (Leimkuhler, 1967), obtaining the constants as $A = y_0/\log_e k$ and $B = (k - 1)/r_0$ where y_0 is the constant number of articles in each group ($y_{0=a/P}$, where a is the total number of articles and both P and k are as defined above) and r_0 is the expected number of journals in the core ($r_0 = \frac{T(K-1)}{k^{P-1}}$ where T is the total number of journals, and k and Pare as defined above). The estimated cumulative number of articles produced by the journals of rank 1, 2...r was obtained by: $R(r) = A \cdot \log_e(1 + B \cdot r)$.

After standardization of authors' names (we began with a total of 3,538 authors and after standardization we ended with a total of 3,064 single authors), Lotka's law was also applied using the method proposed by Pao (1985), including both the first author and co-authors in the analysis. According to Lotka's law the number of authors (y_x) with x number of articles is inversely proportional to x. This relationship is expressed by the formula:

$$x^n \cdot y_x = C$$
,

where y_x is the number of authors producing x number of articles in a given research field, and C and n are constants that can be calculated from the observed data set. We used the least-squares method in order to calculate the n exponent, using the following formula:

$$N = \frac{N\sum XY - \sum X\sum Y}{N\sum X^2 - (\sum X)^2}$$

where N is the number of pairs considered, X is the logarithm of x and Y is the logarithm of y_x . The constant C is calculated using the formula:

$$C = \frac{1}{\sum (1/x^n)}$$

In addition, and in order to verify that the observed data fitted the estimated distribution, the non-parametric Kolmogorov–Smirnov goodness-of-fit test was applied.

In order to calculate relative measures of productivity and international collaboration productivity by country, the Relative Intensity Index (RII) (Larivière et al., 2013 a, b) and the International Collaboration Relative Intensity Index (IC-RII) were calculated for each country. Both measures indicate the relative proportion of publications of a given country in a domain relative to the proportion of the world in the same domain. Thus, the RII indicates the relative proportion of publications of a given country in the women in science and higher education (WSHE) area relative to the proportion of the world in the same domain. The RII was calculated for each country using the following formula:

$$RII = \frac{\frac{nWSHE_{country}}{n_{country}}}{\frac{nWSHE_{World}}{n_{World}}}$$

Where $nWSHE_{country}$ is the number of publications of a given country in the WSHE area, $n_{Country}$ is the total number of publications of the country in all disciplines, $nWSHE_{World}$ is the total publications of the world dealing with WSHE, and n_{World} is the total of publications in all disciplines in the world.

The IC-RII indicates the relative proportion of publications of a country in the WSHE area in international collaboration relative to the proportion of the world's publications published through international collaboration in the same area. The IC-RII is expressed by the formula:

$$RII = \frac{\frac{nIC_WSHE_{country}}{nIC__{country}}}{\frac{nIC_WSHE_{World}}{nIC__{World}}}$$

Where all terms have the same meaning as above except this time publications include only those carried out through international collaboration.

In both cases a value above 1 means that an observed country publishes more in the domain than would be expected, while an index value below 1 indicates the opposite. It is worth saying that by "World" in our study we mean just those countries which contributed to the publication productivity in WSHE, while by the number of papers we mean the number of scientific papers by authors from a given country, as indicated in the address field. To do so, we used the full counting method. In other words, each paper is counted once for each country listed in the address field. For example if a paper is authored by two researchers from Germany and one from Spain, this paper is counted once for each country.

Finally, with the aim of exploring the existence of a possible relationship between the interest of different countries in that topic and the existence of a broad spectrum of gender inequalities in these countries, the most recent GII², at the time our study was conducted, was considered. GII is an index for measuring gender disparity that was introduced in the 2010 Human Development Report (20th anniversary edition) of the United Nations Development Program (UNDP). According to the UNDP (2013), this index is a composite measure which yields insights, within the same country, about gender gaps in major areas of human development. It uses three dimensions to do so: reproductive health, measured by maternal mortality ratio and adolescent birth rates; empowerment, measured by proportion of parliamentary seats occupied by females and proportion of adult females and males aged 25 years and older with at least some secondary education; and labour market participation measured by employment rates of female and male populations aged 15 years and older. The GII values range between 0 to 1, where a value close to 0 means equality between genders and a value close to 1 means inequality.

 $^{^{2}}$. By the most recent GII, in this thesis, we refer to the GII which was available at the time the study conducted, which was the end of year 2013.

3.3. Results

3.3.1. Number of papers

Data showed an upward trend in the percentage of publications, 52.29% of which appeared in the last 7 years (2006–2012). The linear, exponential, and logistic regression models were fitted in order to test whether the data followed Price's law. Although all three regression models were statistically significant and captured a high proportion of the explained variance, the exponential model ($R^2 = .834$) explained a higher proportion of the variance than did either the linear ($R^2 = .707$) or logistic ($R^2 = .578$) approaches, showing a good fit to Price's law (Fig. 2).

An upward trend was also observed in the three main topics of the field. Table 2 shows the frequency, percentage, and regression fit for the three topics. As can be seen from the table, the research line with the highest frequency of papers was "Issues related to gender in academia and science". Furthermore, all the topics showed a good fit to the exponential model.



Fig. 2 Growth of literature over time (1991–2012): linear, exponential and logistic regression model fit to Price's law

Table 2 Growth of literature over time (1991–2012) by topic: publication frequency and regression fit

Topic	$fi (\%)^a$	R^2 linear	R^2 exponential	R^2 logistic
1. Publication productivity, impact and collaboration patterns	275 (19.43)	0.597	0.677	0.578
2. Issues related to gender in academia and science	943 (66.64)	0.708	0.779	0.596
3. Factors accounting for gender differences	438 (30.95)	0.657	0.726	0.581

Note: fi frequency

^a Note that a given paper may simultaneously address different topics. Consequently, the sum of papers is more than the total number of papers, and the sum of percentages exceeds 100%
3.3.2. Research areas

According to the classification of journal areas used in Thomson Reuters WOS, the top ten research areas in terms of frequency of papers were Education and Educational Research (n = 71, 18.3%), Psychology (n = 237, 11.7%), Information Science and Library Science (n = 212, 10.5%), Business and Economics (n = 167, 8.2%), Women's Studies (n = 165, 8.1%), Computer Science (n = 95, 4.7%), Sociology (n = 93, 4.6%), General and Internal Medicine (n = 63, 3.1%), Health Care Sciences and Services (n = 58, 2.9%), and, finally, Science and Technology—Other Topics (n = 53, 2.6%). Figure 3 shows the contribution of these top ten research areas in the three topics. Information Science and Library Science was the research area with the highest number of publications (n = 90, 30.41%) in topic 1 followed by Computer Science (n = 48, 20.61%).

Education and Educational Research and Psychology were the research areas with the highest number of publications in topics 2 and 3. Education and Educational Research corresponds respectively to 27.03% (n = 276) of publications in topic 2 and 28.45% (n = 132) in topic 3, while Psychology corresponds respectively to 14.99% (n = 153) of publications in topic 2 and 20.26% (n = 94) in topic 3.

3.3.3. Number of authors

The total number of authors who contributed to the output set was 3064, with the mean number of authors per article being 2.41 (SD = 1.60, M = 2). The data showed that 477 (33.71%) of the papers had a single author, 398 (28.12%) had two, 266 (18.79%) had three,

and 274 (19.36%) had more than three authors. It can be seen in Fig. 4 that the number of papers with a single author showed a decreasing trend, whereas the number of papers with three authors and with more than three authors increased slightly over time. Over the same period there was a fluctuation in the number of papers with two authors.

With regard to the productivity of authors the data showed that 2750 (89.75%) of them contributed with just one item to the field. Lotka's law was applied using the method proposed by Pao (1985), and all the authors of publications (first authors and collaborators) were considered for the analysis. To determine whether the data fitted Lotka's law, the n value was calculated using the least squares method (n = 3.40), yielding a C value of 0.88. The critical value obtained by the non-parametric Kolmogorov–Smirnov goodness of-fit test was 0.029. As the maximum difference between the observed and the estimated accumulated frequencies was 0.014, which is below the critical value, we can conclude that the data fitted Lotka's law.

3.3.4. Countries

Sixty-seven countries participated in publishing the set of studies, although it should be noted that the provenance of authors was not available for 204 papers (14.4%). Only 8% (n = 113) of papers involved international collaboration and of these, 22.12% (n = 25) were published recently (in 2012). The top ten countries in terms of absolute contributions, RII, and IC-RII are shown in descending order in Table 3.

While the United States and United Kingdom are the most productive countries in terms of absolute contributions, Nicaragua and Botswana, based on the RII, are the countries that showed the highest proportion of publications in WSHE relative to the proportion of the world in the same area. Taking into account just those papers published in international collaboration, based on the IC-RII, Sudan, Nepal and Ghana are the countries with the highest international collaboration productivity.

Interestingly, a significant positive correlation coefficient was obtained between the most recent GII and the RII (r = .277, p = .029) and the IC-RII (r = .497, p = .001), showing that countries that present higher gender inequalities present higher relative productivity related to the topic as well as higher levels of international collaboration productivity. As the GII was not available for five countries, only 62 countries were considered in the analysis of the above-mentioned correlations.

Table 3 Top ten countries based on absolute contributions, relative intensity index (RII), and international collaboration relative intensity index (IC-RII)

2	IVII	Country	IC-RII
08) Nicaragua	20.94	Sudan	35.33
0) Botswana	6.24	Nepal	24.69
) Sudan	5.47	Ghana	21.39
) Cyprus	4.86	Philippines	18.02
) Nepal	4.5	Luxembourg	17.65
) Lebanon	3.83	Cyprus	15.18
) Luxembourg	3.54	Lebanon	14.41
) Ghana	3.21	Malaysia	14.39
) Philippines	3.03	Bangladesh	9.09
) SriLanka	2.93	Turkey	6.78
	.08)Nicaragua20)Botswana4)Sudan5)Cyprus2)Nepal2)Lebanon4)Luxembourg4)Ghana1)Philippines2)SriLanka	.08) Nicaragua 20.94 .00) Botswana 6.24 .01) Sudan 5.47 .02) Cyprus 4.86 .03) Lebanon 3.83 .04) Luxembourg 3.54 .03) Ghana 3.21 .04) Philippines 3.03 .03) SriLanka 2.93	.08)Nicaragua20.94Sudan00)Botswana6.24Nepal4)Sudan5.47Ghana5)Cyprus4.86Philippines2)Nepal4.5Luxembourg9)Lebanon3.83Cyprus4)Luxembourg3.54Lebanon4)Ghana3.21Malaysia1)Philippines3.03Bangladesh0)SriLanka2.93Turkey

Note: fi frequency



Topic 1- "Publication productivity, research impact and collaboration patterns"



Topic 2- "Issues related to gender in academia and science"



Topic 3- "Factors accounting for gender differences"

Fig. 3 Percentage of papers for the top ten research areas in the three topics.

9: Sociology

10: Women's Studies

4: General & Internal Medicine

5: Health Care & Services

Regarding the topics, *Issues related to gender in academia and science* (topic 2) was the most frequent among the top ten countries in terms of absolute frequency. Among the papers involving international collaboration, 56.64% (n = 64) of them dealt with the topic of *issues related to gender in academia and science*, 30.08% (n = 34) addressed *factors accounting for gender differences*, and 28.31% (n = 32) examined *publication productivity, impact and collaboration patterns*. As any given paper may simultaneously address more than one topic, the sum of papers is more than the total number of papers, and the sum of percentages exceeds 100%.



Fig. 4 Changes over time (1991–2012) in the number of authors per paper

3.3.5. Journals

The papers included in the present study were published in a total of 595 journals, of which 366 (61.5%) published only one paper. The distribution of papers published in the set of

journals was described using Bradford's law, which revealed that the papers were distributed in four zones. The core was composed of 13 journals.

Table 4 shows the expected number of journals given the Bradford multiplier (3.17), the actual number of journals in each zone, the number of articles included in each zone, the cumulative number of articles, the estimated values of k, and, finally, the predicted cumulative number of articles R(r).

Zone	Expected number of journals	Number of journals	Number of articles	Cumulative articles	Estimated k	R(r)
1	13	13	366	366	_	355.86
2	41.1	41	250	616	3.15	634.02
3	129.98	130	343	959	3.17	959.77
4	411	411	456	1415	3.16	1303.04

Table 4 Data fit to Bradford's law

Note: Constants according to Leimkuhler's formulation were A = 306.26 and B = 0.168

Table 5 shows core journals, publication frequency and the corresponding research areas of each journal based on the Thomson Reuters WOS. As can be seen from the table, six of the core journals belong to the area of Education and Educational Research, and Scientometrics is the journal with the highest number of papers related to topic 1, while the rest of the journals published more papers related to topic 2.

Core journal	Research Area	Total	Topic 1*	Topic 2*	Topic 3*
-		fi (%)	fi (%)	fi (%)	fi (%)
Scientometrics	Computer Science; Information Science & Library Science	57 (15.57)	45(78.95)	20(35.09)	2(3.51)
Sex roles	Psychology; Women's Studies	42 (11.48)	2 (4.76)	27 (64.29)	22 (52.38)
Academic medicine	Education & Educational Research; Health Care Sciences	39 (10.66)	7 (17.95)	27 (69.23)	16 (41.03)
Higher Education	& Services Education & Educational Research	36 (9.84)	3 (8.33)	26 (72.22)	15 (41.67)
Research in higher education	Education & Educational Research	31 (8.47)	5 (16.13)	22 (70.97)	15 (48.39)
Gender and education	Education & Educational Research	30 (8.20)	0 (0.00)	25 (83.33)	10 (33.33)
Scientist	Information Science & Library Science; Science & Technology	29 (7.92)	1 (3.45)	27 (93.10)	4 (13.79)
Women's studies international forum	– Other Topics Women's Studies	19 (5.19)	1 (5.26)	15 (78.95)	6 (31.58)
Gender work and organization	Business & Economics; Women's Studies	18 (4.92)	0 (0.00)	12 (66.67)	9 (50.00)
Journal of higher education	Education & Educational Research	17 (4.64)	1 (5.88)	13 (76.47)	7 (41.18)
Journal of vocational behavior	Psychology	17 (4.64)	0 (0.00)	13 (76.47)	5 (29.41)
Journal of womens' health	Public, Environmental & Occupational Health; General & Internal Medicine; Obstetrics	16 (4.37)	0 (0.00)	12 (75.00)	6 (37.50)
Academic psychiatry	Education & Educational Research; Psychiatry	15 (4.10)	1(6.67)	14 (93.33)	2 (13.33)

Table 5 Core journals, the corresponding research area, total publication frequency and publication frequency in each topic (1991–2012)

Note: fi frequency

a Some papers may simultaneously address more than one topic

3.4. Conclusions and discussion

This study has analysed the main bibliometric indicators in relation to the literature on women's participation in science and higher education. With regard to the number of publications, results showed a significant increase and interest in the field over the last 21 years, particularly since 2002, when a steady increase begins. This increment was supported by the fit of the data to Price's law, which indicates that productivity in the studied field shows an exponential growth. Of the three topics considered, namely *publication productivity, impact and collaboration patterns, issues related to gender in academia and science,* and *factors accounting for gender differences,* the highest number of papers corresponded to the second topic (i.e., issues related to gender in academia and science), accounting for 66.64% of the total publications.

This topic was also the most frequently addressed in papers involving international collaboration (56.64%). This result may be due to the fact that this topic addresses a wide variety of issues such as a scientific career, having access to funding, mentoring and networking, and being a member of an editorial board or a peer reviewer, among others. Furthermore, these studies often consider the other two topics as well in an attempt to examine existing differences in academia and science by searching for explanatory factors, and they often using bibliometric indicators such as publication productivity.

Regarding the research areas showing the most interest in the studied field, it can be inferred that scholars from different disciplines, such as Education and Educational Research,

Psychology, Information Science and Library Science, Computer Science, Business and Economics, and Women's Studies, among others, have all contributed to the field, thereby indicating a high degree of multidisciplinarity. However, the interest of these areas in the three different topics is quite unbalanced. Not surprisingly, Information Science and Library Science and Computer Science were the areas with the highest contributions in the third topic, publication productivity, while Education and Educational Research and Psychology were the areas with the highest weight in the topics *issues related to gender in academia and science*, and *factors accounting for gender differences*.

In addition, the result of Bradford's law identified a small set of core journals focused on the studied field, which were also from eleven different research areas. Ordered according to frequency these core journals correspond to the following areas: Computer Science; Information Science and Library Science; Psychology; Women's Studies; Education and Educational Research; Health Care Sciences and Services; Business and Economics; Public, Environmental, and Occupational Health; General and Internal Medicine; Obstetrics and Gynaecology; and Psychiatry. This means that this field is widely scattered across journals of different disciplines and is regarded as relevant in many research areas. However, it should be noted that the most productive research area is Education and Educational Research, accounting for 6 out of 13 (46.15%) core journals identified by Bradford's law.

With respect to the number of authors, a large number of papers (477; 33.71%) are single author papers, suggesting that the scientific community in the field is composed of small groups and individual authors. Furthermore, author productivity was found to fit Lotka's law,

indicating that there are a few, highly productive authors and a great majority who only contribute occasionally to research on women in science and higher education. However, analysis of how the number of authors has evolved over time showed an increasing trend in terms of the number of papers being signed by three authors or more, a trend that was paralleled by a clear reduction in the percentage of single-author papers. On the one hand, this may reflect the constitution of research groups, which is a feature associated with the consolidation of a field (Barrios, et al., 2008). On the other hand, and as has already been mentioned in other studies, this trend may be due to academic factors such as the increasing pressure to publish, the specialization of research expertise, collaborative efforts, or the interdisciplinarity of this field (Wren et al., 2007; Lozano, 2013).

Authors contributing to the articles came from 67 different countries. It should be noted, however, that the increase in the number of authors and the high number of countries that contributed to the field have not been accompanied by greater international collaboration; only 8% of papers involved this kind of joint work, and the largest proportion of these were published recently. This indicates a field of study that has yet to become truly international and in which collaboration between countries and institutions needs to be reinforced.

The most productive countries, in absolute terms, are the United States and the United Kingdom, generating around half the total scientific production in this field (54%). However, when RII, a relative measure to calculate country productivity, were used, Nicaragua and Botswana were the countries that showed the highest productivity in WSHE, relative to the proportion of the world in the same area. Similarly, when IC-RII were used to measure the

relative proportion of publications of a country in international collaboration, Sudan, Nepal and Ghana were the countries that showed the highest international collaboration productivity.

With regard to the GII, the results showed a direct relationship between the most recent GII and the RII and IC-RII. This means that countries with higher GII values (higher inequality) are, in relative terms, the most productive in the field and are the most likely to collaborate internationally. Thus, although countries such as the United States and the United Kingdom are the most productive countries in terms of absolute contributions, countries with higher levels of inequality showed higher relative values of productivity in the field. This last finding is consistent with Glänzel's (2001) study, which analysed country profiles and compared domestic and internationally co-authored papers. According to his findings, some countries compensate relatively weak domestic activities through international collaboration or even intensify their own strong activities in the preferred science fields by international collaboration. However, as Glänzel (2001) points out, international scientific collaboration has proved to be a complex and heterogeneous phenomenon which cannot be sufficiently characterized by bibliometric indicators alone.

In summary, the present study provides an overview of how scientific output in the field of WSHE has evolved over time. The results show that since 1991 until the present day there has been a clear upward trend in the number of publications, with increasing interest extending to many authors, countries, and scientific journals, as well as to several research areas. These results are consistent with Zosuls et al.'s (2011) conclusion that the growth in

the diversity of topics covered by researchers over the past few decades has mainly been due to the multidimensionality of gender, and that the idea that the assumptions made about one domain of gender development can predict all others has come under serious scrutiny. Moreover, the need for precise and clear terminology, more sophisticated methods and analytic techniques, and a greater diversity of topics of study have been increasingly encouraged. Chapter 4. Research trends in gender differences in higher education and science: a co-word analysis (Study 2)

Chapter 4. Research trends in gender differences in higher education and science: a co-word analysis

This chapter examines the second main objective of the thesis, the thematic evolution of factors accounting for gender differences in science and higher education, and its specific objectives (the evolution of the number of documents and number of themes as well as the evolution of main themes and concepts accounting for gender differences in science and higher education), as indicated in chapter 2. Thus, this chapter presents methods used for data collection and data analysis, sources used, as well as results, conclusions and discussion of Study 2.

4.1. Data collection and processing

The data set comprised a corpus containing 651 articles and reviews published between 1991 and 2012, extracted from the Thomson Reuters WOS database in February 2013. Different steps were taken in order to extract the data set, as shown in Fig 5. After conducting a search by using a preliminary combination of key terms³, a total of 50,970 records were initially retrieved. In a next step, records were refined by subject area, such that those papers classified

³. A summary of these key terms can be found in Chapter 3, table 1. Similar to Study 1, in order to retrieve records on factors accounting for gender differences in science and education, a combination of keywords referring to gender, higher education and science and factors were used. However, the number of records obtained for this study was slightly lower than the ones retrieved for Study 1. The reason for this is that the search for Study 1 was conducted at the end of February 2013, whereas for this study (Study 2), the search was performed at the beginning of the February 2013. Thus, as a result of the actualization of the WOS database, more records were retrieved for Study 1 than Study 2.

in research areas not directly related to the topic were discarded (e.g., history, zoology, toxicology, allergy, and transportation). Titles and abstracts from the remaining pool of papers (n = 12,743) were then manually checked to find related records. A corpus of 651 articles and reviews dealing with factors related to gender differences in science and higher education, published between 1991 and 2012, were finally used.

In order to study the evolution of the topic and to see how the results changed over time, the records were divided into three consecutive sub-periods: 1991-2001, 2002- 2007, and 2008-2012. The time spans were selected based on the number of target documents published per period; so following Cobo et al. (2011) and Muñoz-Leiva et al. (2012), we fixed a longest first sub-period in order to get a representative number of published papers and keywords. Thus, the first period (1991–2001) spans 11 years (and includes a total of 164documents: 25%), the second period (2002–2007) spans 6 years (and 147 documents: 23%) and the last period (2008–2012) spans 5 years (and 340 documents: 52%).

In addition, an important event in women's access to higher education and science occurs within each period. Thus, the "World Conference on Education for All" took place in 1990 and during the years 2002 and 2008, UNESCO launched its "Gender Equality Action Plans" for the periods 2002–2007 and 2008–2013, respectively.



Fig 5. Flowchart illustrating the process of data collection for Study 2

4.2. Data analysis and statistical procedures

In order to address the objectives of this study, co-word analysis and hierarchical cluster analysis were undertaken.

Co-word analysis is a content analysis technique based on the assumption that the subject of a paper can be summarized in a number of few key terms that reflect its core contents. The frequency of word occurrence in the subject can reflect the importance of themes, and the co-occurrence of keywords across papers can be interpreted as indicating similarity between publications. According to Börner et al. (2003), the more keywords two publications have in common, the more similar the two publications are. Therefore, the main purpose of a coword analysis is to map the dynamics of a subject and identify the core research topics based on the pattern of co-occurrence of pairs of keywords, which represent the different themes in a selected body of literature (He, 1999). The co-word analysis conducted in this thesis involved five sequential steps: extraction of the data, standardization of keywords, construction of the co-occurrence matrix, clustering, and visual presentation of keyword groups (See Fig. 6). First, author-provided keywords were extracted from papers, with keywords plus being used in those instances where no author-provided keywords were available. Once the data had been extracted, keywords and phrases were standardized manually in order to refine the dataset (e.g., keywords occurring in different forms, plural and singular forms, uppercase and lowercase words).

Keywords denoting the same concepts were changed into the most frequent key term occurring in the data set. For instance, the terms research productivity, scientific productivity, publication productivity, academic publishing, scholarly productivity, medical publication, publication rates, publications, and research output were considered as synonymous keywords and were all identified as research productivity, which was the most frequent term.

By contrast, those keywords which were very closely related but different in meaning were kept separate, for example: gender issues, children, family, marriage, motherhood or salary, salary gap and promotion. Any keywords that were unrelated to the topic were also eliminated in this step (for instance, names of countries and statistical tests). After standardization, a total number of 170 unique keywords or phrases were selected.

The word-document occurrence matrix was automatically built using SPSS v20. Only those keywords and phrases with a frequency greater than or equal to 5 in each temporal sub-period were considered in the analysis. Totally, this accounts for (170, 29.51%) of the total number of unique keywords (576) in all sub-periods. The total number of unique keywords for each sub-period is shown in Fig. 2. The resulting matrix for each sub-period was then exported to Ucinet (Borgatti et al., 2002) in order to calculate the word co-occurrence matrix.



Fig 6. Flowchart illustrating the co-word analysis steps

The similarities between items were also calculated using the jaccard similarity index. Hierarchical clustering analysis was then conducted using Ward's method, and squared Euclidean distance was applied as the distance measure using SPSS v20. Ward's method involves an agglomerative clustering algorithm. It starts with n clusters of size 1 and continues until all the observations are included in one cluster. In contrast to other agglomerative clustering algorithms such as single link clustering used in Callon's original proposal of co-word analysis, Ward's method tends to produce same-size and spherical clusters (Everitt et al., 2011). The result of the clustering was then visualized in a dendrogram, which displays the steps in the clustering process and illustrates how individual words are combined in order to form gradually larger clusters. The clusters were then transformed into networks in Ucinet.

Finally, in the last step, and in order to identify and visualize the importance and position of clusters considered as themes, as well as their relational patterns, strategic diagrams were built for each sub-period. A strategic diagram is a two-dimensional space built by plotting themes according to their centrality and density, where the abscissa axis represents the centrality, the ordinate axis represents the density, and the origin is denoted by the median or mean value of the two, centrality and density (Callon et al., 1991; Cobo et al., 2011). The density, or the internal cohesion index, indicates the strength of the linkage that each word has with other words within the same cluster (or theme). It is an indicator of the internal strength of a cluster and represents the conceptual development of a theme. The centrality, or the external cohesion index, indicates the strength of the linkage that each keyword has with other keywords in other clusters. It is a measure of the strength of a subject area's

interaction with other subject areas and represents the central position of a theme within the overall network. The value of the density and the centrality of a given cluster can be measured in several ways (He, 1999). In this thesis density was computed as the average value (mean) of the internal links (Turner et al., 1988) and centrality was computed as the sum of squares of all external link values (Bauin et al., 1991). The origin of the strategic diagram was calculated by the mean value of centrality and the mean value of density.

The strategic diagram divides the space into four quadrants, such that there are four types of themes according to their location (Callon et al., 1991; He, 1999). Themes located in the upper-right quadrant are considered to be well-developed and important themes for the structure of a research field. They are known as the motor themes of the specialty, given that they present strong centrality and high density. The placement of themes in this quadrant implies that they are externally related to concepts applicable to other themes that are conceptually closely related.

Themes in the upper-left quadrant have well-developed internal ties (high density) but unimportant external ties (weak centrality), and so are of only marginal importance for the field. These themes are very specialized and peripheral in nature. Themes placed in the lowerleft quadrant are both weakly developed (low density) and marginal (weak centrality), and are considered as emerging or disappearing themes. Finally, themes in the lower-right quadrant are important for a research field (strong centrality) but present low internal development (low density). Therefore, this quadrant comprises transverse and general or basic themes. After calculating density and centrality for each cluster, the themes were then displayed, using Excel, in a strategic diagram according to their internal and external cohesion indices. The themes were represented by spheres of different sizes, which were proportional to the number of papers that they each represented.

4.3. Results

A total of 170 keywords were obtained from the 651 documents. In what follows, we show the dendrograms, strategic diagrams for each sub-period, and tables containing the names of clusters, the number and percentage of documents by cluster, the centrality and density values, and a brief explanation of each theme.

4.3.1. Period 1: 1991–2001

The dendrogram shows that the 29 keywords of the documents are divided into four clusters (Fig.7). Table 6 gives the names and descriptive values of each cluster, while Fig.8 shows the corresponding strategic diagram. The origin of the strategic diagram is based on the centrality value (5.750) and density value (0.117). "Gender discrimination in labour markets and universities" (C1) is located in the upper right quadrant. This means that this cluster contains close internal connections and is also widely connected to other clusters. Given its position and the number of papers that deal with this theme, it can be considered as the motor theme of this period. Because of its high/medium density and centrality (upper-left quadrant),

"Mobility of women academics" (C3) was regarded as a specialized theme with high conceptual development but weak external inter connection with other themes. A further two themes, namely "Institutional issues" (C2) and "Sex differences in promotion" (C4) (lower-left quadrant), were regarded as either emerging or disappearing themes because of their showing both low density and low centrality.



Fig. 7 Dendrogram for the first sub-period (1991–2001)

Cluster number	Name of cluster	No of keywords	No of documents (%)	Centrality	Density			
1	Gender discrimination in labour markets and universities	10	86 (52.4%)	16.640	0.141			
	Challenges and gaps that generally and in the acad	t still hinder lemic labour	women's full partic market specifically.	ipation in the	labour market			
2	Institutional issues	7	31 (18.9%)	0.665	0.046			
	Issues related to organ retention and exclusion,	Issues related to organization such as working hours, organizational structure, retention and exclusion, etc.						
3	Mobility of women academics	3	12 (7.3%)	0.420	0.185			
	Mobility of women academics or students to another institution within or outside their own country to study or teach for a limited time.							
4	Sex differences in promotion	9	62 (37.8%)	5.509	0.095			
	Sex differences and gaps in acquiring a higher rank, promotion to top positions, academic progression and finally how publication rates are correlated with promotion.							

 Table 6 Descriptive values of clusters for the first sub-period (1991–2001)

* Note that the total number of documents is higher than the number of documents per period. As each document can have more than one keyword, it can therefore appear in more than one cluster. Percentage was calculated based on the total number of documents per period.



Fig. 8 Strategic diagram for the first sub-period (1991-2001)

4.3.2. Period 2: 2002–2007

In this period, the 35 keywords of the documents were divided into ten major themes, as shown in Table 7. The dendrogram of the cluster analysis and the strategic diagram are shown respectively in Figs. 9 and 10. The origin of the strategic diagram is based on the centrality value (0.953) and the density value (0.130). In this period, two new motor themes appeared: "Career satisfaction in medicine" (C1) and "Academic career in sociology" (C9). Besides being a motor theme, "Career satisfaction in medicine" (C1) was the cluster with the highest number of documents.

Cluster number	Name of cluster	No of keywords	No of documents (%)	Centrality	Density
1	Career satisfaction in medicine	6	37 (25.2%)	4.053	0.162
	Women and men physicia career in medical practice.	ns' job perce	ptions and factors influe	encing their satisfa	action with a
2	Sex differences in promotion	4	32 (21.7%)	0.768	0.144
	Sex differences and gaps progression and finally ho	in acquiring w publication	a higher rank, promoti rates are correlated with	on to top position n promotion.	ns, academic
3	Gender stereotypes and discrimination	3	18 (12.2%)	0.319	0.162
	Stereotypes and social nor fulfilling their potential by	ms that foster limiting choi	gender discrimination a ces and opportunities.	nd hinder women	academics in
4	Gender roles in management	3	13 (8.8%)	0.084	0.079
	How gender roles and exp positions.	ectations affe	ect women being on boa	rds and in senior	management
5	Mentorship	3	20 (13.6%)	0.176	0.114
	Women's mentoring experimentors of their own race	eriences in ac and gender.	cademic careers and stu	idents' experience	es of having
6	Mobility of women academics	3	17 (11.5%)	0.149	0.110
	Mobility of women acade country to study or teach f	mics or stude or a limited ti	ents to another institution me.	on within or outsid	de their own
7	Racial discrimination at universities	4	23 (15.6%)	0.360	0.095
	Experiences of racial and in academia.	ethnic minori	ty academics and the iss	sue of being under	-represented
8	Work-life balance in academia	8	34 (23.1%)	0.536	0.120
	How different aspects of responsibilities outside the	an academic ir academic v	career make it difficul vork.	t for women to r	nanage their
9	Academic career in sociology	2	9 (6.1%)	2.987	0.222
	Difficulties faced by wom	en in academi	c careers in the field of	sociology.	
10	Gender issues in geography	3	31 (21.1%)	0.097	0.090
	Female representation and	gender inequ	alities in geography high	her education insti	tutions.

Table 7 Descriptive values of clusters for the second sub-period (2002–200'	7)
---	----

^{*} Note that the total number of documents is higher than the number of documents per period. As each document can have more than one keyword, it can therefore appear in more than one cluster. Percentage was calculated based on the total number of documents per period.

The clusters "Mobility of women academics" (C6), "Sex differences in promotion" (C2) and to some extent "Gender stereotypes and discrimination," (C3) all present in the previous period, also appeared in this period. "Mobility of women academics" (C6) showed a decrease in density but a higher percentage of documents compared with the previous period. It was now relocated to the lower-left quadrant, suggesting that it is either an emerging or a disappearing theme. In contrast, "Sex differences in promotion" (C2) and "Gender discrimination in labour markets and universities" (C1), which became "Gender stereotypes and discrimination" (C3) in this second period, showed an increase in density and a lower percentage of documents compared with the previous period, and they were relocated to the upper-left quadrant as specialized themes with a higher conceptual development but weak external interconnections with other themes.

Compared with the previous period, the number of emerging (or disappearing) themes increased from two to six. In addition to "Mobility of women academics" (C6), five new themes appeared: "Gender roles in management" (C4), "Mentorship" (C5), "Racial discrimination at universities" (C7), "Work-life balance in academia" (C8), and "Gender issues in geography" (C10).



Dendrogram using Ward Linkage

Fig. 9 Dendrogram for the second sub-period (2002–2007)



Fig. 10 Strategic diagram for the second sub-period (2002–2007)

4.3.3. Period 3: 2008-2012

Based on the hierarchical clustering of 106 keywords, 16 clusters of keywords (themes) were identified in the last period, as shown in Table 8. The dendrogram of the cluster analysis and the strategic diagram are shown respectively in Figs. 11 and 12. The origin of the strategic diagram is based on the centrality value (1.500) and density value (0.099).

In this period, just one motor theme was found: "Advancement in academic medicine" (C9). This theme includes articles related mainly to success and progression in medicine. This cluster is similar to the cluster labelled "Career satisfaction in medicine" (C1), identified in

the second period as a motor theme. "Gender discrimination in labour markets and universities" (C1), which was present as a motor theme in the first period and as a specialized theme in the second, reappeared in this third period, where it showed a decrease in the percentage of documents compared with the previous periods and an increase in centrality with respect to the second period. Therefore, it moved from the upper right quadrant in the first period to the upper-left quadrant in the following two periods as specialized themes with a peripheral character. Additionally, six new themes appeared in this quadrant as specialized themes: "Gender differences in productivity" (C2), "Employment stratification" (C3), "Personal factors" (C5), "Stereotypes in mathematics" (C7), "Institutional issues" (C10), and "Women's studies" (C15). "Institutional issues" (C10), which appeared as an emerging theme in the first period but was absent in the second period, re-emerged in the third period as a specialized theme, although it had a lower percentage of documents.

Cluster	Name of cluster	No of	No of documents	Centrality	Density
number		keyword	ls (%)		
1	Gender discrimination in labour	3	23 (6.7%)	0.881	0.270
	markets and universities				
	Challenges and gaps that still him	der women	n's full participation in th	e labour mark	et generally
	and in the academic labour marke	t specifical	ly.		
2	Gender differences in	4	47 (13.8%)	0.733	0.140
	productivity				
	Research performance differences	s, producti [,]	vity, and publication dis	parities betwee	en male and
	female researchers.				
3	Employment stratification	4	22 (6.5%)	0.759	0.143
	Differences in employment of wor	nen and me	en and the degree to which	h jobs and the o	occupational
	status that women and men hold d	liffer.			
4	Glass ceiling barriers	15	112 (32.9%)	3.658	0.032
	Institutionalized barriers against	t women	accessing male-domina	ted positions	and upper
	echelons, which are nearly imposs	sible to brea	ak through.		
5	Personal factors	4	23 (6.7%)	0.411	0.103
4 5	Glass ceiling barriers Institutionalized barriers against echelons, which are nearly imposs Personal factors	15 t women sible to brea 4	112 (32.9%) accessing male-domina ak through. 23 (6.7%)	3.658 ted positions 0.411	0.032 and upp 0.103

 Table 8 Descriptive values of clusters for the third sub-period (2008–2012)

	Factors caused by women themselves no	ot by their o	rganization. These a	re related to issue	ues such			
	as lack of confidence, empathy or motiv	ation; stress	; and individual pers	onality and abi	lities.			
6	Mobility, career choice, and sex	7	28 (8.2%)	1.289	0.069			
	Sex differences in preferences for certain	kinds of ca	reers and career mobi	lity and how th	nev have			
	an impact on the gender composition of	occupations		inty, and now a	ley nuve			
7	Stereotypes in mathematics	5	35 (10.2%)	1.415	0.129			
	Beliefs and stereotypes that have an effect on inspiring women and girls to enter the field of math							
0	and on their math performance in academ	ma.		1.075	0.045			
8	Work-life balance in	10	96 (28.2%)	1.875	0.045			
	engineering							
	How different aspects of an academic ca	reer in the e	ingineering held mak	e it difficult for	women			
0	to manage their responsibilities outside i	neir acaden	11C WORK. $46(12.5\%)$	1 551	0.102			
9	Advancement in academic	0	40 (13.3%)	4.331	0.102			
	Challenges female feculty physicians and	thon physic	nione face in receivin	recognition i	noludina			
	channenges remain raculty physicians and	u non-physic	madiaina	g recognition, n	liciuumg			
10	Institutional issues		17 (5%)	0 301	0 102			
10		-	17 (370)	0.371	0.102			
	Issues related to organization such as	working ho	urs, organizational s	tructure, retent	tion and			
11	exclusion, etc.	<i>r</i>	24 (100()	1 (17	0.007			
11	Climate and staff composition	6	34 (10%)	1.61/	0.097			
	in academia							
	How organizational culture and structur	e contribute	e to gender disparitie	s in the compo	sition of			
12	Sonier positions in medicine	Q	66 (40.2%)	0.006	0.047			
14		0 (00(40.2%)	0.900	0.047			
	Obstacles women in academic medicine	face in relati	ion to obtaining top p	ositions and lea	dersnip.			
13	Inequality and diversity in	10	230 (67.6%)	2.751	0.056			
	higher education							
	Gender and other types of inequalities	(such as ra	ce, people with disa	bilities, etc.) in	n higher			
	education, as well as the diversity issu	ies related	to the participation	of these group	s in the			
14	Bibliometric indicators:	5	62 (18.2%)	0.793	0.098			
	Research productivity, impact,		1 1 1 22					
	How the participation of women and	men in res	earch is different in	terms of bibl	iometric			
15	indicators.	2	15 (4 40/)	0.1.42	0.102			
15	women studies	3	15 (4.4%)	0.143	0.102			
	Issues and controversies addressed in we	omen's stud	ies, also known as fe	minist studies.				
16	Work-life balance in	10	59 (17.3%)	1.877	0.045			
	psychology							
	How different aspects of an academic	career in th	e field of psycholog	y make it diff	icult for			
	women to manage their responsibilities	outside their	r academic work.					

* Note that the total number of documents is higher than the number of documents per period. As each document can have more than one keyword, it can therefore appear in more than one cluster. Percentage was calculated based on the total number of documents per period.

The theme of "Mobility, career choice, and sex composition" (C6), similar to "Mobility of women academics", had been present in the two previous periods and appeared again in the third period. It corresponded to a similar percentage of documents in the three periods, although it went from being a specialized theme in the first period to an emerging or disappearing theme in the second and third periods. "Senior positions in medicine" (C12) and "Bibliometric indicators" (C14) were new themes which also appeared in this quadrant as emerging or disappearing themes. Finally, five themes, namely "Glass ceiling barriers" (C4), "Work-life balance in engineering" (C8), "Climate and staff composition in academia" (C11), "Inequality and diversity in higher education" (C13), and "Work-life balance in psychology" (C16), appeared in the lower-right quadrant. It is interesting to see how the theme "Work-life balance in academia" (C8), which was present in the second period, reappears twice in the third period and in the same quadrant in the form of "Worklife balance in psychology" (C16) and "Work-life balance in engineering" (C8), indicating that the topic of work-life balance has attracted the attention of researchers from different research fields. Finally, "Inequality and diversity in higher education" (C13), similar to the cluster labelled "Racial discrimination at universities" in the second period, showed a significant increase both in centrality and the percentage of documents compared with the previous period. Consequently, it was relocated to the lower-right quadrant. As can be seen in Fig.12, this theme had the largest number of documents among all themes in all periods.



Fig 11 Dendrogram for the third sub-period (2008–2012)



Fig. 12 Strategic diagram for the third sub-period (2008–2012)

4.4. Conclusions and discussion

Using co-word analysis, the present study describes the evolution and current state of the literature on gender differences in higher education and science, and more specifically of those papers that deal with factors that cause these differences. It also examines the evolution of this topic by dividing the literature into three sub-periods (i.e., 1991–2001, 2002–2007, and 2008–2012). Regarding the evolution of the number of documents, the results reveal that more than fifty percent of the total body of literature was published in the last five years (2008–2012), suggesting that this is a current topic which has aroused the interest of researchers. Specifically, "Inequality and diversity in higher education" is the theme with the largest number of documents over this period. This broad topic addresses gender and

other types of inequalities in higher education, as well as diversity issues. While some papers in this cluster mainly evidence gender and race inequalities related to academic degree, salary, socio-economic status, disciplines, rank, tenure, or mentoring etc., others focus on the potential value of diversity in terms of enhancing work processes and organizational mechanisms through the incorporation of women and members of other underrepresented groups such as racial/ethnic minority groups (Homan et al., 2008; Gonzalez and DeNisi, 2009; Rosser, 2012).

The results also showed that the number of themes has increased significantly over the years, ranging from four in the first period to ten in the second and sixteen in the third period. This suggests a greater interest in the study of factors related to gender differences in higher education and science, as well as a diversification and specialization of the research field over time. "Work-life balance in academia" provides a good illustration of the latter issue: this theme appeared for the first time in the second period, mainly in relation to the issue of work-life balance in universities, while in the third period it became specialized and was covered by specific fields of study such as engineering and psychology (i.e. "Work-life balance in engineering" (C8) and "Work-life balance in psychology" (C16). The relevance of this topic has recently been underlined in the latest release of Education at a Glance by the OECD (2013). According to this report, the issue remains a key element for achieving gender equality, since women still bear the main burden of care and domestic work.

In terms of trends in the evolution of themes, the strategic diagrams reveal that many themes are still immature in the studied field. Only four motor themes appeared in the upper right quadrant of the diagrams, the location for those that could be regarded as mature and welldeveloped themes. The specific themes in each period were "Gender discrimination in labour markets and universities" in the first period, "Career satisfaction in medicine" and "Academic career in sociology" in the second period, and "Advancement in academic medicine" in the third period. Moreover, only two themes, "Mobility of women academics" and "Gender discrimination in labour markets and universities", were present in all three periods. Some themes emerged and remained in subsequent periods: "Work-life balance in academia" and "Advancement in academic medicine" appeared in both the second and third periods, while "Sex differences in promotion" appeared in both the first and second periods. Other themes such as "Institutional issues" emerged (first period), disappeared (second period), and then reemerged (third period).

The results also indicate that gender differences in higher education and science have been considered by specific research disciplines such as medicine, psychology, geography, sociology, engineering, and mathematics, suggesting important research-field-specific variations. Indeed, after the second period a number of specific research disciplines can be seen to show an interest in gender issues. Notably, medicine is a discipline that appears in both of the two most recent periods (2002–2007 and 2008–2012) as a motor theme related to satisfaction and success in an academic medical career. Furthermore, an additional cluster in the field of medicine appears in the third period as an emerging theme related to senior positions in medicine. Particular research fields related to STEM disciplines, such as mathematics and engineering, also appear in the third period. It is worth noting that while in engineering and mathematics the main problem is located at the entry point (i.e., a problem
of convincing girls to undertake these studies and embark on a research career), the challenge in the humanities and social and health sciences is not so much one of attraction but of retention, such that in these research fields the particular pipeline is relatively more leaky (LERU, 2012). It is worth mentioning that although the study aims to identify the main explanatory factors that could account for gender differences in higher education and science, several of the themes identified refer to the differences themselves rather than explanatory factors. For instance, "Sex differences in promotion" and "Gender discrimination in labour markets" correspond to differences. In our view, this result could have two main reasons: the topic of the papers and the selection of keywords. On the one hand, most of the papers in the sample focus on the analysis of gender differences (e.g., salary, promotion, publication rates, etc.) and they sought to explain these differences via some possible factors.

On the other hand, authors need to summarize their research in a limited number of keywords, and this point is in fact the biggest problem that is attributed to co-word analysis (He, 1999). In co-word analysis, the keywords used for the description of the content of a publication are used as the unit of analysis to map the research field structure. Law and Whittaker (1992), indeed, point out that some keywords are too general and that indexers sometimes put the wrong emphasis on key wording; this has been called the "indexer effect". However, as Courtial et al. (1984) note there is a general structure in each specific field which underlies the co-occurrence of the keywords, and this structure does not seem to be sensitive to variations or redundancies of terms used by indexers. In order to partially solve this issue and to improve the validity of the data, the recommendation is to normalize

the key words or to use a combination of words from abstracts, title words or full-text (He, 1999; Wang et al., 2012).

In our view, the evidence presented in this work allows the most prominent themes at different time periods to be identified together with possible gaps in the literature. For instance, "Teaching load differences" and "Funding support" are examples of institutional factors that do not appear in our results, indicating that these issues generate little interest among researchers, despite the fact that some studies report clear gender differences based on these issues (LERU, 2012).

Chapter 5. Conclusions

Chapter 5. Conclusions

This section draws conclusions about the main findings of each research question in the conducted studies. It then outlines the contributions of the conducted research. Finally, it presents some limitations of the thesis, followed by some recommendations for future research.

5.1. Main findings regarding research questions

As no prior work has provided a systematic analysis of the large body of literature in the area of women in science and higher education, the current work filled this gap in previous research through the use of bibliometric indicators, laws and techniques such as co-word analysis (cluster analysis and strategic diagrams). The value of bibliometric indicators and laws is that they provide an assessment of research performance or scientific production in a specific area over a period of time (Van Raan, 2005; 2014), thereby providing insights to a field from various aspects (e.g. author, journal, country levels etc.). The value of the strategic diagrams is that they identify the motor themes for the topic and also provide information about the less visible and emerging themes. Furthermore, studying the evolution of results across the three periods (1991-2001, 2002-2007, and 2008-2012) provides information about specific transient trends, for example, themes that have emerged, disappeared, and emerged again. These data illustrate the utility of co-word analysis for understanding the dynamic

structure of a subject, and they could serve to predict future development or to identify gaps that could be taken into account when setting priorities for research policy.

The first study focused on the development and growth of scientific literature on women in science and higher education, examined the evolution of scientific literature on women in science and higher education by investigating questions number one to seven of the thesis, as follows.

The results of this study have been published in the following paper:

Dehdarirad, T., Villarroya, A., & Barrios, M. (2015). Research on women in science and higher education: a bibliometric analysis. *Scientometrics*, 1-18. doi: 10.1007/s11192-015-1574-x

1. What is the importance and the growth rate of the scientific literature on women in science and higher education over the time?

The results of analysis suggested an upward trend in the percentage of papers published over the last 22 years (1991-2012). Of the total papers studied, 52.29% were published in the last seven years (2006–2012). This result was also supported by the fulfilment of Price's law, which indicated an exponential growth rate of the publication productivity in this field. What can be globally suggested from the above mentioned results is the growing attention that the studied field has attracted, especially over the last seven years.

2. What is the relevance and interest of the area of women in science and higher education across different research areas?

The results showed that scholars from different disciplines, such as Education and Educational Research, Psychology, Information Science and Library Science, Computer Science, Business and Economics, and Women's Studies, among others, have all contributed to the field, thereby indicating a high degree of multidisciplinarity. It might also indicate the gradual increasing awareness of different disciplines regarding the integration of gender analysis into research content and process, as well as female empowerment as a key goal for economic development. As indicated in LERU's report (2015), adopting a "gendered innovation" perspective can benefit excellence in research, policy and practice in many fields, from health and medicine, to engineering, the social sciences, and more.

However, the relevance of these areas in the three studied topics is quite unbalanced. While, "Information Science and Library Science" and "Computer Science" were the areas with the highest contributions to the first topic, "*publication productivity, impact and collaboration patterns*", "Education and Educational Research" and "Psychology" were the areas with the highest weight in the topics "*issues related to gender in academia and science*", and "*factors accounting for gender differences*".

3. What authorship trends and collaboration efforts do exist in the area of women in science and higher education?

For this research question, the finding indicated that a large number of papers (477; 33.71%) are single authored, suggesting a scientific community in the field which is composed of small groups and individual authors. Furthermore, the results of Lotka's law revealed that there are a few highly productive authors and a great majority who only contribute occasionally to research on women in science and higher education. With regard to collaboration efforts, the results indicated an increasing trend in terms of the number of authors per paper in parallel with a decreasing trend in the percentage of single-author papers. These results suggest on the one hand, the establishment of research groups, which is a

feature associated with the consolidation of a field (Barrios, et al., 2008). On the other hand, this trend may be due to academic factors such as the increasing pressure to publish, the specialization of research expertise, collaborative efforts, or the interdisciplinarity character of this field (Wren et al., 2007; Lozano, 2013).

4. What is the relative contribution of the countries to the scientific literature on women in science and higher education?

With regard to this question, the findings showed that a large number of countries (n = 67) have contributed to the studied area, showing a great interest among countries in the studied field. This might also suggest that the topic of women in science and higher education is still a global issue, despite substantial initiatives and policies undertaken at national and

international level (World Bank, 2012; Bandiera and Natraj, 2013, Larivière, et al., 2013b). The most productive countries, in absolute terms, were the United States and the United Kingdom, accounting for around half the total scientific production in this field (54%). However, interestingly when relative contribution (relative to the proportion of the world) of the countries to the studied field was studied, Nicaragua and Botswana showed to be the countries with the highest productivity in the studied area, relative to the proportion of the world in the same area.

5. What is the importance of the area of women in science and higher education among countries at international level?

The results for this question indicated that only 8% of papers involved an international collaboration, and that the largest proportion of these were published recently. This might be due to social context, policies and cultural values of countries about gender and scientific work, which might impact the way in which scholars approach and engage in research and international collaborations (Sugimoto, Ni, and Larivière, 2015).

The obtained result suggests that the field of women in science and higher education needs to become truly international and collaboration between countries and institutions are needed to be reinforced in the near future. This could be addressed through international policies, calls, projects and conferences that promote international collaboration, particularly between developed and less developed nations in terms of gender equality, while considering the particular context of each country. This is because factors related to gender disparities in countries with high levels of gender equality are different from the ones in countries with low levels of gender equality. Therefore, solutions to achieve equality must be tailored to the particular context of each country. It is also necessary to have initiatives that can be applied globally, not just in one country or region.

6. What is the relationship between the scientific contribution of countries to the area of women in science and higher education and their level of development in gender equality?

As regards the sixth question, the results suggested that countries with higher levels of inequality (higher GII values) such as Nicaragua and Botswana, measured by the Gender Inequality Index, tend to show higher relative values of scientific productivity in the field and are the most likely to collaborate internationally. The latter result is in line with a study conducted by Sugimoto, et al. (2015) on the relation between gender disparities in scholarly communication and country-level development indicators. They also found that countries with lower levels of gender inequality sought international collaboration at a higher rate.

Therefore, while countries such as the United States and the United Kingdom are the most productive countries in terms of absolute contributions, countries with higher levels of inequality showed higher relative values of productivity in the field. This finding is in accordance with Glänzel's (2001) study, which pointed out that some countries compensate relatively weak domestic activities through international collaboration or even intensify their own strong activities in the preferred science fields by international collaboration.

7. What is the distribution, relevance and interest of the area of women in science and higher education across journals of different disciplines?

With regard to the seventh question, the data showed a high dispersion of the literature and a small set of core journals (n=13) from different research areas focused on the topic. This accounts for 366 (25.86%) of the total of studied papers. These research areas, ordered by the frequency of their core journals, were: Computer Science; Information Science and Library Science; Psychology; Women's Studies; Education and Educational Research; Health Care Sciences and Services; Business and Economics; Public, Environmental, and Occupational Health; General and Internal Medicine; Obstetrics and Gynecology; and Psychiatry, respectively.

This indicates a field of study which is widely distributed across journals of different disciplines and is regarded as relevant in many research areas. However, it should be borne in mind that of the 13 identified core journals by Bradford's law, six of them belongs to the area of the area of Education and Educational Research. That means that the most productive research area in the field of women in science and higher education is Education and Educational Research.

The second study, aimed at identifying the major research topics in this area, with a special focus on explanatory factors accounting for gender differences in science and higher

education, addressed the factors elucidating gender differences by examining questions number eight to ten of the thesis as follow. The results of this study has been published as:

Dehdarirad, T., Villarroya, A., & Barrios, M. (2014). Research trends in gender differences in higher education and science: a co-word analysis. *Scientometrics*, 1-18. doi: 10.1007/s11192-014-1327-2

8. What is the importance, interest and growth rate of the number of publications on factors accounting for gender differences in science and higher education over time?

For this research question, the finding revealed that more than fifty percent of the total body of literature was published in the last studied five years (2008–2012), of the three periods studied (1991-2001, 2002-2007, and 2008-2012). This suggests that, the studied issue is a topic which has recently aroused the interest of researchers. "*Inequality and diversity in higher education*" was the theme with the highest number of documents over the three studied sub-periods. This broad topic addresses gender and other types of inequalities in higher education, as well as diversity issues. While some papers in this cluster mainly evidence gender and race inequalities related to academic degree, salary, socio-economic status, disciplines, rank, tenure, or mentoring etc., others focus on the potential value of diversity in terms of enhancing work processes and organizational mechanisms through the incorporation of women and members of other underrepresented groups such as racial/ethnic minority groups (Homan et al. 2008; Gonzalez and DeNisi 2009; Rosser 2012).

9. What is the growth rate of the number of sub-fields (themes) which address the factors accounting for gender differences in science and higher education, over time?

Regarding the ninth question, the results showed that the number of themes has increased significantly over the years. This suggests a greater interest in the study of factors related to gender differences in higher education and science, as well as a diversification and specialization of the research field over time (1991-2001, 2002-2007, and 2008-2012).

"Work-life balance in academia" provides a good example of the latter issue: this theme appeared for the first time in the second period (2002.2007), mainly in relation to the issue of work-life balance in universities, while in the third period (2008-2012) it became specialized and was covered by specific fields of study such as engineering and psychology. The relevance of this topic has also been underlined in some reports such as She Figures (2012, 2015). According to these reports, the work-life issue remain a key element in achieving gender equality, since women still bear the main burden of care and domestic work.

10. What is the interest and evolution of themes on the factors accounting for gender differences in science and higher education over time?

Finally, in terms of the last question of this thesis, the findings revealed that many themes are still immature and needed to be further studied. They were: "work-life balance in Psychology", "work-life balance", "inequality and diversity in higher education", and "glass-ceiling barriers". The importance of the latter topic, the glass ceiling phenomenon, whereby the representation of women decreases as the seniority of the role increases, has

been debated in many recent reports including She Figures' 2015 report. According to this report, striking gender inequalities persist when it comes to career advancement and participation in academic decision-making. In 2013, women made up only 21 % of the top-level researchers (grade A), showing very limited progress compared to 2010 (20 %). Despite significant progress in their level of education relative to men over the last few decades, women are increasingly under-represented as they move up the stages of an academic career.

The results also showed that there are only very few themes that are well-developed: "Gender discrimination in labor markets and universities", "Career satisfaction in medicine", "Academic career in sociology", " and "Advancement in academic medicine". It is interesting to see that two of these themes addressed issues related to academic medicine. This might be due to the recognition of the importance of women's academic capital to medical academe (Carr, et al., 2015) and the existence of gender equity programmes in the field of academic medicine. As mentioned by Caffrey et al. (2016), the under-representation of women in academic medicine wastes public investment and may constitute a threat to international competitiveness of a country's translational research.

Furthermore, there are specific research disciplines that have shown interest in gender issues, particularly after the second time period (2002–2007), including medicine, psychology, STEM (science, technology, engineering and mathematics), geography and sociology.

Overall, the increasing body of evidence obtained from both studies showed that gender inequality remains a global problem, despite substantial initiatives and policies undertaken at national and international level (Larivière et al. 2013 a, b). Although progress continues to be made, change is on average slow, patchy, and subject to significant variation according to country, research field, and other factors (LERU, 2012). Numerous scholars from different parts of the world continue to address this problem and provide valuable material for evidence-based policies.

5.2. Research contributions

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study based on bibliometric indicators, laws and techniques such as co-word analysis focused on the literature on gender differences in science and higher education. The results obtained through the bibliometric indicators and laws, co-word analysis (cluster analysis and strategic diagrams) complement and confirm previous findings (LERU, 2012; European Commission, 2013), adding new information and bringing a new perspective to the subject.

As such, some key contributions of this thesis are: first, it provides a state-of-the-art for the field of women in science and higher education by conducting a systematic analysis of the scientific literature in this area using bibliometric indicators, laws and techniques. It measures the importance of the studied field over years (1991-2012). This work found a significant increase and interest in the field over the last 21 years. In addition, it was observed that more

than half of the total body of literature was published in the last five years (2008–2012), suggesting that this is a current area which has recently generated interest among researchers. Second, it provides a global understanding of the degree of the multidisciplinarity and specialization of the studied area. It was found that scholars from different disciplines have contributed to the area, indicating a high degree of multidisciplinarity. In addition, the number of themes being addressed by scholars has increased over years. This suggests a greater interest in the study of themes related to gender differences in science higher education, as well as a diversification and specialization of the research field over time. Third, it measures the importance of the studied area among countries by investigating their contributions relative to global research productivity as well as at international level. It was found that although a high number of countries have contributed to the studied area, a very small proportion of papers were conducted internationally. This indicates a field of study in which more collaboration efforts between countries needs to be encouraged. Fourth, this work helps to illustrate the contribution of countries to the studied area, in association with their level of development in gender equality. It was found that countries with a higher level of gender inequality are, in relative terms, the most productive in the studied area. In addition, they are the most likely to be involved in international collaborations.

Fifth, this thesis provides an approach to analyse and study the thematic evolution of a research field using co-word analysis. It also provides an opportunity to anticipate interesting developments in the field studied by identifying the major research topics in the area of women in science and higher education. It was found that there are only four themes that are

mature and well developed. These are: *Gender discrimination in labour markets and universities, career satisfaction in medicine, academic career in sociology,* and *advancement in academic medicine.* Sixth, it uncovers the potential issues for future research by detecting the gaps in the literature and the issues needed to be addressed or strengthened in further work. *"Teaching load differences", "work-life balance", "glass-ceiling barriers",* and *"inequality and diversity in higher"* education are some examples.

Finally, given the above-mentioned contributions, researchers, governments, and funding agencies could draw upon this type of analysis in order to get insights into the current situation of the field and to take necessary actions to promote research in the gaps identified in the literature.

5.3. Some limitations of the conducted research

The first limitation of this research is related to the database used for the analysis. Most of the journals included in the Web of Science database are in English and it only includes a very limited number of journals in languages other than English (Andersen, 2000; Archambault and Gagné, 2004; Yang and Meho, 2006; Harzing, 2010; Miri and Bahmani, 2012). In our study, this limited coverage also showed itself as a bias in favour of English language journals from English speaking countries. As it has been indicated by Archambault et al. (2006) it is difficult to rely solely on Thomson Scientific database and therefore any benchmarking based on this database will underestimate the production of non-English speaking countries. Additionally, the Web of Science database does not index all journals, and its coverage in some fields is less complete than in others (Wáng et al., 2014).

- The second limitation of this research is that it only relies on quantitative aspects of the area of women in science and higher education using bibliometrics. Although bibliometric studies are useful in terms of analysing the patterns of scholarly communication and evaluation of research output, publications are not the only elements (but certainly are very important ones) in measuring different aspects of scientific fields.
- The third limitation of this study is regarding the WOS reliability and its inconsistency in the number of retrieved records. We repeated the same search query at different times during a month for both studies (Study 1, Study 2). However, we retrieved different results due to continuous actualization of the database.
- The fourth limitation of this study is related to key wording and the indexer effect.
 By the former, we refer to the fact that authors have to summarize their research in a limited number of keywords. By the later, we mean the wrong emphasis that the indexers may sometimes put on some keywords.

5.4. Recommendations for future research

- This work provided a thematic evolution of factors accounting for gender differences using co-word analysis techniques and bibliometric indicators. For this analysis, author-provided keywords and keywords plus were used. This analysis could be improved in future studies by using a combination of keywords from title and abstracts in addition to author provided keywords and keyword plus. Such an analysis has been beyond the scope of this thesis.
- Although the Web of Science is one of the most important bibliographical data bases, it does not index all journals, and its coverage in some fields and of languages other than English is less complete than others. Thus, future research could also focus on other bibliographic database such as Scopus, Google scholar, etc., enabling a wider analysis.
- Future research can complement the results obtained by this thesis using other techniques such as topic modelling.
- The evolution of the themes on the factors accounting for gender differences in science and higher education over time has been addressed in this thesis. It would be interesting to further investigate the evolution of these themes by studying them in another sub-period (e.g. 2013-2016) and comparing the achieved results with the ones

obtained from the three current studied sub-periods (i.e. 1991-2001, 2002-2007, 2008-2012).

- The thesis helped to identify the gaps (e.g. teaching load differences, work-life balance, glass-ceiling barriers, and inequality and diversity in higher) in the literature in the area of women in science and higher education. These issues can be further addressed and examined in future studies.
- For stakeholders, researchers, governments, and funding agencies, this thesis may serve as the basis for further analysis of the area of women in science and higher education, developing and improving research policy in this area and calling for necessary actions to accelerate the closure of the gaps identified in this research.

References

References

- AAUW. (2010). Why So Few? Women in Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics. Washington, DC: AAUW.
- AUT (2004). The Unequal Academy. UK Academic Staff 1995/6 to 2002/3.London: AUT
- Abramo, G., D'Angelo, C., & Caprasecca, A. (2009). The contribution of star scientists to overall sex differences in research productivity. *Scientometrics*, *81*(1), 137-156. doi: 10.1007/s11192-008-2131-7
- Abramo, G., D'Angelo, C. A., & Murgia, G. (2013). Gender differences in research collaboration. *Journal of Informetrics*, 7(4), 811-822. doi: 10.1016/j.joi.2013.07.002.
- Addis, E., & Villa, P. (2003). The Editorial boards of Italian economics journals: women, gender, and social networking. *Feminist Economics*, 9(1), 75-91. doi: 10.1080/1354570032000057062

Aiston, S. J., & Jung, J. (2015). Women academics and research productivity: an international comparison. *Gender and Education*, 27(3), 205-220. doi: 10.1080/09540253.2015.1024617

- Albert, T., & Wager, E. (2010). How to handle authorship disputes: a guide for new researchers. *In The COPE Report 2003. pp. 32-34. Committee on Publication Ethics.*
- Andersen, H. (2001). The norm of universalism in sciences. Social origin and gender of researchers in Denmark. *Scientometrics*, 50(2), 255–272. doi:10.1023/A:1010521606702.
- Archambault, É., & Gagné, É. V. (2004). The use of bibliometrics in the Social Sciences and Humanities Science-Metrix. Montreal, Canada: Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada (SSHRCC).
- Archambault, É., Vignola-Gagné, É., Côté, G., Larivière, V., & Gingrasb, Y. (2006). Benchmarking scientific output in the social sciences and humanities: The limits of existing databases. *Scientometrics*, 68(3), 329-342. doi: 10.1007/s11192-006-0115-z
- Bagilhole, B. (1993). Survivors in a male preserve: A study of British women academics' experiences and perceptions of discrimination in a UK university. *Higher Education*, 26(4), 431-447. doi: 10.1007/bf01383737
- Bagilhole, B., & Goode, J. (2001). The Contradiction of the Myth of Individual Merit, and the Reality of a Patriarchal Support System in Academic Careers: A Feminist Investigation. *European Journal of Women's Studies*, 8(2), 161-180. doi: 10.1177/135050680100800203

- Bagilhole, B., Powell, A., Barnard, S., & Dainty, A. (2008). Researching Cultures in Science, Engineering and Technology: An analysis of current and past literature Research Report Series for UKRC No.7. Bradford: UK Resource Centre for Women in Science, Engineering and Technology.
- Bailyn, L. (2008). Comment on "gender differences in research grant applications and funding outcomes for medical school faculty". J Womens Health (Larchmt), 17(2), 303-304. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2007.0755
- Bauin, S., Michelet, B., Schweighoffer, M. G., & Vermeulin, P. (1991). Using bibliometrics in strategic analysis: "Understanding chemical reactions" at the CNRS. *Scientometrics*, 22(1), 113–137. doi: 10.1007/BF02019278
- Bilimoria, D., Joy, S., & Liang, X. (2008). Breaking barriers and creating inclusiveness: Lessons of organizational transformation to advance women faculty in academic science and engineering. *Human Resource Management*, 47(3), 423-441. doi: 10.1002/hrm.20225
- Bandiera, O., & Natraj, A. (2013). Does Gender Inequality Hinder Development and Economic Growth? Evidence and Policy Implications. Washington, DC.: The World Bank.
- Barrios, M., Borrego, A., Vilaginés, A., Ollé, C., & Somoza, M. (2008). A bibliometric study of psychological research on tourism. *Scientometrics*, 77(3), 453-467. doi: 10.1007/s11192-007-1952-0
- Barrios, M., Villarroya, A., & Borrego, Á. (2013). Scientific production in psychology: a gender analysis. *Scientometrics*, 95(1), 15-23. doi:10.1007/s11192-012-0816-4

Bedi, G., Van Dam, N. T., & Munafo, M. (2012).Gender inequality in awarded research grants. *The Lancet*, 380(9840), 474. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61292-6

- Bendl, R., & Schmidt, A. (2010). From 'Glass Ceilings' to 'Firewalls'— Different Metaphors for Describing Discrimination. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 17(5), 612-634. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0432.2010.00520.
- Bentley, J. T., & Adamson, R. (2003). *Gender Differences in the Careers of Academic Scientists and Engineers: A Literature Review. Special Report.* Princeton, NJ: National Science Foundation.
- Bilen-Green, C., Froelich, K. A., & Jacobson, S. W. (2008). The prevalence of women in academic leadership positions, and potential impact on prevalence of women in the professorial ranks. *Women in Engineering ProActive Network*.
- Blake, M., & La Valle, I. (2000). Who Applies for Research Funding?: Key Factors Shaping Funding Application Behaviour Among Women and Men in British Higher Education Institutions: National Centre for Social Research London.

- Blanch, D. C., Hall, J. A., Roter, D. L., & Frankel, R. M. (2008). Medical student gender and issues of confidence. *Patient Educ Couns*, 72(3), 374-381. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2008.05.021
- Blickenstaff, J.C. (2005). Women and science careers: leaky pipeline or gender filter? *Gender and Education*, 17(4), 369-386. doi: 10.1080/09540250500145072
- Bordons, M., Morillo, F., Fernández, M. T., & Gómez, I. (2003). One step further in the production of bibliometric indicators at the micro level: Differences by gender and professional category of scientists. *Scientometrics*, 57(2), 159-173. doi: 10.1023/A:1024181400646
- Borgatti, S. P., Everett, M. G., & Freeman, L. C. (2002). Ucinet for Windows: software for social network analysis. Harvard: Analytic Technologies.
- Borja, A. (2015). Is there gender bias in the peer-review process in several Elsevier's marine journals? *Mar Pollut Bull*, 96(1-2), 1-2. doi: 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2015.05.046
- Börner, K., Chen, C., & Boyack, K. W. (2003). Visualizing knowledge domains. *Annual Review of Information Science and Technology*, *37*(1), 179-255. doi: 10.1002/aris.1440370106
- Borrego, Á., Barrios, M., Villarroya, A., & Ollé, C. (2010). Scientific output and impact of postdoctoral scientists: a gender perspective. *Scientometrics*, 83(1), 93-101. doi: 10.1007/s11192-009-0025-y
- Boschini, A., & Sjogren, A. (2007). Is Team Formation Gender Neutral? Evidence from Coauthorship Patterns. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 25(2), 325-365. doi: 10.1086/510764
- Boyle, P. J., Smith, L. K., Cooper, N. J., Williams, K. S., & O'Connor, H. (2015). Gender balance: Women are funded more fairly in social science. *Nature*, 525(7568), 181-183. doi:10.1038/525181a
- Bozeman, B., & Corley, E. (2004). Scientists' collaboration strategies: implications for scientific and technical human capital. *Research Policy*, *33*(4), 599-616. doi: 10.1016/j.respol.2004.01.008
- Bozeman, B., & Gaughan, M. (2011). How do men and women differ in research collaborations? An analysis of the collaborative motives and strategies of academic researchers. *Research Policy*, 40(10), 1393-1402. doi: 10.1016/j.respol.2011.07.002
- Bradburn, E. M., & Sikora, A. C. (2002). Gender and Racial/Ethnic Differences in Salary and Other Characteristics of Postsecondary Faculty: Fall 1998. Statistical Analysis Report. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.

Bradford, S. C. (1934). Sources of information on specific subjects. Engineering, 23(3), 85-88. doi:

10.1177/016555158501000406

Bradford, S. C. (1948). Documentation. London: Crosby Lockwood.

- Buckley LM, Sanders K, Shih M, Hampton CL (2000). Attitudes of clinical faculty about career progress, career success and recognition, and commitment to academic medicine. Results of a survey. Archives of internal medicine, 160 (17): 2625–2629. doi: 10.1001/archinte.160.17.2625
- Buckley, H. L., Sciligo, A. R., Adair, K. L., Case, B. S., & Monks, J. M. (2014). Is there gender bias in reviewer selection and publication success rates for the" New Zealand Journal of Ecology"?. New Zealand Journal of Ecology, 38(2), 335-339.
- Budden, A. E., Tregenza, T., Aarssen, L. W., Koricheva, J., Leimu, R., & Lortie, C. J. (2008). Doubleblind review favours increased representation of female authors. *Trends Ecol Evol*, 23(1), 4-6.doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2007.07.008
- Burri, S. & Aune, H. (2013). Sex Discrimination in Relation to Part-Time and Fixed-Term Work: The application of EU and national law in practice in 33 European countries. European Commission, Directorate-General for Justice.
- Cabanac, G. (2012). Shaping the landscape of research in information systems from the perspective of editorial boards: A scientometric study of 77 leading journals. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*, 63(5), 977-996. doi: 10.1002/asi.22609
- Caffrey, L., Wyatt, D., Fudge, N., Mattingley, H., Williamson, C., & McKevitt, C. (2016). Gender equity programmes in academic medicine: a realist evaluation approach to Athena SWAN processes. BMJ open, 6(9), e012090. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012090
- Callon, M., Courtial, J. P., & Laville, F. (1991). Co-word analysis as a tool for describing the network of interactions between basic and technological research: The case of polymer chemistry. *Scientometrics*, 22(1), 155–205. doi: 10.1007/BF02019280
- Callon, M., Courtial, J. P., Turner, W. A., & Bauin, S. (1983). From translations to problematic networks: An introduction to co-word analysis. *Social Science Information*, 22(2), 191–235. doi:10.1177/053901883022002003
- Carr, P. L., Gunn, C. M., Kaplan, S. A., Raj, A., & Freund, K. M. (2015). Inadequate Progress for Women in Academic Medicine: Findings from the National Faculty Study. *Journal of Women's Health*, 24(3), 190–199. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2014.4848
- Ceci, S. J., Ginther, D. K., Kahn, S., & Williams, W. M. (2014). Women in Academic Science: A Changing Landscape. *Psychol Sci Public Interest*, 15(3), 75-141. doi:

10.1177/1529100614541236

- Ceci, S. J., & Williams, W. M. (2011). Understanding current causes of women's underrepresentation in science. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(8), 3157-3162.doi: 10.1073/pnas.1014871108
- Cheryan, S., Master, A., & Meltzoff, A. N. (2015). Cultural stereotypes as gatekeepers: increasing girls' interest in computer science and engineering by diversifying stereotypes. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6, 49.doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00049
- Chliwniak, L. (1997). *Higher Education Leadership: Analyzing the Gender Gap. ASHE-ERIC Higher Education Report, Vol. 25, No. 4*: ERIC.
- Cho, A. H., Johnson, S. A., Schuman, C. E., Adler, J. M., Gonzalez, O., Graves, S. J., . . . Bruna, E. M. (2014). Women are underrepresented on the editorial boards of journals in environmental biology and natural resource management. *Peer J*, 2, e542.doi: 10.7717/peerj.542
- Clement, T. P. (2014). Authorship Matrix: A Rational Approach to Quantify Individual Contributions and Responsibilities in Multi-Author Scientific Articles. *Science and Engineering Ethics*, 20(2), 345-361. doi: 10.1007/s11948-013-9454-3
- Cobo, M. J., López-Herrera, A. G., Herrera-Viedma, E., & Herrera, F. (2011). An approach for detecting, quantifying, and visualizing the evolution of a research field: A practical application to the Fuzzy Sets Theory field. *Journal of Informetrics*, 5(1), 146–166. doi:10.1016/j.joi.2010.10.002.
- Cole, J. R., & Zuckerman, H. (1984). The productivity puzzle: Persistence and change in patterns of publication of men and women scientists. *Advances in motivation and achievement*, 2(2), 1.
- Copenheaver, C. A., Goldbeck, K., & Cherubini, P. (2010). Lack of gender bias in citation rates of publications by dendrochronologists: what is unique about this discipline?. *Tree-Ring Research*, 66(2), 127-133. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.3959/2009-10.1
- Corbett, C., & Hill, C. (2012). Graduating to a Pay Gap: The Earnings of Women and Men One Year after College Graduation. Washington, DC: American Association of University Women (AAUW)
- Costas, R., & Bordons, M. (2011). Do age and professional rank influence the order of authorship in scientific publications? Some evidence from a micro-level perspective. *Scientometrics*, 88(1), 145-161. doi: 10.1007/s11192-011-0368-z

- Courtial, J. P., Callon, M., & Sigogneau, M. (1984). Is indexing trustworthy? Classification of articles through co-word analysis. *Journal of Information Science*, 9(2), 47–56. doi:10.1177/016555158400900201.
- Curtis, J. (2011). *Persistent Inequity: Gender and Academic Employment*. Paper presented at the "New Voices in Pay Equity": An Event for Equal Pay Day.
- D'Amico, R., Vermigli, P., & Canetto, S. S. (2011). Publication productivity and career advancement by female and male psychology faculty: The case of Italy. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 4(3), 175. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0022570
- Dehdarirad, T., Villarroya, A., & Barrios, M. (2014). Research trends in gender differences in higher education and science: a co-word analysis. *Scientometrics*, 1-18. doi: 10.1007/s11192-014-1327-2
- Dehdarirad, T., Villarroya, A., & Barrios, M. (2015). Research on women in science and higher education: a bibliometric analysis. *Scientometrics*, 1-18. doi: 10.1007/s11192-015-1574-x
- DesRoches, C. M., Zinner, D. E., Rao, S. R., Iezzoni, L. I., & Campbell, E. G. (2010). Activities, productivity, and compensation of men and women in the life sciences. *Academic Medicine*, 85(4), 631-639. doi: 10.1097/ACM.0b013e3181d2b095
- Drury, B. J., Siy, J. O., & Cheryan, S. (2011). When Do Female Role Models Benefit Women? The Importance of Differentiating Recruitment From Retention in STEM. *Psychological Inquiry*, 22(4), 265-269. doi: 10.1080/1047840X.2011.620935
- Duch J, Zeng XHT, Sales-Pardo M, Radicchi F, Otis S, Woodruff TK, et al. (2012). The Possible Role of Resource Requirements and Academic Career-Choice Risk on Gender Differences in Publication Rate and Impact. *PLoS ONE*, 7(12): e51332. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0051332
- Eagly, A.H. & Carli, L.L. (2007). *Through the Labyrinth: The Truth About How Women Become Leaders*, Harvard Business School, Boston, MA.
- Egghe, L. (1986). The dual of Bradford's law. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science*, 37(4), 246–255. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-4571(198607)37:4<246::AID-ASI10>3.0.CO;2-D
- Egghe, L. (1990). Applications of the theory of Bradford's law to the calculation of Leimkuhler's law and to the completion of bibliographies. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science*, 41(7), 469–492. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-4571(199010)41:7<469::AID-ASII>3.0.CO;2-P

Everitt, B., Landau, S., Leese, M., & Stahl, D. (2011). Cluster analysis (5th ed.). Chichester: Wiley.

European Commission (2009). The Gender Challenge in Research Funding: Assessing the European National Scenes, EUR 23721. Luxembourg.

European Commission (2012). *Structural changes in research institutions: Enhancing excellence, gender equality and efficiency in research and innovation*. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

- European Commission (2013). *She Figures 2012. Gender in research and innovation.* Brussels: Directorate General for Research and Innovation.
- European Commission (2015). *Gender pay gap statistics*. 2015. Retrieved from <u>http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/Gender_pay_gap_statistics</u>
- European Commission (2015). *She Figures 2015. Gender in Research and Innovation Statistics and Indicators.* Brussels: Directorate-General for Research and Innovation.
- Farrell, J., & Smyth, R. (2012). Trends in co-authorship in the Australian group of eight law reviews. *Monash UL Rev.*, 39(3), 815-837.
- Feldt, B. (1986). *The faculty cohort study: School of medicine*. Ann Arbor, MI: Office of Affirmative Action.
- Ferber, M. A., & Teiman, M. (1980). Are Women Economists at a Disadvantage in Publishing Journal Articles? *Eastern Economic Journal*, 6(3/4), 189-193.
- Finkelstein, M. J., Walker, E., & Chen, R. (2009). *The Internationalization of the American Faculty: where are we, what drives or deters us?*. Paper presented at the RIHE International Seminar Reports.
- Fisher, B. S., Cobane, C. T., Thomas, M. V. V., & Cullen, F. T. (1998). How Many Authors Does It Take to Publish an Article? Trends and Patterns in Political Science. *PS: Political Science* and Politics, 31(4), 847-856. doi: 10.2307/420730
- Fox, C. W., Burns, C. S., & Meyer, J. A. (2016). Editor and reviewer gender influence the peer review process but not peer review outcomes at an ecology journal. *Functional Ecology*, 30(1), 140-153. doi: 10.1111/1365-2435.12529
- Fox, M. F. (2005). Gender, Family Characteristics, and Publication Productivity among Scientists. *Social Studies of Science*, *35*(1), 131-150. doi: 10.1177/0306312705046630
- Frehill, L. M., Vlaicu, S., & Zippel, K. (2010). *International scientific collaboration: Findings from a study of NSF principal investigators: Technical report*. US: National Science Foundation.

- Fried, T., & MacCleave, A. (2010). Influence of Role Models and Mentors on Female Graduate Students' Choice of Science as a Career. *Alberta Journal of Educational Research*, *55*(4).
- Galley, H. F., & Colvin, L. A. (2013). III. Next on the agenda: gender. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, *111*(2), 139-142. doi: 10.1093/bja/aet133
- Gallivan, M. J., & Benbunan-Fich, R. (2006). Examining the relationship between gender and the research productivity of IS faculty. Paper presented at the Proceedings of the 2006 ACM SIGMIS CPR conference on computer personnel research: Forty four years of computer personnel research: achievements, challenges & the future.
- Gardiner, M., Tiggemann, M., Kearns, H., & Marshall, K. (2007). Show me the money! An empirical analysis of mentoring outcomes for women in academia. *Higher Education Research & Development*, 26(4), 425-442. doi: 10.1080/07294360701658633
- genSET. (2011). Gender Stereotypes and Gender Attitudes in the Assessment of Women's Work: genSET Workshop Briefing Materials. Athens.
- GhiasiG, LarivièreV, SugimotoCR (2015)OntheComplianceofWomenEngineerswith aGenderedScientificSystem.PLoSONE 10(12): e0145931.doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0145931
- Ginther, D. K. (2003). Is MIT an Exception? Gender Pay Differences in Academic Science. *Bulletin* of Science, Technology & Society, 23(1), 21-26. doi: 10.1177/0270467602239767
- Ginther, D. K. (2004). Why women earn less: Economic explanations for the gender salary gap in science. *Awis Magazine*, *33*(1), 6-10.
- Ginther, D. K., & Kahn, S. (2006). *Does science promote women? Evidence from academia 1973-2001*. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Gonzalez, J. A., & DeNisi, A. S. (2009). Cross-level effects of demography and diversity climate on organizational attachment and firm effectiveness. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 30(1), 21–40. doi:10.1002/job.498.
- Gonzalez-Brambila, C., & Veloso, F. M. (2007). The determinants of research output and impact: A study of Mexican researchers. *Research Policy*, 36(7), 1035-1051. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2007.03.005
- Glänzel, W. (2001). National characteristics in international scientific co-authorship relations. *Scientometrics*, 51(1), 69–115. doi: 10.1023/A:1010512628145.

- Hancock, K. J., & Baum, M. (2010). *Women and Academic Publishing: Preliminary Results From A Survey of The ISA Membership.* Paper presented at the International Studies Association Annual Convention, New Orleans, LA.
- Handelsman, J., Cantor, N., Carnes, M., Denton, D., Fine, E., Grosz, B., ... & Sheridan, J. (2005). More women in science. *Science*, 309(5738), 1190-1191. doi: 10.1126/science.1113252. pmid:16109868
- Handley, G., Frantz, C. M., Kocovsky, P. M., DeVries, D. R., Cooke, S. J., & Claussen, J. (2015). An Examination of Gender Differences in the American Fisheries Society Peer-Review Process. *Fisheries*, 40(9), 442-451. doi: 10.1080/03632415.2015.1059824
- Hargens, L. L., McCann, J. C., & Reskin, B. F. (1978). Productivity and Reproductivity: Fertility and Professional Achievement among Research Scientists. *Social Forces*, 57(1), 154-163. doi: 10.1093/sf/57.1.154
- Harper, C. R., & Willis, C. E. (1989). Gender'S Role In Manuscript Acceptance: Sex In The Journal. *Northeastern Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics*, 18(1), 58-62.
- Harzing, A. W. (2010). *The Publish or Perish Book: Your guide to effective and responsible citation analysis.* Melbourne: Tarma Software Research.
- He, Q. (1999). Knowledge Discovery through Co-Word Analysis. Library Trends, 48(1), 133–159.
- Head, M. G., Fitchett, J. R., Cooke, M. K., Wurie, F. B., & Atun, R. (2013). Sex discrepancies in infectious disease research funding 1997-2010: a systematic analysis. *The Lancet*, 382(S44).doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62469-1
- HESA (2015). Statistical First Release 225-Staff at HE Providers in the UK. Cheltenham: HESA.
- Holliday, E. B., Jagsi, R., Wilson, L. D., Choi, M., Thomas, C. R., & Fuller, C. D. (2014). Gender Differences in Publication Productivity, Academic Position, Career Duration and Funding Among U.S. Academic Radiation Oncology Faculty. *Academic medicine: journal of the Association of American Medical Colleges*, 89(5), 767-773. doi: 10.1097/ACM.0000000000229
- Homan, A. C., Hollenbeck, J. R., Humphrey, S. E., van Knippenberg, D., Ilgen, D. R., & Van Kleef, G. A. (2008). Facing differences with an open mind: Openness to experience, salience of intra-group differences, and performance of diverse work groups. *Academy of Management Journal*, *51*(6), 1204–1222. doi:10.5465/AMJ.2008.35732995.
- Hosek, S. D., Cox, A. G., Ghosh-Dastidar, B., Kofner, A., Ramphal, N., Scott, J., & Berry, S. H.

(2005). Gender differences in major federal external grant programs: Rand Corporation.

- Hunter, L., & Leahey, E. (2008). Collaborative Research in Sociology: Trends and Contributing Factors. *The American Sociologist*, 39(4), 290-306. doi: 10.1007/s12108-008-9042-1
- Hunter, L. A., & Leahey, E. (2010). Parenting and research productivity: New evidence and methods. *Social Studies of Science*, 40(3), 433-451. doi: 10.1177/0306312709358472
- Husu, L. (2001). On metaphors on the position of women in academia and science. *NORA Nordic* Journal of Feminist and Gender Research, 9(3), 172-181. doi: 10.1080/713801035
- Husu, L., & de Cheveigné, S. (2010). Gender and gatekeeping of excellence in research funding: European perspectives. In B. Riegraf, B. Aulenbacher, E. Kirsch-Auwärter & U. Müller (Eds.), *Gender Change in Academia* (pp. 43-59): VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften
- Jordan, C. E., Clark, S. J., & Vann, C. E. (2011). Do gender differences exist in the publication productivity of accounting faculty? *Journal of Applied Business Research (JABR)*, 24(3). doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.19030/jabr.v24i3.1344
- Joy, S. (2006). What Should I Be Doing, and Where Are They Doing It? Scholarly Productivity of Academic Psychologists. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 1(4), 346-364. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6916.2006.00020.x
- Juraqulova, Z., Byington, T., & Kmec, J. (2015). The Impacts of Marriage on Perceived Academic Career Success: Differences by Gender and Discipline. *International Journal of Gender, Science and Technology*, 7(3), 369-392.
- Kamler, E., & Rasheed, S. (2006). Mentoring academic women: struggles for advancement and strategies for change. *Research and Practice in Social Sciences*, 2(1), 1-15.
- Kamrany and Robinson (2012). The Global Problem of Gender Inequality. Retrieved from http://www.huffingtonpost.com/nake-m-kamrany/gender-inequality_b_1417535.html
- Karamessini, M. (2004). Women's representation and progression in science careers in Greece. Athens, KETHI Research Centre for Gender Equality, 1-26.
- Kaufman, R. R., & Chevan, J. (2011). The Gender Gap in Peer-Reviewed Publications by Physical Therapy Faculty Members: A Productivity Puzzle. *Physical Therapy*, 91(1), 122-131. *doi:* 10.2522/ptj.20100106
- Kee, H. J. (2006). Glass Ceiling or Sticky Floor? Exploring the Australian Gender Pay Gap. *Economic Record*, 82(259), 408-427. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-4932.2006.00356.x

- Keith, B., Layne, J. S., Babchuk, N., & Johnson, K. (2002). The Context of Scientific Achievement: Sex Status, Organizational Environments, and the Timing of Publication on Scholarship Outcomes. Social Forces, 80(4), 1253-1281. doi: 10.1353/sof.2002.0029
- Kliewer, M. A., Freed, K. S., DeLong, D. M., Pickhardt, P. J., & Provenzale, J. M. (2005). Reviewing the Reviewers: Comparison of Review Quality and Reviewer Characteristics at the American Journal of Roentgenology. *American Journal of Roentgenology*, 184(6), 1731-1735. doi: 10.2214/ajr.184.6.01841731
- Kolpin, V. W., & Singell, L. D. (1996). The Gender Composition and Scholarly Performance of Economics Departments: A Test for Employment Discrimination. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 49(3), 408-423. doi: 10.2307/2524194
- Krapf, M., Ursprung, H.W. & Zimmermann, C. (2014). Parenthood and Productivity of Highly Skilled Labor: Evidence from the Groves of Academe. CESifo Working Paper Series No. 4641.
- Kretschmer, H., & Kretschmer, T. (2013). Gender bias and explanation models for the phenomenon of women's discriminations in research careers. *Scientometrics*, 97(1), 25-36. doi:10.1007/s11192-013-1023-7.
- Kretschmer, H., Pudovkin, A., & Stegmann, J. (2012). Research evaluation. Part II: gender effects of evaluation: are men more productive and more cited than women?. *Scientometrics*, 93(1), 17-30. doi: 10.1007/s11192-012-0658-0
- Kyvik, S. (1990). Motherhood and scientific productivity. Social Studies of Science, 20(1), 149-160. doi: 10.1177/030631290020001005
- Kyvik, S., & Teigen, M. (1996). Child care, research collaboration, and gender differences in scientific productivity. *Science, Technology & Human Values, 21*(1), 54-71. doi: 10.1177/016224399602100103
- Lane, J. A., & Linden, D. J. (2009). Is there gender bias in the peer review process at Journal of Neurophysiology? *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 101(5), 2195-2196. doi:10.1152/jn.00196.2009.
- Larivière, V., Diepeveen, S., Ni, C., Macaluso, B., Pollitt, A., & Grant, J. (2013a). International comparative performance of mental health research, 1980–2011. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 23(11), 1340–1347. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2013.01.006.
- Larivière, V., Ni, C., Gingras, Y., Cronin, B., & Sugimoto, C. R. (2013b). Bibliometrics: global gender disparities in science. *Nature*, 504(7479), 211-213. doi: 10.1038/504211a

Larivière, V., Vignola-Gagné, E., Villeneuve, C., Gélinas, P., & Gingras, Y. (2011). Sex differences

in research funding, productivity and impact: an analysis of Québec university professors. *Scientometrics*, 87(3), 483-498. doi: 10.1007/s11192-011-0369-y

- Law, J., & Whittaker, J. (1992). Mapping acidification research: A test of the co-word method. *Scientometrics*, 23(3), 417–461. doi:10.1007/BF02029807.
- League of European Research Universities (LERU). (2012). Women, research and universities: excellence without gender bias. Leuven, Belgium: League of European Research Universities.
- League of European Research Universities (LERU). (2015). *Gendered research and innovation: integrating Sex and Gender analysis into the research process*. Leuven: League of European Research Universities.
- Leahey, E. (2006). Gender Differences in Productivity: Research Specialization as a Missing Link. *Gender & Society*, 20(6), 754-780. doi: 10.1177/0891243206293030
- Lee, C. J., Sugimoto, C. R., Zhang, G., & Cronin, B. (2013). Bias in peer review. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*, 64(1), 2-17. doi: 10.1002/asi.22784
- Lee, S., & Bozeman, B. (2005). The Impact of Research Collaboration on Scientific Productivity. *Social Studies of Science*, *35*(5), 673-702. doi: 10.1177/0306312705052359
- Leimkuhler, F. F. (1967). The Bradford distribution. Journal of Documentation, 23(3), 197–207.
- Levinson, W., Kaufman, K., Clark, B., & Tolle, S. W. (1991). Mentors and role models for women in academic medicine. *Western Journal of Medicine*, *154*(4), 423-426.
- Lewison, G. (2001). The quantity and quality of female researchers: A bibliometric study of Iceland. *Scientometrics*, *52*(1), 29-43. doi: 10.1023/A:1012794810883
- Li, S. F., Latib, N., Kwong, A., Zinzuwadia, S., & Cowan, E. (2007). Gender trends in emergency medicine publications. *Acad Emerg Med*, 14(12), 1194-1196. doi: 10.1197/j.aem.2007.08.009
- Liang, T., Zhang, C., Khara, R. M., & Harris, A. C. (2015). Assessing the Gap in Female Authorship in Radiology: Trends Over the Past Two Decades. *Journal of the American College of Radiology*, 12(7), 735-741. doi: 10.1016/j.jacr.2015.03.008
- Lloyd, M. E. (1990). Gender factors in reviewer recommendations for manuscript publication. *J Appl Behav Anal*, 23(4), 539-543. doi: 10.1901/jaba.1990.23-539

- Ioannidou E, Rosania A (2015) Under-Representation of Women on Dental Journal Editorial Boards. *PLoS ONE*, 10(1): e0116630. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0116630
- Long, J. S. (1990). The Origins of Sex Differences in Science. *Social Forces*, 68(4), 1297-1316. doi: 10.1093/sf/68.4.1297
- Long, J. S. (1992). Measures of Sex Differences in Scientific Productivity. Social Forces, 71(1), 159-178. doi: 10.2307/2579971
- Long, J. S., Allison, P. D., & McGinnis, R. (1993). Rank advancement in academic careers: Sex differences and the effects of productivity. *American Sociological Review*, 703-722.
- Lopez, S. A., Svider, P. F., Misra, P., Bhagat, N., Langer, P. D., & Eloy, J. A. (2014). Gender Differences in Promotion and Scholarly Impact: An Analysis of 1460 Academic Ophthalmologists. *Journal of Surgical Education*, 71(6), 851-859. doi: 10.1016/j.jsurg.2014.03.015
- Lozano, G. A. (2013). The elephant in the room: Multi-authorship and the assessment of individual researchers. *Current Science*, 105(4), 443–445.
- Luukkonen-Gronow, T. and Stole-Heiskanen, V. (1983). Myths and realities of role incompatibility of women scientists, *Acta Sociologica*, 26:267-280. doi: 10.1177/000169938302600304
- Maliniak, D., Powers, R., & Walter, B. F. (2013). The Gender Citation Gap in International Relations. *International Organization*, 67(04), 889-922. doi: doi:10.1017/S0020818313000209
- Mason, M. A., Goulden, M., & Frasch, K. (2009). Why graduate students reject the fast track. *Academe*, 95(1), 11-16.
- Mauleón, E., & Bordons, M. (2006). Productivity, impact and publication habits by gender in the area of Materials Science. *Scientometrics*, *66*(1), 199-218. doi: 10.1007/s11192-006-0014-3
- Mauleón, E., Bordons, M., & Oppenheim, C. (2008). The effect of gender on research staff success in life sciences in the Spanish National Research Council. *Research Evaluation*, 17(3), 213-225. doi: 10.3152/095820208x331676
- Mauleón, E., Hillán, L., Moreno, L., Gómez, I., & Bordons, M. (2012). Assessing gender balance among journal authors and editorial board members. *Scientometrics*, 95(1), 87-114. doi: 10.1007/s11192-012-0824-4
- McDowell, J. M., & Smith, J. K. (1992). The effect of gender-sorting on propensity to co-author: implications for academic promotion. *Economic Inquiry*, *30*(1), 68-82. doi: 10.1111/j.1465-

7295.1992.tb01536.x

- Metz, I., & Harzing, A.-W. (2009). Gender diversity in editorial boards of management journals. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, 8(4), 540-557.
- Metz, I., & Harzing, A. W. (2012). An update of gender diversity in editorial boards: a longitudinal study of management journals. *Personnel Review*, 41(3), 283-300. doi: doi:10.1108/00483481211212940
- Metz, I., Harzing, A.-W., & Zyphur, M. J. (2015). Of Journal Editors and Editorial Boards: Who Are the Trailblazers in Increasing Editorial Board Gender Equality? *British Journal of Management*, n/a-n/a. doi: 10.1111/1467-8551.12133
- Miri, S. M., & Bahmani, P. (2012). Indexing in ISI Web of Sciences: The Opportunities and Threats. *Jundishapur J Microbiol*, 5(2), 381-383. doi: 10.5812/jjm.5116.
- Misra, J., Hickes Lundquist, J., Holmes, E., & Agiomavritis, S. (2011). American Association of University Professors (AAUP) (2011): The Ivory Ceiling of Service Work. Service work continues to pull women associate professors away from research. What can be done? (Vol. 97, pp. 22-26). Washington, DC: Academe.
- Morley, L., Gunawardena, C., Kwesiga, J., Lihamba, A., Odejide, A., Shackelton, L., & Sorhaindo, A. (2006).*Gender Equity in Selected Commonwealth Universities*. London, UK: Department for International Development (DFID).
- Muñoz-Leiva, F., Viedma-del-Jesús, M., Sánchez-Fernández, J., & López-Herrera, A. (2012). An application of co-word analysis and bibliometric maps for detecting the most highlighting themes in the consumer behaviour research from a longitudinal perspective. *Quality & Quantity*, 46(4), 1077–1095. doi:10.1007/s11135-011-9565-3.
- National Academy of Science (2007). *Beyond Bias and Barriers: Fulfilling the Potential of Women in Academic Science and Engineering*. Washington DC, US: National Academies Press.
- National Research Council (2010). Gender Differences at Critical Transitions in the Careers of Science, Engineering, and Mathematics Faculty. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.
- Nonnemaker, L. (2000). Women physicians in academic medicine—new insights from cohort studies. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 342(6), 399-405. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200002103420606. pmid:10666431
- Ochuko-Emore, M. E., Beezhold, J., & Morakinyo, J. (2010). Authorship, gender and geography in journals published by the Royal College of Psychiatrists. *The Psychiatrist*, *34*(11), 471-474. doi: 10.1192/pb.bp.109.027920

OECD. (2012). The ABC of Gender Equality in Education. Paris: OECD Publishing.

- OECD. (2013). Education at a Glance 2013: OECD indicators. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Olinto, G., & Leta, J. (2011). *Gender (im)balances in teaching and research activities in Brazil*. Paper presented at the conference of the international society for scientometrics and informetrics, Durban.
- Özel, B., Kretschmer, H., & Kretschmer, T. (2013). Co-authorship pair distribution patterns by gender. *Scientometrics*, *98*(1), 703-723. doi: 10.1007/s11192-013-1145-y
- Pao, M. L. (1985). Lotka law: A testing procedure. *Information Processing and Management*, 21(4), 305–320. doi:10.1016/0306-4573(85)90055-X
- Park, S. M. (1996). Research, Teaching, and Service: Why Shouldn't Women's Work Count? *The Journal of Higher Education*, 67(1), 46-84. doi: 10.2307/2943903
- Pashkova, A. A., Svider, P. F., Chang, C. Y., Diaz, L., Eloy, J. A., &Eloy, J. D. (2013). Gender disparity among US anaesthesiologists: are women underrepresented in academic ranks and scholarly productivity? *Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica*, 57(8), 1058-1064. doi: 10.1111/aas.12141
- Pohlhaus, J. R., Jiang, H., Wagner, R. M., Schaffer, W. T., & Pinn, V. W. (2011).Sex Differences in Application, Success, and Funding Rates for NIH Extramural Programs. *Academic Medicine*, 86(6), 759-767. doi: 10.1097/ACM.0b013e31821836ff
- Porter, S. R., Toutkoushian, R. K., & Moore III, J. V. (2008). Pay inequities for recently hired faculty, 1988-2004. *The Review of Higher Education*, *31*(4), 465-487. doi: 10.1353/rhe.0.0014
- Powell, G. N. (2012). Six ways of seeing the elephant: the intersection of sex, gender, and leadership. Gender in Management: An International Journal, 27(2), 119-141. doi: doi:10.1108/17542411211214167
- Price, D. J. D. S. (1963). Little science, big science. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Primack, R. B., Ellwood, E., Miller-Rushing, A. J., Marrs, R., & Mulligan, A. (2009). Do gender, nationality, or academic age affect review decisions? An analysis of submissions to the journal Biological Conservation. *Biological conservation*, 142(11), 2415-2418. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2009.06.021
- Prozesky, H. (2008). A career-history analysis of gender differences in publication productivity among South African academics. *Science Studies*, 21(2), 47-67.

- Prpić, K. (2002). Gender and productivity differentials in science. *Scientometrics*, 55(1), 27-58. doi: 10.1023/A:1016046819457
- Pudovkin, A., Kretschmer, H., Stegmann, J., & Garfield, E. (2012). Research evaluation. Part I: Productivity and citedness of a German medical research institution. *Scientometrics*, 93, 3– 16. doi:10.1007/s11192-012-0659-z
- Puuska, H.-M. (2009). Effects of scholar's gender and professional position on publishing productivity in different publication types. Analysis of a Finnish university. *Scientometrics*, 82(2), 419-437. doi: 10.1007/s11192-009-0037-7
- Ranga, M., Gupta, N., & Etzkowitz, H. (2012). *Gender effects in research funding*. Bonn: Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft.
- Riffle, R., Schneider, T., Hillard, A., Polander, E., Jackson, S., DesAutels, P., & Wheatly, M. (2013).A mixed methods study of gender, STEM department climate, and workplace outcomes. *Journal of Women and Minorities in Science and Engineering*, 19(3).
- Rigg, L. S., McCarragher, S., & Krmenec, A. (2012). Authorship, Collaboration, and Gender: Fifteen Years of Publication Productivity in Selected Geography Journals. *The Professional Geographer*, 64(4), 491-502. doi: 10.1080/00330124.2011.611434
- Riley, S., Frith, H., Archer, L., & Veseley, L. (2006). Institutional sexism in academia. *The Psychologist*, 19(2), 94.
- Robinson, K. A. (2012). Institutional Factors Contributing to the Under-representation of African American Women in Higher Education: Perceptions of Women in Leadership Positions. (Doctoral thesis, Georgia Southern University, USA)
- Rosser, S. V. (2012). More gender diversity will mean better science. The Chronicle of Higher Education. Retrieved from http://chronicle.com/article/More-Gender-Diversity-Will/135310/.
- Rossiter, M. W. (1993). The Matthew Matilda effect in science. *Social Studies of Science*, 23(2), 325–341. doi: 10.1177/030631293023002004
- Rothausen-Vange, T., Marler, J., & Wright, P. (2005). Research Productivity, Gender, Family, and Tenure in Organization Science Careers. Sex Roles, 53(9-10), 727-738. doi: 10.1007/s11199-005-7737-0
- Russell, S. H. (1991). The Status of Women and Minorities in Higher Education: Findings from the 1988 National Survey of Postsecondary Faculty. *CUPA Journal*, 42(1), 1-11.
- Sax, L. J. (2008). *The gender gap in college: Maximizing the developmental potential of women and men.* San Francisco, CA, US: Jossey-Bass.
- Sax, L. J., Hagedorn, L. S., Arredondo, M., & Dicrisi, F. A. (2002). Faculty Research Productivity: Exploring the Role of Gender and Family-Related Factors. *Research in Higher Education*, 43(4), 423-446. doi:10.1023/A:1015575616285
- Schmidt, T. M., & Møller, A. L. (2007). *Stereotypical Barriers for Women in Management*. Retrieved from http://www.cartoonstock.com/directory/f/female_boss.asp
- Settles, I. H., Cortina, L. M., Malley, J., & Stewart, A. J. (2006). The Climate for Women in Academic Science: The Good, the Bad, and the Changeable. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 30(1), 47-58. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-6402.2006.00261.x
- Shah, D. N., Huang, J., Ying, G. S., Pietrobon, R., & O'Brien, J. M. (2013). Trends in female representation in published ophthalmology literature, 2000–2009. *Digital Journal of Ophthalmology: DJO*, 19(4), 50. doi: 10.5693/djo.01.2013.07.002
- Shields, L., Hall, J., & Mamun, A. A. (2011). The gender gap' in authorship in nursing literature. *J R Soc Med*, *104*(11), 457-464. doi: 10.1258/jrsm.2011.110015
- Shin, H. Y., & Bang, S. C. (2013). What are the Top Factors That Prohibit Women From Advancing Into Leadership Positions at the Same Rate as Men? US: Cornell University.
- Shollen, S. L., Bland, C. J., Finstad, D. A., & Taylor, A. L. (2009). Organizational climate and family life: how these factors affect the status of women faculty at one medical school. *Acad Med*, 84(1), 87-94. doi: 10.1097/ACM.0b013e3181900edf
- Singh, J. K. S. (2002). *Still a Single Sex Profession?Female Staff Numbers in Commonwealth Universities*. London: Association of Commonwealth Universities.
- Singh, J. K. S. (2008). *Whispers of Change. Female Staff Numbers in Commonwealth Universities*. London: Association of Commonwealth Universities.
- Smith, J. L., Sansone, C., & White, P. H. (2007). The Stereotyped Task Engagement Process: The Role of Interest and Achievement Motivation. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99(1), 99-114. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.99.1.99
- Sonnert, G., & Holton, G. J. (1995). *Who succeeds in science?: the gender dimension*. New Brunswick NJ: Rutgers University Press.

Sotudeh, H., & Khoshian, N. (2014). Gender differences in science: the case of scientific productivity

in Nano Science & Technology during 2005–2007. *Scientometrics*, 98(1), 457-472. doi: 10.1007/s11192-013-1031-7

- Stack, S. (2004). Gender, Children and Research Productivity. *Research in Higher Education*, 45(8), 891-920. doi: 10.1007/s11162-004-5953-z
- Stake, J. E. (2003). Understanding Male Bias Against Girls and Women in Science1. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 33(4), 667-682. doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2003.tb01918.x
- Steinke, J. (1997). A portrait of a woman as a scientist: breaking down barriers created by genderrole stereotypes. *Public Understanding of Science*, 6(4), 409-428. doi: 10.1088/0963-6625/6/4/006
- Strebler, M., Thompson, M., & Heron, P. (1997). *Skills, Competencies and Gender: Issues for Pay and Training*. Brighton, UK: Institute for Employment Studies.
- Sugimoto, C. R., Ni, C., & Larivière, V. (2015). On the relationship between gender disparities in scholarly communication and country-level development indicators. *Science and Public Policy*, 42(6), 789-810.doi: 10.1093/scipol/scv007
- Suter, C. (2006). Trends in Gender Segregation by Field of Work in Higher Education. In U. o. N. S. Institut de Sociologie (Ed.), OECD. 2006. "Women in Scientific Careers: Unleashing the Potential.". Paris: Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development.
- Symonds, M. R. E., Gemmell, N. J., Braisher, T. L., Gorringe, K. L., & Elgar, M. A. (2006). Gender Differences in Publication Output: Towards an Unbiased Metric of Research Performance. *PLoS ONE*, 1(1), e127. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0000127
- Takahashi, A. M., & Takahashi, S. (2011). Gender salary differences in economics departments in Japan. *Economics of Education Review*, 30(6), 1306-1319. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2011.06.002
- Takahashi, A. M., Takahashi, S., & Maloney, T. (2015). *Gender salary and promotion gaps in Japanese academia*. Kobe, Japan: Research Institute, International University of Japan.
- NAWE (1997). The Future: Women Get More Degrees Than Men Except at Doctoral Level. *About Women on Campus*, 6(2), 7.
- Toutkoushian, R. K., & Bellas, M. L. (1999). Faculty time allocations and research productivity: Gender, race and family effects. *The Review of Higher Education*, 22(4), 367-390. doi: 10.1353/rhe.1999.0014

Tower, G., Plummer, J., & Ridgewell, B. (2011). A multidisciplinary study of gender-based research

productivity in the world's best journals. *Journal of Diversity Management (JDM)*, 2(4), 23-32. doi: 10.19030/jdm.v2i4.5020

- Tscharntke, T., Hochberg, M. E., Rand, T. A., Resh, V. H., & Krauss, J. (2007). Author Sequence and Credit for Contributions in Multiauthored Publications. *PLoS Biology*, 5(1), e18. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0050018
- Turner, W. A., Chartron, G., Laville, F., & Michelet, B. (1988). Packaging information for peer review: New co-word analysis techniques. In A. F. J. Van Raan (Ed.), *Handbook of* quantitative studies of science and technology. Dordrecht: Elsevier Science Publishers.
- United Nations Development Programme. (2013). *Gender inequality index (GII)*. Retrieved from http://hdr.undp.org/en/statistics/gii.
- Van Arensbergen, P., Van der Weijden, I., & Van den Besselaar, P. (2012). Gender differences in scientific productivity: a persisting phenomenon? *Scientometrics*, 93(3), 857-868. doi: 10.1007/s11192-012-0712-y
- Van der Lee, R., & Ellemers, N. (2015). Gender contributes to personal research funding success in The Netherlands. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(40), 12349-12353. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1510159112
- Van Raan, A. F. J. (2005). For your citations only? Hot topics in bibliometric analysis. *Measurement*, 3 (1): 50–62. doi: 10.1207/s15366359mea0301_7
- Van Raan, A. F. (2014). Advances in bibliometric analysis: Research performance assessment and science mapping. In Engwall, L., Blockmans, W., & Weaire, D. (Ed.), *Bibliometrics. Use and Abuse in the Review of Research Performance*. London: Portland Press Ltd.
- Waisbren, S. E., Bowles, H., Hasan, T., Zou, K. H., Emans, S. J., Goldberg, C., . . . Christou, H. (2008). Gender differences in research grant applications and funding outcomes for medical school faculty. *J Womens Health (Larchmt)*, *17*(2), 207-214. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2007.0412
- Wáng, Y.-X. J., Arora, R., Choi, Y., Chung, H.-W., Egorov, V. I., Frahm, J., ... Yu, X. (2014). Implications of Web of Science journal impact factor for scientific output evaluation in 16 institutions and investigators' opinion. *Quantitative Imaging in Medicine and Surgery*, 4(6), 453–461. http://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2223-4292.2014.11.16
- Wang, Z.-Y., Li, G., Li, C.-Y., & Li, A. (2012). Research on the semantic-based co-word analysis. *Scientometrics*, 90(3), 855–875. doi:10.1007/s11192-011-0563-y.

- Ward, K. (2003). Faculty Service Roles and the Scholarship of Engagement. ASHE-ERIC Higher Education Report. Jossey-Bass Higher and Adult Education Series. Jossey-Bass, 989 Market Street, San Francisco, CA 94103-1741.
- Ward, M. (2001). The gender salary gap in British academia. *Applied Economics*, *33*(13), 1669-1681. doi: 10.1080/00036840010014445
- Weltzin, J. F., Belote, R. T., Williams, L. T., Keller, J. K., & Engel, E. C. (2006). Authorship in ecology: attribution, accountability, and responsibility. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 4(8), 435-441. doi: 10.1890/1540-9295
- West, J. D., Jacquet, J., King, M. M., Correll, S. J., & Bergstrom, C. T. (2013). The Role of Gender in Scholarly Authorship. *PLoS ONE*, 8(7), e66212. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0066212
- Whittaker, R. J. (2008). Journal review and gender equality: a critical comment on Budden et al.. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 23(9), 478-479. doi: 10.1016/j.tree.2008.06.003
- Willemsen, T. M. (2002). Gender Typing of the Successful Manager—A Stereotype Reconsidered. Sex Roles, 46(11), 385-391. doi: 10.1023/a:1020409429645
- Wolffensperger, J. (1993). Science Is Truly a Male World. The Interconnectedness of Knowledge, Gender and Power within University Education. *Gender and Education*, 5(1), 37-54. doi: 10.1080/0954025930050103
- Wolfinger, N. H., Mason, M. A., & Goulden, M. (2008). Problems in the pipeline: Gender, marriage, and fertility in the ivory tower. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 79(4), 388-405.
- World Bank (2012). *The World Development Report 2012: Gender Equality and Development*. Washington, DC.: The World Bank.
- Wren, J. D., Kozak, K. Z., Johnson, K. R., Deakyne, S. J., Schilling, L. M., & Dellavalle, R. P. (2007). The write position. *EMBO Reports*, 8(11), 988–991. doi:10.1038/sj.embor.7401095.
- Xie, Y., & Shauman, K. A. (1998). Sex Differences in Research Productivity: New Evidence about an Old Puzzle. *American Sociological Review*, 63(6), 847-870.
- Yang, K., & Meho, L. I. (2006). Citation Analysis: A Comparison of Google Scholar, Scopus, and Web of Science. Proceedings of the American Society for Information Science and Technology, 43(1), 1-15. doi: 10.1002/meet.14504301185.
- Young Shin, H., & Bang, S. C. (2013). What are the Top Factors That Prohibit Women From Advancing Into Leadership Positions at the Same Rate as Men? US: Cornell University.

- Zawacki-Richter, O., & von Prümmer, C. (2010).Gender and collaboration patterns in distance education research. *Open Learning: The Journal of Open, Distance and e-Learning, 25*(2), 95-114. doi: 10.1080/02680511003787297
- Zosuls, K. M., Miller, C. F., Ruble, D. N., Martin, C. L., & Fabes, R. A. (2011). Gender development research in sex roles: Historical trends and future directions. *Sex Roles*, 64(11–12), 826–842. doi:10. 1007/s11199-010-9902-3.

Annexes

Annex 1

Table 9 Cluster number, cluster name and the key words corresponding to each cluster in the first sub-period

Cluster No	keywords	Name of cluster
C1	Labor markets, salary gap, careers, productivity, universities, economist, discrimination, salary, gender, women	Gender discrimination in labor markets and universities
C2	Career progression, management, race, power, sex segregation, psychology, students	Institutional issues
C3	Academia, mobility, women faculty	Mobility of women academics
C4	Medicine, men, rank, sex differences, faculty, research productivity, promotion, sciences, physicians	Sex differences in promotion

 Table 10 Cluster number, cluster name and the key words corresponding to each cluster in the second sub-period

Cluster No.	Keywords	Name of cluster
C1	Careers, faculty, satisfaction, men, women physicians, medicine	Career satisfaction in medicine
C2	Research productivity, sex differences, promotion, salary	Sex differences in promotion
C3	stereotypes, success, discrimination	Gender stereotypes and discrimination
C4	Gender gap, roles, management	Gender roles in management
C5	Education, health, mentorship	Mentorship
C6	Gender equality, women faculty, mobility	Mobility of women academics
C7	Science, students, universities, race	Racial discrimination at universities
C8	Family, women, productivity, work	Work-life balance in academia
C9	Academic career, sociology	Academic career in sociology
C10	Gender, geography, higher education	Gender issues in geography

Table 11 Cluster number, cluster name and the key words corresponding to each cluster in the third
sub-period

Cluster No.	Keywords	Name of cluster
C1	Labor markets, salary gap, salary	Gender discrimination in labor markets and universities
C2	Men, productivity, scientists, sex differences	Gender differences in productivity
C3	Employment, stratification, colleges, perspectives	Employment stratification
C4	Discrimination, equality, equity, gender issues, education, work, gender bias, organizations, gap, PhD, academic achievements, sex segregation, glass ceiling, motherhood, academic disciplines	Glass ceiling barriers
C5	Stress, support, motivation, personal factors	Personal factors
C6	Career choice, mobility, status, nursing, self-concept, tokenism, sex composition	Mobility, career choice, and sex composition
C7	Attitudes, school, achievement, mathematicians, stereotypes	Stereotypes in mathematics
C8	Identity, recruitment, engineering, experiences, students, children, family, performance, values, science	Work-life balance in academia
С9	Advancement, medicine, compensation, progress, academic medicine, physicians, recommendations, success	Advancement in academic medicine
C10	Retention, working hours, exclusion, organizational structure	Institutional issues

C11	Minorities, satisfaction, turn over,	Climate and staff	
	climate, workforce, academic career	composition in academia	
C12	Barriers, women physicians, leadership, management, career progression, roles, outcomes, sexual harassment	Senior positions in medicine	
C13	Faculty, women, diversity, race, inequality, universities, gender, higher education, STEM, women faculty	Inequality and diversity in higher education	
C14	Impact, research productivity, collaboration, authorship, citations	Bibliometric indicators	
C15	Feminism, women studies, innovation	Women studies	
C16	Profession, rank, career, psychology, research, professors, academia, promotion, gender equality, work life balance	Work-life balance in psychology	

Annex 2

Table 12 A summary of themes in each studied sub-period

	1 st period	2 nd period	3 rd period					
	Motor themes							
•	Gender discrimination in labor markets and universities (C1)	 Career satisfaction in medicine (C1) Academic career in sociology (C9) Specialized themes 	 Advancement in academic medicine (C9) 					
•	Mobility of women academics (C3)	 Gender stereotypes and discrimination (C3) Sex differences in promotion (C2) 	 Gender discrimination in labor markets and universities (C1) Gender differences in productivity (C2) Employment stratification (C3) Personal factors (C5) Stereotypes in mathematics (C7) Institutional issues (C10) Women's studies (C15) 					
		Emerging (disappearing) themes						
•	Institutional issues (C2) Sex differences in promotion (C4)	 Mobility of women academics (C6) Gender roles in management (C4) Mentorship (C5) Racial discrimination at universities (C7) Work-life balance in academia (C8) Gender issues in geography (C10) 	 Mobility, career choice, and sex composition (C6) Senior positions in medicine (C12) Bibliometric indicators (C14) 					
		Transverse (basic) themes						
			 Glass ceiling barriers (C4) Work-life balance in engineering (C8) Climate and staff composition in academia (C11) Inequality and diversity in higher education (C13) Work-life balance in psychology (C16) 					

1 st and 2 nd per	riod	1 st and 3 rd period	2 nd and 3 rd period	All periods
 Sex difference promotion: pre- (C4) in first per- as (C2) in the period 	ces in esent as riod and second	 Institutional issues: present as (C2) in the first period and as (C10) in the third period 	 Work-life balance in academia: present as (C8) in the second period and similar to Work-life balance in psychology (C16) and Work-life balance in engineering (C8) in third period Inequality and diversity in higher education: present as (C13) in the third period and similar to Racial discrimination at universities (C7) in the second period Advancement in academic medicine: present as (C9) in the third period and similar to Career satisfaction in medicine (C1) in the second period 	 Mobility, career choice, and sex composition: present as (C6) in the third period and similar to mobility of women academics in first period (C3) and second period (C6) Gender discrimination in labour markets and universities: present as (C1) in both first and third periods and similar to Gender stereotypes and discrimination" (C3) in the second period

Table 13 A summary of the themes appeared in more than one period

Annex 3

List of the scientific publications of the thesis

Journals

- Dehdarirad, T., Villarroya, A., & Barrios, M. (2015). Research on women in science and higher education: a bibliometric analysis. *Scientometrics*, 1-18. doi: 10.1007/s11192-015-1574-x
- Dehdarirad, T., Villarroya, A., & Barrios, M. (2014). Research trends in gender differences in higher education and science: a co-word analysis. *Scientometrics*, 1-18. doi: 10.1007/s11192-014-1327-2

The full text of these two publications can be found at the end of this annex.

Presentations in international and national conferences

- Dehdarirad, T. Villarroya, A. and Barrios, M. (2015). Women In Science and Higher Education. 3rd International Seminar on Library and Information Science Education and Research (LIS-ER), Barcelona, 4-5 June.
- Dehdarirad, T. Villarroya, A. and Barrios, M. (2014)." Women in Science and Higher Education: a bibliometric study". 10th International Conference on Webometrics,

Informetrics, and Scientometrics (WIS) and the 15th COLLNET Meeting, Ilmenau, Germany, 3-5 September 2014.

- Dehdarirad, T. Villarroya, A. and Barrios, M. (2013). "A Co-word-based Analysis of Factors related to Gender Differences in Science". ISSI 2013 14th International Conference of the International Society for Scientometrics and Informetrics. Vienna, Austria, 15th-19th July 2013.
- Dehdarirad, T. Villarroya, A. and Barrios, M. (2013). "Factors related to Gender Differences in Science". STI 2013 – 18th International Conference on Science and Technology Indicators "Translational twists and turns: Science as a socio-economic endeavor", Berlin, Germany, 4th-6th September, 2013.

Presentations of the thesis

PhD forum, 15th International Conference on Scientometrics and Informetrics, 29 June - 4 July 2015, Istanbul, Turkey.

Personal Thesis Presentation, ETH, 7 October 2014, Zurich, Switzerland.



Research on women in science and higher education: a bibliometric analysis

Tahereh Dehdarirad¹ · Anna Villarroya² · Maite Barrios³

Received: 12 May 2014/Published online: 26 March 2015 © Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, Hungary 2015

Abstract The main objective of this paper is to study the development and growth of scientific literature on women in science and higher education. A total of 1415 articles and reviews published between 1991 and 2012 were extracted from the Thomson Reuters Web of Science database. Standard bibliometric indicators and laws (e.g. Price's, Lotka's, and Bradford's laws) were applied to these data. In addition, the Gender Inequality Index (GII) was obtained for each country in order to rank them. The results suggest an upward trend not only in the number of papers but also in the number of authors per paper. However, this increase in the number of authors was not accompanied by greater international collaboration. The interest in gender differences in science extends too many authors (n = 3064), countries (n = 67), and research areas (n = 86). Data showed a high dispersion of the literature and a small set of core journals focused on the topic. Regarding the research areas, the area with the highest frequency of papers was Education and Educational Research. Finally, our results showed that countries with higher levels of inequality (higher GII values) tend to present higher relative values of scientific productivity in the field.

Keywords Gender differences · Higher education · Science · Bibliometrics

Mathematics Subject Classification 01-00 · 62-07

JEL Classification C10 · O30

Maite Barrios mbarrios@ub.edu

¹ Department of Library and Information Science, University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

² Department of Public Economy, Political Economy and Spanish Economy, University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

³ Department of Methodology of the Behavioural Sciences, University of Barcelona, Passeig de la Vall d'Hebron 171, 08035 Barcelona, Spain

Introduction

According to the latest indicators referred to the European Union, although women's entry into and progression within science is progressing towards a more equal representation, they are still under-represented in leading positions (European Commission 2013). As a consequence, numerous reports and initiatives have emerged in Europe but also in different parts of the world with the aim of analyzing the presence of women in science and higher education (WSHE), and to advocate for a more gender-balanced structure of science (LERU 2012; Deloitte Consulting 2013; European Commission 2013; the Organization for

Economic Co-operation and Development [OECD] 2013).

The scientific literature contains ample evidence regarding different aspects of women's participation and performance in science and higher education. A significant body of studies has examined gender disparities in publication productivity, addressing issues such as the number of publications, citations, impact of researchers' output, and patterns of collaboration. In terms of the number of publications many studies have demonstrated that female academics publish less, on average, than do their male colleagues (Braisher et al. 2005; Kelly and Jennions 2006; Symonds et al. 2006; Sidhu et al. 2009; Jagsi et al. 2011; Schrager et al. 2011). However, there is also research reporting no significant differences in productivity between the two sexes (Xie and Shauman 1998; Lewison 2001; Bordons et al. 2003; Tower et al. 2007; Mauleón et al. 2008), especially when it comes to younger generations of researchers (Arensbergen et al. 2012). Some of these studies have also evaluated the impact of publications, through the number of citations or the journal impact factor. The literature in this area has shown mixed results, including no differences in the citation patterns of male and female academics (Cole and Zuckerman 1984; Lewison 2001; Ledin et al. 2007; Mauleón et al. 2008; Copenheaver et al. 2010), a higher number of citations for female-authored papers (Long 1992; Symonds et al. 2006; Borrego et al. 2010), and fewer citations of papers authored by women (Hunter and Leahey 2010; Larivière et al. 2011, 2013a, b). Recently, the global, cross-disciplinary bibliometric study undertaken by Larivière et al. (2013a, b) showed that papers with female authors in key positions (sole authorship, first- and last-authorship) are cited less than those with males in key positions.

Studies on the journal impact factor have also produced mixed findings: while some of them have highlighted the similarity of the journals in which women and men publish (Lewison 2001; Bordons et al. 2003; Mauleón and Bordons 2006; Gonzalez-Brambila and Veloso 2007; Mauleón et al. 2008), others have shown that men choose to publish in journals with a higher impact factor (Hunter and Leahey 2010), or alternatively that women are the ones who tend to publish in higher impact journals (Borrego et al. 2010). Another approach to the study of scientific activity concerns the collaborative practices of researchers. Here, there is ample evidence showing that women collaborate to a lesser extent than do men with foreign authors (Lemoine 1992; Lewison 2001; Webster 2001; Larivière et al. 2011, 2013a, b). However, the results on authorship patterns have proved inconclusive: whilst some research has obtained similar rates of co-authorship among women and men (Maske et al. 2003; McDowell et al. 2006), other studies have found significantly lower rates of co-authorship for women (Boschini and Sjögren 2007; West et al. 2013; Larivière et al. 2013a, b). Another sizeable body of research on WSHE has addressed elements that have an influence on the development of a scientific career, such as grant and manuscript reviewing, access to funding and hiring and career progression. With regard to manuscript reviewing, Budden et al. (2008) reported that the acceptance rate for female first-authored manuscripts increased after the onset of blind review, suggesting that when reviewers were aware of the authors' sex they were less likely to accept manuscripts from women. However, further work on this issue has found no differences in the acceptance/rejection ratio for papers submitted by male and female corresponding authors (Aarssen et al. 2008; Whittaker 2008). The situation is different in relation to the participation of women in peer review processes, where many more authors have found gender differences in female recruitment as editors and reviewers (Gilbert et al. 1994; Dickersin et al. 1998; Davo et al. 2003). Concerning grant peer reviewing, one of the most frequently cited studies on gender bias, that carried out by Wenneras and Wold (1997), demonstrated that female applicants for postdoctoral fellowships at the Swedish Medical Research Council had to be 2.5 times more productive than the average male applicant in order to obtain the same peer-review rating for scientific competence. Since then, an evergrowing body of academic research has found no conclusive evidence of sex discrimination in the awarding of specific project grants (Wellcome Trust 1997; Ward and Donnelly 1998; Bornmann et al. 2007; Marsh et al. 2008). In this regard, the meta-analyses conducted by Bornmann et al. (2007) and Marsh et al. (2009), and more recently the study by Mutz et al. (2012), have all concluded that there is negligible evidence of gender bias in grant awarding programs. There is also a body of academic literature attesting to the idea that male scientists face fewer difficulties when seeking to access financial support and better facilities (Stack 2004; Larivière et al. 2011; LERU 2012), since they occupy a greater proportion of high positions from which it is possible to apply for and receive larger grants (Blake and La Valle 2000; Waisbren et al. 2008; Ranga et al. 2012). Other aspects that have been clearly highlighted in the literature are the overrepresentation of women in lower faculty ranks (D'Amico et al. 2011), due to the difficulties of progressing up the academic ladder (LERU 2012), a persistent gender pay gap (Ward 2001; Ginther 2003; Henderson et al. 2014), and gender bias in researcher recruitment (Andersen 2001), especially in certain male-dominated areas (Isaac et al. 2009). Recent research suggests that many mechanisms prevalent in recruitment and appointment practices of professors result in disadvantages for women and privileges for men (Van den Brink 2011). These mechanisms include "gate keeping", academic networks that are male-dominated and the way scientific excellence is defined (LERU 2012). Based on an empirical study of professorial appointments in the Netherlands, Van den Brink and Benschop (2012) show how gender bias is practised in the evaluation of professorial candidates, resulting in substantial inequalities in the construction of excellence.

As the above-mentioned evidence suggests, different studies have reported diverse results. Hence, many of these studies have sought to explain the systematic disparities between men and women by incorporating different factors into their analysis. Factors surrounding family formation and childrearing have been one of the major causes of female underrepresentation in academia evidenced by the literature (Sax et al. 2002; Stack 2004; Fox 2005; Ginther and Kahn 2006; Prozesky 2008; Hunter and Leahey 2010). Another large body of literature has focused on structural factors such as the greater presence of women in less research-oriented institutions (Allison and Long 1990; Xie and Shauman 1998), the higher teaching and service load among females (Taylor et al. 2006; Snell et al. 2009; DesRoches et al. 2010), their lower degree of specialization (Leahey 2010); Pashkova et al. 2013), their difficulties in accessing funding (Xie and Shauman 1998), the low percentage of women on selection committees (European Commission 2009; Zinovyeva and Bagues 2011), or the academic assessment systems that have traditionally ignored factors that especially affect women (LERU 2012). From a

psychological perspective, gender differences have been explained by women's lower levels of career orientation, ambition, and aggressiveness (Sonnert 1996). Similarly, career preferences, ability, and biological differences have been key factors proposed to explain female underrepresentation in science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) disciplines. Finally, there is also a body of academic research attesting to overt or unconscious gender bias as the main factor against retention and progression of female scientists in academia (Dewandre 2002; Moss-Racusin et al. 2012; Shen 2013).

Despite the relevance of the issue and the number of academic publications, initiatives, and reports on *WSHE*, no systematic analysis has yet to be carried out of the large body of research in this area. Using standard bibliometric indicators (such as the number of papers and authors, and productivity by country, among others), laws (Price's, Lotka's, and Bradford's laws) and an index for measuring gender disparity [the Gender Inequality Index (GII)], this article aims to assess the development and growth of research in this field by reviewing the related scientific literature.

Methods

Data collection

The data were extracted from the Thomson Reuters Web of Science (WOS) in February 2013, with the search in the topic field covering the period from 1991 to 2012. Several strategies were used to retrieve the related scientific literature (Fig. 1). First, three different searches were carried out, taking into account the three main topics in the field: *publication*



Fig. 1 Flowchart illustrating the process of data collection

productivity, issues related to gender in academia and science, and factors related to gender bias.

To do so, for each topic we went through the related literature in order to identify the related key terms. A preliminary combination of key terms was used to extract the papers related to the subject. Next, after reviewing the keywords of these preliminary papers, we added more specific terms to the query in order to check whether these new terms increased the number of records retrieved; if they did, they were included in the query, and if not, they were eliminated.

By *publication productivity* we refer to those papers dealing with scientific productivity, citation, and collaboration patterns. Papers addressing elements other than publication productivity that have an influence on the development of a scientific career, such as interviewing and hiring, salaries, promotion and advancement, having access to funding, mentoring and networking, and being a member of an editorial board or a peer reviewer were categorized in the second group, labeled issues related to gender in academia and science. Finally, given that the performance of researchers in the two above-mentioned groups of scientific activities can be affected by several factors, another pool of papers were considered as a third group called *factors related to gender bias*. Among these factors we took into account family-related issues (e.g. marital status, childrearing activities, home stress, family formation, work-home balance, etc.), structural or institutional variables (e.g. type of institution, research support, academic system, etc.), professional issues (e.g. job stress, motivation, rank, research orientation, etc.), biological factors (e.g. age, race, etc.), psychological traits (e.g. self-esteem, ambition, aggressiveness, etc.), social and cultural factors (e.g. stereotypes, norms and values, etc.) and political variables (policies and legislation regarding WSHE).

As a result of this step, 2082 records were initially retrieved for the first topic, 12,770 for the second and 3545 for the third. In order to identify the papers related to these three main topics the titles and abstracts of each paper were checked. Papers which focused on the field of higher education and science, dealt with one or more of above three topics mentioned, and in which gender was one of the variables of interest, were included in the sample.

Finally, a total of 1746 papers were retrieved: 416 (23.83 %) records for the *publication productivity* topic, 651 (37.29 %) records for the *issues related to gender in academia and science* topic, and 679 (38.88 %) records for the *factors related to gender bias* topic. After elimination of duplicates a total of 1225 records were considered. Additionally, and in order to ensure that all the references dealing with the subject were included in the database, the references of the most recent papers were checked. If any new paper was found it was added to the database, and we continued doing this until no new references were identified. This process led to the inclusion of 190 new papers. As a result the final corpus comprised 1415 articles and reviews, all of which were coded according to the three headings mentioned above. It should be noted that any given paper may simultaneously address more than one issue, and it will therefore belong to more than one group.

Data analysis

The main bibliometric laws were applied to study scientific growth over time, the dispersion of scientific output across journals, and author productivity.

Scientific growth over time was assessed using Price's law (Price 1963), which proposes that the growth of scientific production follows an exponential function. In order to test whether our data followed Price's law, different regression models were fitted, including

linear, exponential and logistic curves, the latter being applied to assess the hypothesis of literature growth saturation.

Bradford's law (Bradford 1934, 1948) was applied in order to study the dispersion of the literature. Specifically, Bradford's law describes how the articles in a specific area are scattered across journals, postulating a model of concentric productivity zones with a decreasing information density. Following the proposal of Egghe (1986, 1990), the Bradford multiplier was obtained by $k = (1.781 \times y_m)^{1/P}$ where y_m is the number of articles published by the most productive journal and *P* is the number of zones including the core. The estimated *k* value for each zone was calculated by the ratio between the number of journals in a given zone and the number of journals in any immediate zone. The number of Bradford zones was determined by the solution that minimized the difference between the Bradford multiplier *k* and each estimated value of *k*, and between the estimated values of *k*.

In addition, the predicted frequencies were fitted according to Leimkuhler's formulation (Leimkuhler 1967), obtaining the constants as $A = y_0 / \log_e k$ and $B = (k-1)/r_0$ where y_0 is the constant number of articles in each group $(y_{0=a/P})$, where *a* is the total number of articles and both *P* and *k* are as defined above) and r_0 is the expected number of journals in the core $(r_0 = \frac{T(K-1)}{k^p-1})$, where *T* is the total number of journals, and *k* and *P* are as defined above). The estimated cumulative number of articles produced by the journals of rank $1, 2, \ldots, r$ was obtained by: $R(r) = A \times \log_e(1 + B \times r)$.

After standardization of authors' names (we began with a total of 3538 authors and after standardization we ended with a total of 3064 single authors), Lotka's law was also applied using the method proposed by Pao (1985), including both the first author and co-authors in the analysis. According to Lotka's law the number of authors (y_x) with x number of articles is inversely proportional to x. This relationship is expressed by the formula:

$$x^n \times y_x = C$$

where y_x is the number of authors producing x number of articles in a given research field, and C and n are constants that can be calculated from the observed data set.

In our study, we used the least-squares method in order to calculate the n exponent, using the following formula:

$$N = \frac{N \sum XY - \sum X \sum Y}{N \sum X^2 - (\sum X)^2}$$

where N is the number of pairs considered, X is the logarithm of x and Y is the logarithm of y_x . The constant C is calculated using the formula:

$$C = \frac{1}{\sum \left(1/x^n\right)}$$

In addition, and in order to verify that the observed data fitted the estimated distribution, the non-parametric Kolmogorov–Smirnov goodness-of-fit test was applied.

In order to calculate relative measures of productivity and international collaboration productivity by country, the Relative Intensity Index (RII) (Larivière et al. 2013a, b) and the International Collaboration Relative Intensity Index (IC-RII) were calculated for each country. Both measures indicate the relative proportion of publications of a given country in a domain relative to the proportion of the world in the same domain. Thus, the RII indicates the relative proportion of a given country in the WSHE area

relative to the proportion of the world in the same domain. The RII was calculated for each country using the following formula:

$$\text{RII} = \frac{\frac{n_{\text{WSHE country}}}{n_{\text{country}}}}{\frac{n_{\text{WSHE world}}}{n_{\text{world}}}}$$

where $n_{\text{WSHE country}}$ is the number of publications of a given country in the WSHE area, n_{country} is the total number of publications of the country in all disciplines, $n_{\text{WSHE world}}$ is the total publications of the world dealing with WSHE, and n_{world} is the total of publications in all disciplines in the world.

The IC-RII indicates the relative proportion of publications of a country in the WSHE area in international collaboration relative to the proportion of the world's publications published through international collaboration in the same area. The IC-RII is expressed by the formula:

$$\text{IC-RII} = \frac{\frac{n_{\text{IC}} \text{_WSHE country}}{n_{\text{IC}} \text{_country}}}{\frac{n_{\text{IC}} \text{_world}}{n_{\text{IC}} \text{_world}}}$$

where all terms have the same meaning as above except this time publications include only those carried out through international collaboration.

In both cases a value above 1 means that an observed country publishes more in the domain than would be expected, while an index value below 1 indicates the opposite.

It is worth saying that by "World" in our study we mean just those countries which contributed to the publication productivity in WSHE, while by the number of papers we mean the number of scientific papers by authors from a given country, as indicated in the address field. To do so, we used the full counting method. In other words, each paper is counted once for each country listed in the address field. For example if a paper is authored by two researchers from Germany and one from Spain, this paper is counted once for each country.

Finally, with the aim of exploring the existence of a possible relationship between the interest of different countries in that topic and the existence of a broad spectrum of gender inequalities in these countries, the most recent GII was considered. GII is a new index for measuring gender disparity that was introduced in the 2010 Human Development Report (20th anniversary edition) of the United Nations Development Program (UNDP). According to the UNDP (2013), this index is a composite measure which yields insights, within the same country, about gender gaps in major areas of human development. It uses three dimensions to do so: reproductive health, measured by maternal mortality ratio and adolescent birth rates; empowerment, measured by proportion of parliamentary seats occupied by females and proportion of adult females and males aged 25 years and older with at least some secondary education; and labour market participation measured by employment rates of female and male populations aged 15 years and older. The GII values range between 0 to 1, where a value close to 0 means equality between genders and a value close to 1 means inequality.

Results

Number of papers

Data showed an upward trend in the percentage of publications, 52.29 % of which appeared in the last 7 years (2006–2012). The linear, exponential, and logistic regression

models were fitted in order to test whether the data followed Price's law. Although all three regression models were statistically significant and captured a high proportion of the explained variance, the exponential model ($R^2 = .834$) explained a higher proportion of the variance than did either the linear ($R^2 = .707$) or logistic ($R^2 = .578$) approaches, showing a good fit to Price's law (Fig. 2).

An upward trend was also observed in the three main topics of the field. Table 1 shows the frequency, percentage, and regression fit for the three topics. As can be seen from the table, the research line with the highest frequency of papers was *issues related to gender in academia and science*. Furthermore, all the topics showed a good fit to the exponential model.

Research areas

According to the classification of journal areas used in Thomson Reuters WOS, the top ten research areas in terms of frequency of papers were *Education and Educational Research* (n = 71, 18.3 %), *Psychology* (n = 237, 11.7 %), *Information Science and Library Science* (n = 212, 10.5 %), *Business and Economics* (n = 167, 8.2 %), *Women's Studies* (n = 165, 8.1 %), *Computer Science* (n = 95, 4.7 %), *Sociology* (n = 93, 4.6 %), *General and Internal Medicine* (n = 63, 3.1 %), *Health Care Sciences and Services* (n = 58, 2.9 %), and, finally, *Science and Technology—Other Topics* (n = 53, 2.6 %).

Figure 3 shows the contribution of these top ten research areas in the three topics. *Information Science and Library Science* was the research area with the highest number of publications (n = 90, 30.41 %) in topic 1 followed by *Computer Science* (n = 48, 20.61 %). *Education and Educational Research* and *Psychology* were the research areas with the highest number of publications in topics 2 and 3. *Education and Educational Research* corresponds respectively to 27.03 % (n = 276) of publications in topic 2 and 28.45 % (n = 132) in topic 3, while *Psychology* corresponds respectively to 14.99 % (n = 153) of publications in topic 2 and 20.26 % (n = 94) in topic 3.



Fig. 2 Growth of literature over time (1991–2012): linear, exponential and logistic regression model fit to Price's law

Торіс	$f_i (\%)^{\mathrm{a}}$	R^2 linear	R^2 exponential	R^2 logistic
1. Publication productivity	275 (19.43)	.597	.677	.578
2. Issues related to gender in academia and science	943 (66.64)	.708	.779	.596
3. Factors related to gender bias	438 (30.95)	.657	.726	.581

Table 1 Growth of literature over time (1991–2012) by topic: publication frequency and regression fit

fi frequency

 a Note that a given paper may simultaneously address different topics. Consequently, the sum of papers is more than the total number of papers, and the sum of percentages exceeds 100 %

Number of authors

The total number of authors who contributed to the output set was 3064, with the mean number of authors per article being 2.41 (SD = 1.60, M = 2). The data showed that 477 (33.71 %) of the papers had a single author, 398 (28.12 %) had two, 266 (18.79 %) had three, and 274 (19.36 %) had more than three authors. It can be seen in Fig. 4 that the number of papers with a single author showed a decreasing trend, whereas the number of papers with three authors and with more than three authors increased slightly over time. Over the same period there was a fluctuation in the number of papers with two authors.

With regard to the productivity of authors the data showed that 2750 (89.75 %) of them contributed with just one item to the field. Lotka's law was applied using the method proposed by Pao (1985), and all the authors of publications (first authors and collaborators) were considered for the analysis. To determine whether the data fitted Lotka's law, the n value was calculated using the least squares method (n = 3.40), yielding a C value of 0.88. The critical value obtained by the non-parametric Kolmogorov–Smirnov goodness-of-fit test was 0.029. As the maximum difference between the observed and the estimated accumulated frequencies was 0.014, which is below the critical value, we can conclude that the data fitted Lotka's law.

Countries

Sixty-seven countries participated in publishing the set of studies, although it should be noted that the provenance of authors was not available for 204 papers (14.4 %). Only 8 % (n = 113) of papers involved international collaboration and of these, 22.12 % (n = 25) were published recently (in 2012). The top ten countries in terms of absolute contributions, RII, and IC-RII are shown in descending order in Table 2. While the United States and United Kingdom are the most productive countries in terms of absolute contributions, Nicaragua and Botswana, based on the RII, are the countries that showed the highest proportion of publications in WSHE relative to the proportion of the world in the same area. Taking into account just those papers published in international collaboration, based on the IC-RII, Sudan, Nepal and Ghana are the countries with the highest international collaboration productivity.

Interestingly, a significant positive correlation coefficient was obtained between the most recent GII and the RII (r = .277, p = .029) and the IC-RII (r = .497, p = .001), showing that countries that present higher gender inequalities present higher relative productivity related to the topic as well as higher levels of international collaboration productivity. As the GII was not available for five countries, only 62 countries were considered in the analysis of the above-mentioned correlations.



Topic 1 - "Publication productivity"





Fig. 3 Percentage of papers for the top ten research areas in the three topics. *1* Business and Economics, *2* Computer Science, *3* Education and Educational Research, *4* General and Internal Medicine, *5* Health Care and Services, *6* Information Science and Library Science, *7* Psychology, *8* Science and Technology—Other Topics, *9* Sociology, *10* Women's Studies

Research areas

Regarding the topics, *Issues related to gender in academia and science* (topic 2) was the most frequent among the top ten countries in terms of absolute frequency. Among the papers involving international collaboration, 56.64 % (n = 64) of them dealt with the topic of *issues related to gender in academia and science*, 30.08 % (n = 34) addressed *factors related to gender bias*, and 28.31 % (n = 32) examined *publication productivity*. As any



Fig. 4 Changes over time (1991–2012) in the number of authors per paper

 Table 2
 Top ten countries based on absolute contributions, relative intensity index (RII), and international collaboration relative intensity index (IC-RII)

Country	f_i (%)	Country	RII	Country	IC-RII
USA	638 (45.08)	Nicaragua	20.94	Sudan	35.33
UK	126 (8.90)	Botswana	6.24	Nepal	24.69
Canada	70 (4.94)	Sudan	5.47	Ghana	21.39
Australia	63 (4.45)	Cyprus	4.86	Philippines	18.02
Spain	57 (4.02)	Nepal	4.50	Luxembourg	17.65
Germany	41 (2.89)	Lebanon	3.83	Cyprus	15.18
Netherlands	29 (2.04)	Luxembourg	3.54	Lebanon	14.41
Sweden	29 (2.04)	Ghana	3.21	Malaysia	14.39
China	20 (1.41)	Philippines	3.03	Bangladesh	9.09
Brazil/Italy/Turkey	17 (1.20)	SriLanka	2.93	Turkey	6.78

 f_i frequency

given paper may simultaneously address more than one topic, the sum of papers is more than the total number of papers, and the sum of percentages exceeds 100 %.

Journals

The papers included in the present study were published in a total of 595 journals, of which 366 (61.5 %) published only one paper. The distribution of papers published in the set of journals was described using Bradford's law, which revealed that the papers were distributed in four zones. The core was composed of 13 journals. Table 3 shows the expected number of journals given the Bradford multiplier (3.17), the actual number of journals in each zone, the number of articles included in each zone, the cumulative number of articles, the estimated values of *k*, and, finally, the predicted cumulative number of articles R(r).

Table 4 shows core journals, publication frequency and the corresponding research areas of each journal based on the Thomson Reuters WOS. As can be seen from the table, six of the core journals belong to the area of Education and Educational Research, and Scientometrics is the journal with the highest number of papers related to topic 1, while the rest of the journals published more papers related to topic 2.

Zone	Expected number of journals	Number of journals	Number of articles	Cumulative articles	Estimated k	R(r)
1	13	13	366	366	_	355.86
2	41.10	41	250	616	3.15	634.02
3	129.98	130	343	959	3.17	959.77
4	411	411	456	1415	3.16	1303.04

Table 3 Data fit to Bradford's law

Constants according to Leimkuhler's formulation were A = 306.26 and B = 0.168

Discussion

This study has analyzed the main bibliometric indicators in relation to the literature on women's participation in science and higher education. With regard to the number of publications, results showed a significant increase and interest in the field over the last 21 years, particularly since 2002, when a steady increase begins. This increment was supported by the fit of the data to Price's law, which indicates that productivity in the studied field shows an exponential growth. Of the three topics considered, namely publication productivity, issues related to gender in academia and science, and factors related to gender bias, the highest number of papers corresponded to the second topic (i.e., issues related to gender in academia and science), accounting for 66.64 % of the total publications. This topic was also the most frequently addressed in papers involving international collaboration (56.64 %). This result may be due to the fact that this topic addresses a wide variety of issues such as a scientific career, having access to funding, mentoring and networking, and being a member of an editorial board or a peer reviewer, among others. Furthermore, these studies often consider the other two topics as well in an attempt to examine existing differences in academia and science by searching for explanatory factors, and they often using bibliometric indicators such as publication productivity.

Regarding the research areas showing the most interest in the studied field, it can be inferred that scholars from different disciplines, such as *Education and Educational Research*, *Psychology*, *Information Science and Library Science*, *Computer Science*, *Business and Economics*, and *Women's Studies*, among others, have all contributed to the field, thereby indicating a high degree of multidisciplinarity. However, the interest of these areas in the three different topics is quite unbalanced. Not surprisingly, *Information Science and Library Science* and *Computer Science* were the areas with the highest contributions in the third topic, *publication productivity*, while *Education and Educational Research* and *Psychology were the areas with the highest weight in the topics* "issues related to gender in academia and science", and "factors related to gender bias".

In addition, the result of Bradford's law identified a small set of core journals focused on the studied field, which were also from eleven different research areas. Ordered according to frequency these core journals correspond to the following areas: *Computer Science*; *Information Science and Library Science*; *Psychology*; *Women's Studies*; *Education and Educational Research*; *Health Care Sciences and Services*; *Business and Economics*; *Public, Environmental, and Occupational Health*; *General and Internal Medicine*; *Obstetrics and Gynecology*; and *Psychiatry*. This means that this field is widely scattered across journals of different disciplines and is regarded as relevant in many research areas. However, it should be noted that the most productive research area is

Core journal	Research area	Total f_i (%)	Topic 1^a f_i (%)	Topic 2^{a} f_{i} (%)	Topic 3^a f_i (%)
Scientometrics	Computer Science; Information Science and Library Science	57 (15.57)	45 (78.95)	20 (35.09)	2 (3.51)
Sex roles	Psychology; Women's Studies	42 (11.48)	2 (4.76)	27 (64.29)	22 (52.38)
Academic medicine	Education and Educational Research; Health Care Sciences and Services	39 (10.66)	7 (17.95)	27 (69.23)	16 (41.03)
Higher education	Education and Educational Research	36 (9.84)	3 (8.33)	26 (72.22)	15 (41.67)
Research in higher education	Education and Educational Research	31 (8.47)	5 (16.13)	22 (70.97)	15 (48.39)
Gender and education	Education and Educational Research	30 (8.20)	0 (0.00)	25 (83.33)	10 (33.33)
Scientist	Information Science and Library Science; Science And Technology—Other Topics	29 (7.92)	1 (3.45)	27 (93.10)	4 (13.79)
Women's studies international forum	Women's Studies	19 (5.19)	1 (5.26)	15 (78.95)	6 (31.58)
Gender work and organization	Business and Economics; Women's Studies	18 (4.92)	0 (0.00)	12 (66.67)	9 (50.00)
Journal of higher education	Education and Educational Research	17 (4.64)	1 (5.88)	13 (76.47)	7 (41.18)
Journal of vocational behavior	Psychology	17 (4.64)	0 (0.00)	13 (76.47)	5 (29.41)
Journal of womens' health	Public, Environmental and Occupational Health; General and Internal Medicine; Obstetrics and Gynaecology; Women's Studies	16 (4.37)	0 (0.00)	12 (75.00)	6 (37.50)
Academic psychiatry	Education and Educational Research; Psychiatry	15 (4.10)	1 (6.67)	14 (93.33)	2 (13.33)

 Table 4
 Core journals, the corresponding research area, total publication frequency and publication frequency in each topic (1991–2012)

 f_i frequency

^a Some papers may simultaneously address more than one topic

Education and Educational Research, accounting for 6 of the 13 (46.15 %) core journals identified by Bradford's law.

With respect to the number of authors, a large number of papers (477; 33.71 %) are single author papers, suggesting that the scientific community in the field is composed of small groups and individual authors. Furthermore, author productivity was found to fit Lotka's law, indicating that there are a few, highly productive authors and a great majority who only contribute occasionally to research on *WSHE*. However, analysis of how the number of authors has evolved over time showed an increasing trend in terms of the number of papers being signed by three authors and by more than three authors, a trend that was paralleled by a clear reduction in the percentage of single-author papers. On the one

hand, this may reflect the constitution of research groups, which is a feature associated with the consolidation of a field. On the other hand, and as has already been mentioned in other studies, this trend may be due to academic factors such as the increasing pressure to publish, the specialization of research expertise, collaborative efforts, or the interdisciplinarity of this field (Wren et al. 2007; Lozano 2013).

Authors contributing to the articles came from 67 different countries. It should be noted, however, that the increase in the number of authors and the high number of countries that contributed to the field have not been accompanied by greater international collaboration; only 8 % of papers involved this kind of joint work, and the largest proportion of these were published recently. This indicates a field of study that has yet to become truly international and in which collaboration between countries and institutions needs to be reinforced.

The most productive countries, in absolute terms, are the United States and the United Kingdom, generating around half the total scientific production in this field (54 %). However, when RII, a relative measure to calculate country productivity, were used, Nicaragua and Botswana were the counties that showed the highest productivity in WSHE, relative to the proportion of the world in the same area. Similarly, when IC-RII were used to measure the relative proportion of publications of a country in international collaboration, Sudan, Nepal and Ghana were the countries that showed the highest international collaboration productivity.

With regard to the GII, the results showed a direct relationship between the most recent GII and the RII and IC-RII. This means that countries with higher GII values (higher inequality) are, in relative terms, the most productive in the field and are the most likely to collaborate internationally. Thus, although countries such as the United States and the United Kingdom are the most productive countries in terms of absolute contributions, countries with higher levels of inequality showed higher relative values of productivity in the field. This last finding is consistent with Glänzel's (2001) study, which analyzed country profiles and compared domestic and internationally co-authored papers. According to his findings, some countries compensate relatively weak domestic activities through international collaboration or even intensify their own strong activities in the preferred science fields by international collaboration. However, as Glänzel (2001) points out, international scientific collaboration has proved to be a complex and heterogeneous phenomenon which cannot be sufficiently characterized by bibliometric indicators alone.

In summary, the present study provides an overview of how scientific output in the field of *WSHE* has evolved over time. The results show that since 1991 until the present day there has been a clear upward trend in the number of publications, with increasing interest extending to many authors, countries, and scientific journals, as well as to several research areas. These results are consistent with Zosuls et al.'s (2011) conclusion that the growth in the diversity of topics covered by researchers over the past few decades has mainly been due to the multidimensionality of gender, and that the idea that the assumptions made about one domain of gender development can predict all others has come under serious scrutiny. Moreover, leaders in the field have encouraged increasingly precise and clear terminology, more sophisticated methods and analytic techniques, and a greater diversity of topics of study.

Overall, this increasing body of evidence shows that gender inequality remains a global problem, despite substantial initiatives and policies undertaken at national and international level (Larivière et al. 2013a, b). Although progress continues to be made, change is on average slow, patchy, and subject to significant variation according to country, research

field, and other factors (LERU 2012). Numerous scholars from different parts of the world continue to address this problem and provide valuable material for evidence-based policies.

References

- Aarssen, L., Tregenza, T., Budden, A. E., Lortie, C. J., Koricheva, J., & Leimu, R. (2008). Bang for your buck: Rejection rates and impact factors in ecological journals. *The Open Ecology Journal*, 1, 114–119. doi:10.2174/1874213000801010014.
- Allison, P. D., & Long, J. S. (1990). Departmental effects on scientific productivity. American Sociological Review, 55(4), 469–478. doi:10.2307/2095801.
- Andersen, H. (2001). The norm of universalism in sciences. Social origin and gender of researchers in Denmark. *Scientometrics*, 50(2), 255–272. doi:10.1023/A:1010521606702.
- Arensbergen, P., van der Weijden, I., & Besselaar, P. (2012). Gender differences in scientific productivity: A persisting phenomenon? *Scientometrics*, 93(3), 857–868. doi:10.1007/s11192-012-0712-y.
- Blake, M., & La Valle, I. (2000). Key factors shaping funding application behaviour among women and men in British higher education institutions. London: Wellcome Trust.
- Bordons, M., Morillo, F., Fernández, M. T., & Gómez, I. (2003). One step further in the production of bibliometric indicators at the micro level: Differences by gender and professional category of scientists. *Scientometrics*, 57(2), 159–173. doi:10.1023/A:1024181400646.
- Bornmann, L., Mutz, R., & Daniel, H. D. (2007). Gender differences in grant peer review: A meta-analysis. Journal of Informetrics, 1(3), 226–238. doi:10.1016/j.joi.2007.03.001.
- Borrego, Á., Barrios, M., Villarroya, A., & Ollé, C. (2010). Scientific output and impact of postdoctoral scientists: A gender perspective. *Scientometrics*, 83(1), 93–101. doi:10.1007/s11192-009-0025-y.
- Boschini, A., & Sjögren, A. (2007). Is team formation gender neutral? Evidence from co-authorship patterns. Journal of Labor Economics, 25(2), 325–365. doi:10.1086/510764.
- Bradford, S. C. (1934). Sources of information on specific subjects. *Engineering*, 23(3), 85–88.
- Bradford, S. C. (1948). Documentation. London: Crosby Lockwood.
- Braisher, T. L., Symonds, M. R. E., & Gemmell, N. J. (2005). Publication success in nature and science is not gender dependent. *BioEssays*, 27(8), 858–859. doi:10.1002/bies.20272.
- Budden, A. E., Tregenza, T., Aarssen, L. W., Koricheva, J., Leimu, R., & Lortie, C. J. (2008). Double-blind review favors increased representation of female authors. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 23(1), 4–6. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2007.07.008.
- Cole, J. R., & Zuckerman, H. T. (1984). Advances in motivation and achievement. In M. W. Steinkamp & M. L. Maehr (Eds.), *The productivity puzzle: Persistence and change in patterns of publication of men* and women scientists (pp. 217–256). Greenwich, CT: JAI.
- Commission, European. (2009). *The gender challenge in research funding. Assessing the European national scenes*. Brussels: Directorate General for Research and Innovation.
- Commission, European. (2013). She figures 2012. Gender in research and innovation. Brussels: Directorate General for Research and Innovation.
- Copenheaver, C. A., Goldbeck, K., & Cherubini, P. (2010). Lack of gender bias in citation rates of publications by dendrochronologists: What is unique about this discipline? *Tree-Ring Research*, 66(2), 127–133. doi:10.3959/2009-10.1.
- D'Amico, R., Vermigli, P., & Canetto, S. S. (2011). Publication productivity and career advancement by female and male psychology faculty: The case of Italy. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 4(3), 175–184. doi:10.1037/a0022570.
- Davo, M. D. C., Vives, C., & Álvarez-Dardet, C. (2003). Why are women underused in the JECH peer review process? *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 57(12), 936–937. doi:10.1136/jech. 57.12.93.
- Deloitte Consulting. (2013). Researchers' report 2013. Brussels: European Commission's Directorate-General for Research and Innovation.
- DesRoches, C. M., Zinner, D. E., Rao, S. R., Iezzoni, L. I., & Campbell, E. G. (2010). Activities, productivity, and compensation of men and women in the life sciences. *Academic Medicine*, 85(4), 631–639. doi:10.1097/ACM.0b013e3181d2b095.
- Dewandre, N. (2002). European strategies for promoting women in science. Science, 295(5553), 278–279. doi:10.1126/science.1063487.

- Dickersin, K., Fredman, L., Flegal, K. M., Scott, J. D., & Crawley, B. (1998). Is there a sex bias in choosing editors? Epidemiology journals as an example. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 280(3), 260–264.
- Egghe, L. (1986). The dual of Bradford's law. Journal of the American Society for Information Science, 37(4), 246–255.
- Egghe, L. (1990). Applications of the theory of Bradford's law to the calculation of Leimkuhler's law and to the completion of bibliographies. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science*, *41*(7), 469–492.
- Fox, M. F. (2005). Gender, family characteristics, and publication productivity among scientists. Social Studies of Science, 35(1), 131–150. doi:10.1177/0306312705046630.
- Gilbert, J. R., Williams, E. S., & Lundberg, G. D. (1994). Is there gender bias in JAMA's peer review process? *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 272(2), 139–142. doi:10.1001/jama.1994. 03520020065018.
- Ginther, D. K. (2003). Is MIT an exception? Gender pay differences in academic science. Bulletin of Science, Technology & Society, 23(1), 21–26. doi:10.1177/0270467602239767.
- Ginther, D., & Kahn, S. (2006). Does science promote women? Evidence from academia 1973–2001. In R.
 B. Freeman & D. Goroff (Eds.), *The science and engineering careers in the United States* (pp. 163–194). Chicago: University of Chicago Press for the National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Glänzel, W. (2001). National characteristics in international scientific co-authorship relations. Scientometrics, 51(1), 69–115. doi:10.1023/A:1010512628145.
- Gonzalez-Brambila, C., & Veloso, F. M. (2007). The determinants of research output and impact: A study of Mexican researchers. *Research Policy*, 36(7), 1035–1051. doi:10.1016/j.respol.2007.03.005.
- Henderson, M. T., Fijalkowski, N., Wang, S. K., Maltenfort, M., Zheng, L. L., Ratliff, J., et al. (2014). Gender differences in compensation in academic medicine: The results from four neurological specialties within the University of California Healthcare System. *Scientometrics*, 100(1), 297–306. doi:10.1007/s11192-014-1266-y.
- Hunter, L. A., & Leahey, E. (2010). Parenting and research productivity: New evidence and methods. Social Studies of Science, 40(3), 433–451. doi:10.1177/0306312709358472.
- Isaac, C., Lee, B., & Carnes, M. (2009). Interventions that affect gender bias in hiring: A systematic review. Academic Medicine, 84(10), 1440–1446. doi:10.1097/ACM.0b013e3181b6ba00.
- Jagsi, R., DeCastro, R., Griffith, K. A., Rangarajan, S., Churchill, C., Stewart, A., & Ubel, P. A. (2011). Similarities and differences in the career trajectories of male and female career development award recipients. *Academic Medicine*, 86(11), 1415–1421. doi:10.1097/ACM.0b013e3182305aa6.
- Kelly, C. D., & Jennions, M. D. (2006). The h index and career assessment by numbers. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 21(4), 167–170. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2006.01.005.
- Larivière, V., Diepeveen, S., Ni, C., Macaluso, B., Pollitt, A., & Grant, J. (2013a). International comparative performance of mental health research, 1980–2011. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 23(11), 1340–1347. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2013.01.006.
- Larivière, V., Ni, C., Gingras, Y., Cronin, B., & Sugimoto, C. R. (2013b). Bibliometrics: Global gender disparities in science. *Nature*, 504(7479), 211–213. doi:10.1038/504211a.
- Larivière, V., Vignola-Gagné, E., Villeneuve, C., Gélinas, P., & Gingras, Y. (2011). Sex differences in research funding, productivity and impact: An analysis of Québec university professors. *Scientometrics*, 87(3), 483–498. doi:10.1007/s11192-011-0369-y.
- Leahey, E. (2006). Gender differences in productivity: Research specialization as a missing link. Gender & Society, 20(6), 754–780. doi:10.1177/0891243206293030.
- Ledin, A., Bornmann, L., Gannon, F., & Wallon, G. (2007). A persistent problem. *EMBO Report*, 8(11), 982–987. http://www.nature.com/embor/journal/v8/n11/suppinfo/7401109_S1.html.
- Leimkuhler, F. F. (1967). The Bradford distribution. Journal of Documentation, 23(3), 197-207.
- Lemoine, W. (1992). Productivity patterns of men and women scientists in Venezuela. Scientometrics, 24(2), 281–295. doi:10.1007/BF02017912.
- LERU (League of European Research Universities). (2012). *Women, research and universities: Excellence without gender bias*. Leuven: League of European Research Universities.
- Leta, J., & Lewison, G. (2003). The contribution of women in Brazilian science: A case study in astronomy, immunology and oceanography. *Scientometrics*, 57(3), 339–353. doi:10.1023/A:1025000600840.
- Lewison, G. (2001). The quantity and quality of female researchers: A bibliometric study of Iceland. Scientometrics, 52(1), 29–43. doi:10.1023/A:1012794810883.
- Long, J. S. (1992). Measures of sex differences in scientific productivity. Social Forces, 71(1), 159–178. doi:10.1093/sf/71.1.159.
- Lozano, G. A. (2013). The elephant in the room: Multi-authorship and the assessment of individual researchers. *Current Science*, 105(4), 443–445.

- Marsh, H. W., Bornmann, L., Mutz, R., Daniel, H. D., & O'Mara, A. (2009). Gender effects in the peer reviews of grant proposals: A comprehensive meta-analysis comparing traditional and multilevel approaches. *Review of Educational Research*, 79(3), 1290–1326. doi:10.3102/0034654309334143.
- Marsh, H. W., Jayasinghe, U. W., & Bond, N. W. (2008). Improving the peer-review process for grant applications: Reliability, validity, bias, and generalizability. *American Psychologist*, 63(3), 160–168. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.63.3.160.
- Maske, K. L., Durden, G. C., & Gaynor, P. E. (2003). Determinants of scholarly productivity among male and female economists. *Economic Inquiry*, 41(4), 555–564. doi:10.1093/ei/cbg027.
- Mauleón, E., & Bordons, M. (2006). Productivity, impact and publication habits by gender in the area of materials science. *Scientometrics*, 66(1), 199–218. doi:10.1007/s11192-006-0014-3.
- Mauleón, E., Bordons, M., & Oppenheim, C. (2008). The effect of gender on research staff success in life sciences in the Spanish National Research Council. *Research Evaluation*, 17(3), 213–225. doi:10.3152/ 095820208x331676.
- McDowell, J. M., Singell, L. D., & Stater, M. (2006). Two to tango? Gender differences in the decisions to publish and coauthor. *Economic Inquiry*, 44(1), 153–168. doi:10.1093/ei/cbi065.
- Moss-Racusin, C. A., Dovidio, J. F., Brescoll, V. L., Graham, M. J., & Handelsman, J. (2012). Science faculty's subtle gender biases favor male students. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(41), 16474–16479. doi:10.1073/pnas.1211286109.
- Mutz, R., Bornmann, L., & Daniel, H. D. (2012). Does gender matter in grant peer review? An empirical investigation using the example of the Austrian science fund. Z Psychol, 220(2), 121–129. doi:10.1027/ 2151-2604/a000103.
- OECD. (2013). Education at a glance 2013: OECD indicators. Paris: OECD.
- Pao, M. L. (1985). Lotka law: A testing procedure. Information Processing and Management, 21(4), 305–320.
- Pashkova, A. A., Svider, P. F., Chang, C. Y., Diaz, L., Eloy, J. A., & Eloy, J. D. (2013). Gender disparity among US anesthesiologists: Are women underrepresented in academic ranks and scholarly productivity? Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica, 57(8), 1058–1064. doi:10.1111/aas.12141.
- Price, D. J. D. S. (1963). Little science, big science. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Prozesky, H. (2008). A career-history analysis of gender differences in publication productivity among South African academics. *Science Studies*, 21(2), 47–67.
- Puuska, H. M. (2010). Effects of scholar's gender and professional position on publishing productivity in different publication types. *Analysis of a Finnish university. Scientometrics*, 82(2), 419–437. doi:10. 1007/s11192-009-0037-7.
- Ranga, M., Gupta, N., & Etzkowitz, H. (2012). Gender effects in research funding. Bonn: Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft.
- Sax, L., Hagedorn, L., Arredondo, M., & Dicrisi, F., I. I. I. (2002). Faculty research productivity: Exploring the role of gender and family-related factors. *Research in Higher Education*, 43(4), 423–446. doi:10. 1023/A:1015575616285.
- Schrager, S., Bouwkamp, C., & Mundt, M. (2011). Gender and first authorship of papers in family medicine journals 2006–2008. *Family Medicine*, 43(3), 155–159.
- Shen, H. (2013). Inequality quantified: Mind the gender gap. *Nature*, 495(7439), 22–24. doi:10.1038/ 495022a.
- Sidhu, R., Rajashekhar, P., Lavin, V. L., Parry, J., Attwood, J., Holdcroft, A., & Sanders, D. S. (2009). The gender imbalance in academic medicine: A study of female authorship in the United Kingdom. *Journal* of the Royal Society of Medicine, 102(8), 337–342. doi:10.1258/jrsm.2009.080378.
- Snell, C., Sorensen, J., Rodriguez, J. J., & Kuanliang, A. (2009). Gender differences in research productivity among criminal justice and criminology scholars. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 37(3), 288–295. doi:10. 1016/j.jcrimjus.2009.04.009.
- Sonnert, G. (1996). Gender equity in science: Still an elusive goal. *Issues in Science and Technology*, 12(2), 53–58.
- Stack, S. (2004). Gender, children and research productivity. *Research in Higher Education*, 45(8), 891–920. doi:10.1007/s11162-004-5953-z.
- Symonds, M. R., Gemmell, N. J., Braisher, T. L., Gorringe, K. L., & Elgar, M. A. (2006). Gender differences in publication output: Towards an unbiased metric of research performance. *PLoS One*, 1, e127. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0000127.
- Taylor, S. W., Fender, B. F., & Burke, K. G. (2006). Unraveling the academic productivity of economists: The opportunity costs of teaching and service. *Southern Economic Journal*, 72(4), 846–859. doi:10. 2307/20111856.
- Tower, G. D., Plummer, J. A., & Ridgewell, B. (2007). Multi-disciplinary study of gender-based research output in the world's best journals. *Journal of Diversity Management*, 2(4), 23–32.

- United Nations Development Programme. (2013). Gender inequality index (GII). Retrieved February 20, 2014, from http://hdr.undp.org/en/statistics/gii.
- Van den Brink, M. (2011). Scouting for talent: Appointment practices of women professors in academic medicine. Social Science and Medicine, 72(12), 2033–2040.
- Van den Brink, M., & Benschop, Y. (2012). Gender practices in the construction of academic excellence: Sheep with five legs. Organization, 19(4), 507–524.
- Waisbren, S. E., Bowles, H., Hasan, T., Zou, K. H., Emans, S. J., Goldberg, C., & Christou, H. (2008). Gender differences in research grant applications and funding outcomes for medical school faculty. *Journal of Women's Health (Larchmt)*, 17(2), 207–214. doi:10.1089/jwh.2007.0412.
- Ward, M. (2001). The gender salary gap in British academia. Applied Economics, 33(13), 1669–1681. doi:10.1080/00036840010014445.
- Ward, J. E., & Donnelly, N. (1998). Is there gender bias in research fellowships awarded by the NHMRC? Medical Journal of Australia, 169(11–12), 623–624.
- Webster, B. M. (2001). Polish women in science: A bibliometric analysis of Polish science and its publications, 1980–1999. *Research Evaluation*, 10(3), 185–194. doi:10.3152/147154401781776999.
- Wellcome Trust. (1997). Women and peer review an audit of the Wellcome Trust's decision-making on grants (PRISM report no. 8). London: Wellcome Trust.
- Wennerås, C., & Wold, A. (1997). Nepotism and sexism in peer-review. *Nature*, 387(6631), 341–343. doi:10.1038/387341a0.
- West, J. D., Jacquet, J., King, M. M., Correll, S. J., & Bergstrom, C. T. (2013). The role of gender in scholarly authorship. *PLoS One*, 8(7), e66212. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0066212.
- Whittaker, R. J. (2008). Journal review and gender equality: A critical comment on Budden et al. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 23(9), 478–479; author reply 480. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2008.06.003.
- Wren, J. D., Kozak, K. Z., Johnson, K. R., Deakyne, S. J., Schilling, L. M., & Dellavalle, R. P. (2007). The write position. *EMBO Reports*, 8(11), 988–991. doi:10.1038/sj.embor.7401095.
- Xie, Y., & Shauman, K. A. (1998). Sex differences in research productivity: New evidence about an old puzzle. American Sociological Review, 63(6), 847–870. doi:10.2307/2657505.
- Zinovyeva, N., & Bagues, M. (2011). Does gender matter for academic promotion? Evidence from a randomized natural experiment. IZA discussion paper no. 5537, Bonn, Germany.
- Zosuls, K. M., Miller, C. F., Ruble, D. N., Martin, C. L., & Fabes, R. A. (2011). Gender development research in sex roles: Historical trends and future directions. *Sex Roles*, 64(11–12), 826–842. doi:10. 1007/s11199-010-9902-3.

Research trends in gender differences in higher education and science: a co-word analysis

Tahereh Dehdarirad · Anna Villarroya · Maite Barrios

Received: 1 August 2013/Published online: 29 July 2014 © Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, Hungary 2014

Abstract The aim of this study is to map and analyze the structure and evolution of the scientific literature on gender differences in higher education and science, focusing on factors related to differences between 1991 and 2012. Co-word analysis was applied to identify the main concepts addressed in this research field. Hierarchical cluster analysis was used to cluster the keywords and a strategic diagram was created to analyze trends. The data set comprised a corpus containing 652 articles and reviews published between 1991 and 2012, extracted from the Thomson Reuters Web of Science database. In order to see how the results changed over time, documents were grouped into three different periods: 1991–2001, 2002–2007, and 2008–2012. The results showed that the number of themes has increased significantly over the years and that gender differences in higher education and science have been considered by specific research disciplines, suggesting important research-field-specific variations. Overall, the study helps to identify the major research topics in this domain, as well as highlighting issues to be addressed or strengthened in further work.

Keywords Gender differences · Higher education · Science · Co-word analysis · Strategic diagram

Mathematics Subject Classification 62-07

JEL Classification C10/I23/I24

T. Dehdarirad

Department of Library and Information Science, University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

A. Villarroya

M. Barrios (🖂) Department of Methodology of Behavioral Sciences, University of Barcelona, Passeig de la Vall d'Hebron 171, 08035 Barcelona, Spain e-mail: mbarrios@ub.edu

Department of Public Economy, Political Economy and Spanish Economy, University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

Introduction

Women's participation in higher education and science as an indicator of social and economic progress has attracted considerable attention from numerous researchers and national and international organizations. A variety of initiatives and reports have been undertaken to analyze the participation of women in science and higher education and to promote gender equality. Among these initiatives we can mention: the Association for Women in Science (AWIS), founded in 1971; the Helsinki Group on Women and Science, set up in 1999; the Korea Federation of Women's Science Associations, set up in 2003; the WIRDEM (Women in Research Decision Making) expert group established in 2006; and the EU-funded genSET project, which ran from September 2009 to February 2012. Among the most recent reports are: the *She Figures* by the European Commission; the *Global Gender Gap Report*, introduced by the World Economic Forum in 2006; the annual *World Development Report: Gender Equality and Development*, published by the World Bank; the UNESCO *World Atlas of Gender Equality in Education* (2012); and the National Science Foundation's reports on Women, Minorities, and Persons with Disabilities in Science and Engineering.

The latest data published by the OECD (2013) indicate that, despite some progress, gender inequalities in higher education and science persist. In OECD countries, younger women have higher attainment rates than younger men in upper-secondary and tertiary education. In 2011, an average of 84 % of younger women attained at least upper-secondary education while 81 % of younger men did. While the proportion of women is relatively high at the level of tertiary education, that proportion diminishes in the later stages of academic careers, especially in top-level positions; and women receive lower wages than those of similarly qualified men. As is also indicated in the UNESCO World Atlas of Gender Equality in Education (2012), enhanced access to higher education by women has not always translated into enhanced career opportunities, including the opportunity to use their doctorates in the field of their research. In addition to working conditions, including differences in salary, women encounter bias at many levels in their academic careers: they receive less funding through research grants; they are significantly underrepresented on the boards of research institutions, funding organizations, scientific councils and academies; and they are rarely found among the heads of higher education institutions (LERU 2012).

The persistent gender gap has prompted many studies seeking to identify different explanatory factors in various areas of science, across different time periods, and in diverse national settings. Much of this research has identified factors related to family formation and childrearing as being the most influential causes of women's under-representation in academia (Wennerås and Wold 1997; Sax et al. 2002; Stack 2004; Fox 2005; Ginther and Kahn 2009; Hunter and Leahey 2010). Along with fertility choices (that weigh more heavily on the career goals of women) and issues of work-home balance (female scientists are more likely than males to bear domestic duties), there are also significant gender differences in hours worked and lifestyle preferences (Ledin et al. 2007; Ferriman et al. 2009; Fox et al. 2011; Shen 2013).

Traditionally, gender disparities in career attainment have been explained largely by differences in research productivity (Cole and Zuckerman 1984; Prpic 2002; Fox 2005; Leahey 2006). At the institutional level, there is also a considerable body of literature suggesting that differences are caused by: structural factors such as the type of institution, insofar as women are more likely than men to work at teaching-intensive colleges (Allison and Long 1990; Xie and Shauman 1998); the teaching load, which is traditionally higher

for women than for men (Taylor et al. 2006); the degree of specialization (Leahey 2006); financial resources, since women tend to occupy positions offering fewer resources (Xie and Shauman 1998); academic status, insofar as women tend to occupy lower academic positions (Leta and Lewison 2003) and research assistance (Ceci and Williams 2011). Some studies have also shown that the lower the percentage of women in selection committees is, the less likely women are to be appointed (European Commission 2009; Zinovyeva and Bagues 2011). Additionally, research has evidenced that academic assessment systems have traditionally ignored factors that especially affect women. Examples would be the way in which scientific excellence is defined (Van den Brink and Benschop 2011), the fact that selection criteria tend to value quantity of research output over quality, when men tend to produce more publications (Symonds et al. 2006), or attaching less importance to female characteristics (Lawrence 2006).

As a complement to the above, the psychological literature has explained gender disparities in terms of women's lower levels of career orientation, ambition, and aggressiveness (Sonnert 1996).

In addition to all the above-mentioned factors that place women at a disadvantage in all fields, career preferences, ability, and biological differences have been the main variables proposed in the literature to explain their underrepresentation in STEM (science, technology, engineering, and mathematics) disciplines. Empirical research in these fields has pointed to career preferences and choices, both freely made and constrained, as important causes of women's underrepresentation in academia (Ceci and Williams 2011), and it is suggested that some of these choices originate before or during adolescence (Ginther and Kahn 2009; Ferriman et al. 2009; Mason and Goulden 2009). Hence, adolescent girls frequently prefer careers linked to the humanities and social sciences as opposed to STEM-based fields.

Beyond all these explanatory factors, impediments to women scientists may also be a consequence of the overt or unconscious gender bias that still persists at most universities (Dewandre 2002; Moss-Racusin et al. 2012; Shen 2013). However, some research has suggested that after controlling for structural, family, and discipline variables, there is no evidence of discriminatory treatment, because women and men in the same circumstances (e.g., same type of institution, discipline, and amount of experience) fare equivalently (Ceci and Williams 2011).

One of the problems in relation to these findings is that the large body of research in this area does not provide the kind of systematic and comprehensive overview of factors related to gender differences that would help to guide future research and practices in the field. In response to this situation, the present study uses co-word analysis in order to describe the evolution and current state of the literature on gender differences in science, focusing on factors that influence gender inequality in higher education and science. This bibliometric technique, proposed by Callon et al. (1983), will help us to visualize the division of the field (in this case, the explanatory factors for gender differences in science) into several subfields and show the relationships between them, thereby providing insights into the evolution of the main topics discussed in the field over the years. The technique will also help us to identify the major research topics in the domain, as well as to suggest issues to be addressed or strengthened in further work. The results obtained through this process will be of interest to policy makers, funders, and academic administrators who are seeking to provide adequate facilities and to gauge research activities in a proper direction (Sudhier and Abhila 2011).

Method

Data collection

The data were extracted from the Thomson Reuters Web of Science in February 2013, using a search that combined the principal terms related to the subject. Figure 1 shows the steps followed to collect the data. First, in order to retrieve the available scientific literature on the subject we went through the related literature with the purpose of identifying the related key terms. A preliminary combination of key terms was used to extract the papers related to the subject. Next, after reviewing the keywords of these preliminary papers, we added more specific terms to the query in order to check whether these new terms increased the number of records retrieved; if they did, they were included in the query, and if not, they were eliminated. A total of 50,970 records were initially retrieved. In a next step, records were refined by subject area, such that those papers classified in research areas not directly related to the topic were discarded (e.g., history, zoology, toxicology, allergy, and transportation). Titles and abstracts from the remaining pool of papers (n = 12,743) were then manually checked to find related records. A corpus of 651 articles and reviews dealing with factors related to gender differences in science, published between 1991 and 2012, were finally considered. In order to study the evolution of the topic and to see how the results changed over time, the records were divided into three consecutive sub-periods: 1991-2001, 2002-2007, and 2008–2012. The time spans were selected based on the number of target documents published per period; so following Cobo et al. (2011) and Muñoz-Leiva et al. (2012), we fixed a longest first sub-period in order to get a representative number of published papers and keywords. Thus, the first period (1991–2001) spans 11 years (and includes a total of 164 documents: 25 %), the second period (2002–2007) spans 6 years (and 147 documents: 23 %) and the last period (2008–2012) spans 5 years (and 340 documents: 52 %). In addition, an important event in women's access to higher education and science occurs within each period. Thus, the "World Conference on Education for All" took place in 1990 and during the years 2002 and 2008, UNESCO launched its "Gender Equality Action Plans" for the periods 2002–2007 and 2008–2013, respectively.

Data process

Co-word analysis is a content analysis technique based on the assumption that the subject of a paper can be summarized in a number of few key terms that reflect its core contents. The frequency of word occurrence in the subject can reflect the importance of themes, and the co-occurrence of keywords across papers can be interpreted as indicating similarity between publications. According to Börner et al. (2003), the more keywords two publications have in common, the more similar the two publications are. Therefore, the main purpose of a co-word analysis is to map the dynamics of a subject and identify the core research topics based on the pattern of co-occurrence of pairs of keywords, which represent the different themes in a selected body of literature (He 1999).

The co-word analysis conducted in the present study involved five sequential steps: extraction of the data, standardization of keywords, construction of the co-occurrence matrix, clustering, and visual presentation of keyword groups. First, author-provided keywords were extracted from papers, with keywords plus being used in those instances where no author-provided keywords were available. Once the data had been extracted, keywords and phrases were standardized manually in order to refine the dataset (e.g., keywords occurring in different forms, plural and singular forms, uppercase and lowercase
Fig. 1 Flow chart illustrating the process of data collection



words). Keywords denoting the same concepts were changed into the most frequent key term occurring in the data set. For instance, the terms *research productivity, scientific productivity, publication productivity, academic publishing, scholarly productivity, medical publication, publication rates, publications, and research output were considered as synonymous keywords and were all identified as <i>research productivity,* which was the most frequent term. By contrast, those keywords which were very closely related but different in meaning were kept separate, for example: *gender issues, children, family, marriage, motherhood* or *salary, salary gap* and *promotion.* Any keywords that were unrelated to the topic were also eliminated in this step (for instance, names of countries and statistical tests). After standardization, a total number of 170 unique keywords or phrases were selected.

The word-document occurrence matrix was automatically built using SPSS v20. Only those keywords and phrases with a frequency greater than or equal to 5 in each temporal sub-period were considered in the analysis. The total number of keywords for each sub-period is shown in Fig. 1. The resulting matrix for each sub-period was then exported to Ucinet (Borgatti et al. 2002) in order to calculate the word co-occurrence matrix. The similarities between items were also calculated using the jaccard similarity index. Hierarchical clustering analysis was then conducted using Ward's method, and squared Euclidean distance was applied as the distance measure using SPSS v20. Ward's method involves an agglomerative clustering algorithm. It starts with n clusters of size 1 and continues until all the observations are included in one cluster. In contrast to other agglomerative clustering algorithms such as single link clustering used in Callon's original proposal of co-word analysis, Ward's method tends to produce same-size and spherical clusters (Everitt et al. 2011). The result of the clustering was then visualized in a two-dimensional diagram, known as a dendrogram, which displays the steps in the clustering process and illustrates how individual words are combined in order to form gradually

larger clusters. The clusters were then transformed into networks in Ucinet. Finally, in the last step, and in order to identify and visualize the importance and position of clusters considered as themes, as well as their relational patterns, strategic diagrams were built for each sub-period. A strategic diagram is a two-dimensional space built by plotting themes according to their centrality and density, where the abscissa axis represents the centrality, the ordinate axis represents the density, and the origin is denoted by the median or mean value of the two, centrality and density (Callon et al. 1991; Cobo et al. 2011). The density, or the internal cohesion index, indicates the strength of the linkage that each word has with other words within the same cluster (or theme). It is an indicator of the internal strength of a cluster and represents the conceptual development of a theme. The centrality, or the external cohesion index, indicates the strength of the linkage that each keyword has with other keywords in other clusters. It is a measure of the strength of a subject area's interaction with other subject areas and represents the central position of a theme within the overall network. The value of the density and the centrality of a given cluster can be measured in several ways (He 1999). In our study density was computed as the average value (mean) of the internal links (Turner et al. 1988) and centrality was computed as the sum of squares of all external link values (Bauin et al. 1991). The origin of the strategic diagram is calculated by the mean value of centrality and the mean value of density. The strategic diagram divides the space into four quadrants, such that there are four types of themes according to their location (Callon et al. 1991; He 1999). Themes located in the upper-right quadrant are considered to be well-developed and important themes for the structure of a research field. They are known as the motor themes of the specialty, given that they present strong centrality and high density. The placement of themes in this quadrant implies that they are externally related to concepts applicable to other themes that are conceptually closely related. Themes in the upper-left quadrant have well-developed internal ties (high density) but unimportant external ties (weak centrality), and so are of only marginal importance for the field. These themes are very specialized and peripheral in nature. Themes placed in the lower-left quadrant are both weakly developed (low density) and marginal (weak centrality), and are considered as emerging or disappearing themes. Finally, themes in the lower-right quadrant are important for a research field (strong centrality) but present low internal development (low density). Therefore, this quadrant comprises transverse and general or basic themes.

After calculating density and centrality for each cluster, the themes were then displayed, using Excel, in a strategic diagram according to their internal and external cohesion indices. The themes were represented by spheres of different sizes, which were proportional to the number of papers that they each represented.

Results

A total of 170 keywords were obtained from the 651 documents. In what follows, we show the dendrograms, strategic diagrams for each sub-period, and tables containing the names of clusters, the number and percentage of documents by cluster, the centrality and density values, and a brief explanation of each theme.

Period 1: 1991-2001

The dendrogram shows that the 29 keywords of the documents are divided into four clusters (Fig. 2). Table 1 gives the names and descriptive values of each cluster, while



Fig. 2 Dendrogram for the first sub-period (1991–2001)

Fig. 3 shows the corresponding strategic diagram. The origin of the strategic diagram is based on the centrality value (5.750) and density value (0.117).

"Gender discrimination in labor markets and universities" (C1) is located in the upperright quadrant. This means that this cluster contains close internal connections and is also widely connected to other clusters. Given its position and the number of papers that deal with this theme, it can be considered as the motor theme of this period. Because of its high/ medium density and centrality (upper-left quadrant), "Mobility of women academics" (C3) was regarded as a specialized theme with high conceptual development but weak external interconnection with other themes.

A further two themes, namely "Institutional issues" (C2) and "Sex differences in promotion" (C4) (lower-left quadrant), were regarded as either emerging or disappearing themes because of their showing both low density and low centrality.

Cluster number	Name of cluster	No of keywords	No of documents (%)	Centrality	Density		
1	Gender discrimination in labor market and universities	s 10	86 (52.4)	16.640	0.141		
	Challenges and gaps that still hinder women's full participation in the labor market generally and in the academic labor market specifically						
2	Institutional issues	7	31 (18.9)	0.665	0.046		
	Issues caused by organization such as working hours, organizational structure, retention and exclusion, etc						
3	Mobility of women academics	3	12 (7.3)	0.420	0.185		
	Movement of women academics or students to another institution within or outside their own country to study or teach for a limited time						
4	Sex differences in promotion	9	62 (37.8)	5.509	0.095		
	Sex differences and gaps in acquiring a higher rank, promotion to top positions, academic progression and finally how publication rates are correlated with promotion						

 Table 1
 Descriptive values of clusters for the first sub-period (1991–2001)

* Note that the total number of documents is higher than the number of documents per period. Because clusters were calculated from the keywords of papers, each document can appear in more than one cluster. Percentage was calculated based on the total number of documents per period



Fig. 3 Strategic diagram for the first sub-period (1991–2001)

Period 2: 2002-2007

In this period, the 35 keywords of the documents were divided into ten major themes, as shown in Table 2. The dendrogram of the cluster analysis and the strategic diagram are shown respectively in Figs. 4 and 5. The origin of the strategic diagram is based on the centrality value (0.953) and the density value (0.130).

In this period, two new motor themes appeared: "*Career satisfaction in medicine*" (C1) and "*Academic career in sociology*" (C9). Besides being a motor theme, "*Career satisfaction in medicine*" (C1) was the cluster with the highest number of documents.

The clusters "Mobility of women academics" (C6), "Sex differences in promotion" (C2) and to some extent "Gender stereotypes and discrimination," (C3) all present in the previous period, also appeared in this period. "Mobility of women academics" (C6) showed a decrease in density but a higher percentage of documents compared with the

Cluster number	Name of cluster	No of keywords	No of documents (%)	Centrality	Density		
1	Career satisfaction in medicine	6	37 (25.2)	4.053	0.162		
	Women and men physicians' job career in medical practice	perceptions ar	nd factors influencing the	heir satisfacti	on with a		
2	Sex differences in promotion	4	32 (21.7)	0.768	0.144		
	Sex differences and gaps in acquiring a higher rank, promotion to top positions, academic progression and finally how publication rates are correlated with promotion						
3	Gender stereotypes and discrimination	3	18 (12.2)	0.319	0.162		
	Stereotypes and social norms that foster gender discrimination and hinder women academics in fulfilling their potential by limiting choices and opportunities						
4	Gender roles in management	3	13 (8.8)	0.084	0.079		
	How gender roles and expectations affect women being on boards and in senior management positions						
5	Mentorship	3	20 (13.6)	0.176	0.114		
	Women's mentoring experiences in academic careers and students' experiences of having mentors of their own race and gender						
6	Mobility of women academics	3	17 (11.5)	0.149	0.110		
	Movement of women academics or students to another institution within or outside their own country to study or teach for a limited time						
7	Racial discrimination at universities	4	23 (15.6)	0.360	0.095		
	Experiences of black and ethnic represented in academia	minority acad	emics and the issue of	being under	-		
8	Work-life balance in academia	8	34 (23.1)	0.536	0.120		
	How different aspects of an academic career make it difficult for women to manage their responsibilities outside their academic work						
9	Academic career in sociology	2	9 (6.1)	2.987	0.222		
	Difficulties faced by women in a	academic caree	ers in the field of socio	ology			
10	Gender issues in geography	3	31 (21.1)	0.097	0.090		
	Female representation and gender inequalities in geography higher education institutions						

Table 2 Descriptive values of clusters for the second sub-period (2002–2007)

* Note that the total number of documents is higher than the number of documents per period. Because clusters were calculated from the keywords of papers, each document can appear in more than one cluster. Percentage was calculated based on the total number of documents per period

previous period. It was now relocated to the lower-left quadrant, suggesting that it is either an emerging or a disappearing theme. In contrast, "Sex differences in promotion" (C2) and "Gender discrimination in labor markets and universities" (C1), which became "Gender stereotypes and discrimination" (C3) in this second period, showed an increase in density and a lower percentage of documents compared with the previous period, and they were relocated to the upper-left quadrant as specialized themes with a higher conceptual development but weak external interconnections with other themes.

Compared with the previous period, the number of emerging (or disappearing) themes increased from two to six. In addition to "Mobility of women academics" (C6), five new themes appeared: "Gender roles in management" (C4), "Mentorship" (C5), "Racial discrimination at universities" (C7), "Work-life balance in academia" (C8), and "Gender issues in geography" (C10).



Dendrogram using Ward Linkage

Fig. 4 Dendrogram for the second sub-period (2002–2007)

Period 3: 2008-2012

Based on the hierarchical clustering of 106 keywords, 16 clusters of keywords (themes) were identified in the last period, as shown in Table 3. The dendrogram of the cluster analysis and the strategic diagram are shown respectively in Figs. 6 and 7. The origin of the strategic diagram is based on the centrality value (1.500) and density value (0.099).



Fig. 5 Strategic diagram for the second sub-period (2002–2007)

In this period, just one motor theme was found: "Advancement in academic medicine" (C9). This theme includes articles related mainly to success and progression in medicine. This cluster is similar to the cluster labeled "Career satisfaction in medicine" (C1), identified in the second period as a motor theme. "Gender discrimination in labor markets and universities" (C1), which was present as a motor theme in the first period and as a specialized theme in the second, reappeared in this third period, where it showed a decrease in the percentage of documents compared with the previous periods and an increase in centrality with respect to the second period. Therefore, it moved from the upper-right quadrant in the first period to the upper-left quadrant in the following two periods as specialized themes with a peripheral character. Additionally, six new themes appeared in this quadrant as specialized themes: "Gender differences in productivity" (C2), "Employment stratification" (C3), "Personal factors" (C5), "Stereotypes in mathematics" (C7), "Institutional issues" (C10), and "Women's studies" (C15). "Institutional issues" (C10), which appeared as an emerging theme in the first period but was absent in the second period, reemerged in the third period as a specialized theme, although it had a lower percentage of documents.

The theme of "*Mobility, career choice, and sex composition*" (C6), similar to "*Mobility of women academics*", had been present in the two previous periods and appeared again in the third period. It corresponded to a similar percentage of documents in the three periods, although it went from being a specialized theme in the first period to an emerging or disappearing theme in the second and third periods.

"Senior positions in medicine" (C12) and "Bibliometric indicators" (C14) were new themes which also appeared in this quadrant as emerging or disappearing themes.

Finally, five themes, namely "Glass ceiling barriers" (C4), "Work-life balance in engineering" (C8), "Climate and staff composition in academia" (C11), "Inequality and diversity in higher education" (C13), and "Work-life balance in psychology" (C16), appeared in the lower-right quadrant.

It is interesting to see how the theme "*Work-life balance in academia*" (C8), which was present in the second period, reappears twice in the third period and in the same quadrant in the form of "*Work-life balance in psychology*" (C16) and "*Work-life balance in engineering*" (C8), indicating that the topic of work-life balance has attracted the attention of researchers from different research fields.

Finally, "Inequality and diversity in higher education" (C13), similar to the cluster labeled "Racial discrimination at universities" in the second period, showed a significant

	-	-					
Cluster number	Name of cluster	No of keywords	No of documents (%)	Centrality	Density		
1	Gender discrimination in labor markets and universities	3	23 (6.7)	0.881	0.270		
	Challenges and gaps that still hinder women's full participation in the labor market generally and in the academic labor market specifically						
2	Gender differences in productivity	4	47 (13.8)	0.733	0.140		
	Research performance differences, productivity, and publication disparities between male and female researchers						
3	Employment stratification	4	22 (6.5)	0.759	0.143		
	Differences in employment of women and men and the degree to which jobs and the occupational status that women and men hold differ						
4	Glass ceiling barriers	15	112 (32.9)	3.658	0.032		
	Institutionalized barriers against women accessing male-dominated positions and upper echelons, which are nearly impossible to break through						
5	Personal factors	4	23 (6.7)	0.411	0.103		
	Factors caused by women themselves not by their organization. These are related to issues such as lack of confidence, empathy or motivation; stress; and individual personality and abilities						
6	Mobility, career choice, and sex composition	7	28 (8.2)	1.289	0.069		
	Sex differences in preferences for certain kinds of careers and career mobility, and how they have an impact on the gender composition of occupations						
7	Stereotypes in mathematics	5	35 (10.2)	1.415	0.129		
	Beliefs and stereotypes that have an effect o math and on their math performance in aca	n inspiring w ademia	omen and girl	s to enter the	field of		
8	Work-life balance in engineering	10	96 (28.2)	1.875	0.045		
	How different aspects of an academic career i to manage their responsibilities outside the	How different aspects of an academic career in the engineering field make it difficult for women to manage their responsibilities outside their academic work					
9	Advancement in academic medicine	8	46 (13.5)	4.551	0.102		
	Challenges female faculty physicians and non-physicians face in receiving recognition, including salary, promotion, rank, seniority, etc. in academic medicine						
10	Institutional issues	4	17 (5)	0.391	0.102		
	Issues caused by organization such as working hours, organizational structure, retention and exclusion, etc						
11	Climate and staff composition in academia	6	34 (10)	1.617	0.097		
	How organizational culture and structure cause gender disparities in the composition of academic staff						
12	Senior positions in medicine	8	66 (40.2)	0.906	0.047		
	Obstacles women in academic medicine face leadership	in relation t	o obtaining top	positions ar	nd		
13	Inequality and diversity in higher education	10	230 (67.6)	2.751	0.056		
	Gender and other types of inequalities (such as race, people with disabilities, etc.) in higher education, as well as the diversity issues related to the participation of these groups in the academic system						
14	Bibliometric indicators: Research productivity, impact, and collaboration	5	62 (18.2)	0.793	0.098		
	How the participation of women and men in indicators	research is o	lifferent in terr	ns of biblion	netric		

 Table 3 Descriptive values of clusters for the third sub-period (2008–2012)

285	

Cluster number	Name of cluster	No of keywords	No of documents (%)	Centrality	Density		
15	Women studies	3	15 (4.4)	0.143	0.102		
	Issues and controversies addressed in women's studies, also known as feminist studies						
16	Work-life balance in psychology	10	59 (17.3)	1.877	0.045		
	How different aspects of an academic career in the field of psychology make it difficult for women to manage their responsibilities outside their academic work						

Table 3 continued

* Note that the total number of documents is higher than the number of documents per period. Because clusters were calculated from the keywords of papers, each document can appear in more than one cluster. Percentage was calculated based on the total number of documents per period

increase both in centrality and the percentage of documents compared with the previous period. Consequently, it was relocated to the lower-right quadrant. As can be seen in Fig. 7, this theme had the largest number of documents among all themes in all periods.

Conclusion and discussion

Using co-word analysis, the present study describes the evolution and current state of the literature on gender differences in higher education and science, and more specifically of those papers that deal with factors that cause these differences. It also examines the evolution of this topic by dividing the literature into three sub-periods (i.e., 1991–2001, 2002–2007, and 2008–2012). Regarding the evolution of the number of documents, the results reveal that more than fifty percent of the total body of literature was published in the last five years (2008–2012), suggesting that this is a current topic which has aroused the interest of researchers. Specifically, "Inequality and diversity in higher education" is the theme with the largest number of documents over this period. This broad topic addresses gender and other types of inequalities in higher education, as well as diversity issues. While some papers in this cluster mainly evidence gender and race inequalities related to academic degree, salary, socio-economic status, disciplines, rank, tenure, or mentoring etc., others focus on the potential value of diversity in terms of enhancing work processes and organizational mechanisms through the incorporation of women and members of other underrepresented groups such as racial/ethnic minority groups (Homan et al. 2008; Gonzalez and DeNisi 2009; Rosser 2012).

The results also showed that the number of themes has increased significantly over the years, ranging from four in the first period to ten in the second and sixteen in the third period. This suggests a greater interest in the study of factors related to gender differences in higher education and science, as well as a diversification and specialization of the research field over time. "*Work-life balance in academia*" provides a good illustration of the latter issue: this theme appeared for the first time in the second period, mainly in relation to the issue of work-life balance in universities, while in the third period it became specialized and was covered by specific fields of study such as engineering and psychology (i.e. "*Work-life balance in engineering*" (C8) and "*Work-life balance in psychology*" (C16)). The relevance of this topic has recently been underlined in the latest release of *Education at a Glance* by the OECD (2013). According to this report, the issue remains a key element for achieving gender equality, since women still bear the main burden of care and domestic work.

Fig. 6 Dendrogram for the third sub-period (2008–2012)





Fig. 7 Strategic diagram for the third sub-period (2008–2012)

In terms of trends in the evolution of themes, the strategic diagrams reveal that many themes are still immature in the studied field. Only four motor themes appeared in the upper-right quadrant of the diagrams, the location for those that could be regarded as mature and well-developed themes. The specific themes in each period were "Gender discrimination in labor markets and universities" in the first period, "Career satisfaction in medicine" and "Academic career in sociology" in the second period, and "Advancement in academics" and "Gender discrimination in labor markets and universities", were present in all three periods. Some themes emerged and remained in subsequent periods: "Work-life balance in academia" and "Advancement in academic medicine" appeared in both the second and third periods, while "Sex differences in promotion" appeared in both the first and second period), and then reemerged (third period).

The results also indicate that gender differences in higher education and science have been considered by specific research disciplines such as medicine, psychology, geography, sociology, engineering, and mathematics, suggesting important research-field-specific variations. Indeed, after the second period a number of specific research disciplines can be seen to show an interest in gender issues. Notably, medicine is a discipline that appears in both of the two most recent periods (2002–2007 and 2008–2012) as a motor theme related to satisfaction and success in an academic medical career. Furthermore, an additional cluster in the field of medicine appears in the third period as an emerging theme related to senior positions in medicine. Particular research fields related to STEM disciplines, such as mathematics and engineering, also appear in the third period. It is worth noting that while in engineering and mathematics the main problem is located at the entry point (i.e., a problem of convincing girls to undertake these studies and embark on a research career), the challenge in the humanities and social and health sciences is not so much one of attraction but of retention, such that in these research fields the particular pipeline is relatively more leaky (LERU 2012).

It is worth mentioning that although the study aims to identify the main explanatory factors that could account for gender differences in higher education and science, several of the themes identified refer to the differences themselves rather than explanatory factors. For instance, "Sex differences in promotion" and "Gender discrimination in labor markets" correspond to differences described in the literature; but actually, they are not factors related to gender differences. In our view, this result could have two main reasons: the

topic of the papers and the selection of keywords. On the one hand, most of the papers in the sample focus on the analysis of gender differences (e.g., salary, promotion, publication rates, etc.) and they sought to explain these differences via some possible factors. On the other hand, authors need to summarize their research in a limited number of keywords, and this point is in fact the biggest problem that is attributed to co-word analysis (He 1999). In co-word analysis, the keywords used for the description of the content of a publication are used as the unit of analysis to map the research field structure. Law and Whittaker (1992), indeed, point out that some keywords are too general and that indexers sometimes put the wrong emphasis on keywording; this has been called the "indexer effect". However, as Courtial et al. (1984) note there is a general structure in each specific field which underlies the co-occurrence of the keywords, and this structure does not seem to be sensitive to variations or redundancies of terms used by indexers. In order to partially solve this issue and to improve the validity of the data, the recommendation is to normalize the keywords or to use a combination of words from abstracts, title words or full-text (He 1999, Wang et al. 2012).

In our view, the evidence presented in this paper allows the most prominent themes at different time periods to be identified together with possible gaps in the literature. For instance, "*Teaching load differences*" and "*Funding support*" are examples of institutional factors that do not appear in our results, indicating that these issues generate little interest among researchers, despite the fact that some studies report clear gender differences based on these issues (LERU 2012).

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first bibliometric study based on co-word analysis to have focused on gender differences in science. The results obtained through the cluster analysis and strategic diagrams complement and confirm previous findings (LERU 2012; European Commission 2013), adding new information and bringing a new perspective to the subject. The value of the strategic diagrams is that they identify the motor themes for the topic and also provide information about the less visible and emerging themes. Furthermore, studying the evolution of results across the three considered periods provides information about specific transient trends, for example, themes that have emerged, then disappeared, and perhaps emerged again. These data illustrate the utility of co-word analysis for understanding the dynamic structure of a subject, and they could serve to anticipate future development or to identify gaps that can be taken into account when setting out the priorities for research policy. In this sense, researchers, governments, and funding agencies could draw upon this type of analysis in order to promote research in emerging areas.

References

- Allison, P. D., & Long, J. S. (1990). Departmental effects on scientific productivity. American Sociological Review, 55(4), 119–125. doi:10.2307/2095801.
- Bauin, S., Michelet, B., Schweighoffer, M. G., & Vermeulin, P. (1991). Using bibliometrics in strategic analysis: "Understanding chemical reactions" at the CNRS. *Scientometrics*, 22(1), 113–137.
- Borgatti, S. P., Everett, M. G., & Freeman, L. C. (2002). Ucinet for Windows: software for social network analysis. Harvard: Analytic Technologies.
- Börner, K., Chen, C., & Boyack, K. W. (2003). Visualizing knowledge domains. Annual Review of Information Science and Technology, 37(1), 179–255. doi:10.1002/aris.1440370106.
- Callon, M., Courtial, J. P., & Laville, F. (1991). Co-word analysis as a tool for describing the network of interactions between basic and technological research: The case of polymer chemsitry. *Scientometrics*, 22(1), 155–205. doi:10.1007/BF02019280.

- Callon, M., Courtial, J. P., Turner, W. A., & Bauin, S. (1983). From translations to problematic networks: An introduction to co-word analysis. *Social Science Information*, 22(2), 191–235. doi:10.1177/ 053901883022002003.
- Ceci, S. J., & Williams, W. M. (2011). Understanding current causes of women's underrepresentation in science. PNAS, 108(8), 3157–3162. doi:10.1073/pnas.1014871108.
- Cobo, M. J., López-Herrera, A. G., Herrera-Viedma, E., & Herrera, F. (2011). An approach for detecting, quantifying, and visualizing the evolution of a research field: A practical application to the Fuzzy Sets Theory field. *Journal of Informetrics*, 5(1), 146–166. doi:10.1016/j.joi.2010.10.002.
- Cole, J. R., & Zuckerman, H. (1984). The productivity puzzle: Persistence and change in patterns of publication of men and women scientists. In P. Maehr & M. W. Steinkmap (Eds.), Advances in Motivation and Achievement (pp. 217–258). Greenwich: JAI Press.
- Courtial, J. P., Callon, M., & Sigogneau, M. (1984). Is indexing trustworthy? Classification of articles through co-word analysis. *Journal of Information Science*, 9(2), 47–56. doi:10.1177/ 016555158400900201.
- Dewandre, N. (2002). Women in science—European strategies for promoting women in science. Science, 295(5553), 278–279. doi:10.1126/science.1063487.
- European Commission (2009). *The gender challenge in research funding. Assessing the European national scenes.* Brussels: European Commission, Directorate-General for Research.
- European Commission (2013). She Figures 2012. Gender in research and innovation. Brussels: Directorate-General for Research and Innovation.
- Everitt, B., Landau, S., Leese, M., & Stahl, D. (2011). Cluster analysis (5th ed.). Chichester: Wiley.
- Ferriman, K., Lubinski, D., & Benbow, C. P. (2009). Work preferences, life values, and personal views of top math/science graduate students and the profoundly gifted: Developmental changes and gender differences during emerging adulthood and parenthood. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 97(3), 517–532. doi:10.1037/a0016030.
- Fox, M. F. (2005). Gender, family characteristics, and publication productivity among scientists. Social Studies of Science, 35(1), 131–150. doi:10.1177/0306312705046630.
- Fox, M. F., Fonseca, C., & Bao, J. (2011). Work and family conflict in academic science: Patterns and predictors among women and men in research universities. *Social Studies of Science*, 41(5), 715–735. doi:10.1177/0306312711417730.
- Ginther, D. K., & Kahn, S. (2009). Does science promote women? Evidence from academia 1973–2001. In R. B. Freeman & D. L. Goroff (Eds.), Science and Engineering Careers in the United States: An analysis of markets and employment (pp. 163–194). Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Gonzalez, J. A., & DeNisi, A. S. (2009). Cross-level effects of demography and diversity climate on organizational attachment and firm effectiveness. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 30(1), 21–40. doi:10.1002/job.498.
- He, Q. (1999). Knowledge Discovery through Co-Word Analysis. Library Trends, 48(1), 133-159.
- Homan, A. C., Hollenbeck, J. R., Humphrey, S. E., van Knippenberg, D., Ilgen, D. R., & Van Kleef, G. A. (2008). Facing differences with an open mind: Openness to experience, salience of intra-group differences, and performance of diverse work groups. *Academy of Management Journal*, 51(6), 1204–1222. doi:10.5465/AMJ.2008.35732995.
- Hunter, L. A., & Leahey, E. (2010). Parenting and research productivity: New evidence and methods. Social Studies of Science, 40(3), 433–451. doi:10.1177/0306312709358472.
- Law, J., & Whittaker, J. (1992). Mapping acidification research: A test of the co-word method. Scientometrics, 23(3), 417–461. doi:10.1007/BF02029807.
- Lawrence, P. A. (2006). Men, women, and ghosts in science. *PLoSBiol*, 4(1), e19. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio. 0040019.
- League of European Research Universities, LERU. (2012). Women, research and universities: excellence without gender bias. Leuven, Belgium: League of European Research Universities.
- Leahey, E. (2006). Gender differences in productivity: Research specialization as a missing link. Gender & Society, 20(6), 754–780. doi:10.1177/0891243206293030.
- Ledin, A., Bornmann, L., Gannon, F., & Wallon, G. (2007). A persistent problem. Traditional gender roles hold back female scientists. *EMBO Reports*, 8(11), 982–987. doi:10.1038/sj.embor.7401109.
- Leta, J., & Lewison, G. (2003). The contribution of women in Brazilian science: A case study in astronomy, immunology and oceanography. *Scientometrics*, *57*(3), 339–353. doi:10.1023/A:1025000600840.
- Mason, M. A., & Goulden, M. (2009). UC doctoral student career and life survey (University of California, Berkeley). Retrieved 10 November 2013, from http://ucfamilyedge.berkeley.edu/grad%20life% 20survey.html.

- Moss-Racusin, C. A., Dovidio, J. F., Brescoll, V. L., Graham, M. J., & Handelsman, J. (2012). Science faculty's subtle gender biases favor male students. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1211286109.
- Muñoz-Leiva, F., Viedma-del-Jesús, M., Sánchez-Fernández, J., & López-Herrera, A. (2012). An application of co-word analysis and bibliometric maps for detecting the most highlighting themes in the consumer behaviour research from a longitudinal perspective. *Quality & Quantity*, 46(4), 1077–1095. doi:10.1007/s11135-011-9565-3.
- OECD. (2013). Education at a Glance 2013: OECD indicators. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- Prpic, K. (2002). Gender and productivity differentials in science. Scientometrics, 55(1), 27–58. doi:10. 1023/A:1016046819457.
- Rosser, S. V. (2012). More gender diversity will mean better science. The Chronicle of Higher Education. From http://chronicle.com/article/More-Gender-Diversity-Will/135310/.
- Sax, L. J., Hagedorn, L. S., Arredondo, M., & Dicrisi, F. A. (2002). Faculty research productivity: Exploring the role of gender and family-related factors. *Research in Higher Education*, 43(4), 423–446. doi:10. 1023/A:1015575616285.
- Shen, H. (2013). Inequality quantified: Mind the gender gap. *Nature*, 495(7439), 22–24. doi:10.1038/ 495022a.
- Sonnert, G. (1996). Gender equity in science: Still an elusive goal. Issues in Science and Technology, 12(2), 53–58.
- Stack, S. (2004). Gender, children and research productivity. *Research in Higher Education*, 45(8), 891–920.
- Sudhier, K. G., & Abhila, I. S. (2011, March 2–4). Publication productivity of social scientists in the Centre for Development Studies, Thiruvananthapuram: A bibliometric analysis. Paper presented at the 8th International CALIBER, Goa University, Goa.
- Symonds, M. R., Gemmell, N. J., Braisher, T. L., Gorringe, K. L., & Elgar, M. A. (2006). Gender differences in publication output: towards an unbiased metric of research performance. *PLoS ONE*, 1(1), e127. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0000127.
- Taylor, S. W., Fender, B. F., & Burke, K. G. (2006). Unraveling the academic productivity of economists: The opportunity costs of teaching and service. *Southern Economic Journal*, 72(4), 846–859. doi:10. 2307/20111856.
- Turner, W. A., Chartron, G., Laville, F., & Michelet, B. (1988). Packaging information for peer review: New co-word analysis techniques. In A. F. J. Van Raan (Ed.), *Handbook of quantitative studies of science* and technology. Dordrecht: Elsevier Science Publishers.
- UNESCO. (2012). World atlas of gender equality in education. Paris: The United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization.
- Van den Brink, M., & Benschop, Y. (2011). Gender practices in the construction of academic excellence: Sheep with five legs. Organization, 19(4), 507–524. doi:10.1177/1350508411414293.
- Wang, Z.-Y., Li, G., Li, C.-Y., & Li, A. (2012). Research on the semantic-based co-word analysis. Scientometrics, 90(3), 855–875. doi:10.1007/s11192-011-0563-y.
- Wennerås, C., & Wold, A. (1997). Nepotism and sexism in peer-review. *Nature*, 387(6631), 341–343. doi:10.1038/387341a0.
- Xie, Y., & Shauman, K. A. (1998). Sex differences in research productivity: New evidence about an old puzzle. American Sociological Review, 63(6), 847–870.
- Zinovyeva, N., & Bagues, M. (2011). Does gender matter for academic promotion? Evidence from a randomized natural experiment. *IZA Discussion Paper* No. 5537.